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InvestAcc Group Limited

Announcement of results for the six months ended 31 December 2024 and trading update for Q1 2025

InvestAcc announces strong trading for the year to 31 December 2024, following the completion of its first acquisition and

announcing its second transformational transaction in Q1 2025, establishing a robust foundation for future growth.

I nvestAcc Group Limited ("I nvestAcc", the "Company" or, together with i ts  subs idiaries , the "Group"), a  leading UK  special is t

pens ion administrator, i s  pleased to present the report and audited financial  s tatements  (the "Financial  Statements") for

the s ix month period to 31 December 2024.

During the s ix month period the Company completed the acquis iBon of I nvestAcc Holdings  Limited ("I nvestAcc Ltd"), an

award-winning provider of sel f-invested personal  pens ion ("S I P P ") and smal l  sel f-administered scheme ("S SAS") services  in

the UK.

W hi le the Company has  owned the I nvestAcc Ltd bus iness  s ince 9 O ctober 2024, I nvestAcc trading data in the relevant

secBon is  presented for the s ix month period to 31 December 2024. This  i s  cons istent with the accounBng period in these

financial  s tatements  and is  intended to provide clearer informaBon to shareholders  relaBng to underlying performance of

the acquis i tion.

Mark Hodges, Executive Chairman of InvestAcc Group, commented: 

"We are pleased to present these financial  results  which, for the first Bme, include 3 months ' trading performance of

InvestAcc Ltd, evidencing our market pos ition as  one of the UKs leading SIPP and SSAS administrators .

Q 1 2025 has  a lso been an exciBng Bme for our organisaBon, with the announcement of the acquis iBon of the P laBnum

SIPP and SSAS bus inesses  from AJ Bel l  at the same time as  experiencing strong organic growth.

W ith these foundaBons, we look forward to conBnuing our consol idaBon strategy, bui lding a  leading special is t pens ion

administrator with a  high-qual i ty integrated bus iness  and a focus  on excel lent customer outcomes."

 

3 Year Pro Forma Trading Summary for InvestAcc Ltd

Given the change in year end date and the mid period compleBon of I nvestAcc Ltd, we have produced unaudited three year

pro forma trading summaries  to provide clari ty and year on year comparable bus iness  performance trends. I nvestAcc Ltd

continued to perform strongly in the 12 months  ended 31 December 2024:

•     Revenues increased 16.3% to £10.5m (FY23: £9.0m)

•     Trading EBITDA growth of 15.7% to £4.2m (FY23: £3.7m)

•     17.7%
[1]

 SIPP organic customer growth

•     Trading EBITDA margin maintained above 40% through continued operational  excel lence

•     Customer service qual i ty levels  98.4% evidencing a  continued focus  on customer outcomes

•     Recognition at key industry awards  including the Defaqto Gold Award for Pens ion Service 2025

 



 

£m

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY24
YoY %

Pension Administration 3.9 4.6 5.4 18.0%

Financial  Advice 2.2 2.2 2.4 10.8%

Appointed Representative 1.0 0.9 0.9 (1.7%)

Treasury 0.7 1.3 1.8 32.0%

Total Revenue 7.8 9.0 10.5 16.3%

Operating costs (5.0) (5.3) (6.2) 20.6%

Trading EBITDA 2.8 3.7 4.2 15.7%

Group costs (1.4)

Group EBITDA   2.8  

Trading EBITDA margin 35.9% 40.7% 40.5% (0.5%)

Group EBITDA margin 27.1% -

Cl ient retention 96.6% 95.1% 96.4% 1.4%

Service qual i ty 98.5% 96.1% 98.4% 2.4%

No. of SIPPS (period end)
  
8,740

         
10,177

         
11,974 17.7%

 

6 Month P&L for the period ended 31 December 2024

The Group's  trading data in this  secBon is  presented for the s ix month period to 31 December 2024. The P &L shows the

audited revenue and costs  for I nvestAcc Ltd for the period 9 O ctober - 31 December 2024, and audited costs  for the Group

for the ful l  s ix month period.

•     £2.5m revenue and £0.9m trading EBITDA, in l ine with expectations

•     Group operaBng loss  of £2.2m includes  £0.5m depreciaBon/amorBsaBon and £1.6m acquis iBon and

integration costs

•     Strong balance sheet with regulatory capital  coverage 295%

•     Cash after minimum regulatory capital  £11.0m

•     Deferred cons ideration of £6.2m paid in Q1 2025

£m H2 24
Pension Administration 1.3
Financial  Advice 0.6
Appointed Representative 0.2

Treasury 0.4

Total Revenue 2.5

Operating costs (1.6)

Trading EBITDA 0.9

Group costs (1.0)

Group EBITDA (0.1)
Exceptional  i tems:
Acquisition costs (1.5)

Integration (0.1)

EBITDA (1.7)

Depreciation and Amortisation (0.5)

Operating Loss (2.2)

Q1 2025 Trading Summary and Corporate Activity

We are pleased to report that the underlying bus iness  has  performed wel l  in Q 1 2025 vs  Q 1 2024, during a  period of

s igni ficant activi ty.Total  customer growth 20.6%

·      Revenue growth 19.3%

·      Successful  platform upgrade to Delta Platinum Pro, migrating a l l  SIPP customers  and over 9.5m data points

·      Announced the acquis iBon of the P laBnum S I P P  and S SAS bus inesses  from AJ Bel l  for a  maximum consideraBon of



·      Announced the acquis iBon of the P laBnum S I P P  and S SAS bus inesses  from AJ Bel l  for a  maximum consideraBon of

£25m, expected to complete in H2 2025 and projected to add over 3,500 customers.

·      The Group has  entered into a  strategic relationship with Kartes ia, a  European asset manager specia l ised in private

corporate lending, iniBal ly to fund the cons ideraBon for AJ Bel l 's  P laBnum S I P P  and S SAS bus iness  and to act as  a

strategic partner for future M&A alongs ide equity funding.

Outlook

Inheritance Tax - S I P Ps  remain one of the most tax effecBve reBrement savings  products , and tax year end 2025 has  been

our most successful  in terms of new bus iness  volume.  Pens ion Administrators  are subject to legis laBve consultaBon

regarding their role in I H T calculaBon, though we have not seen any changes  in customer or adviser behaviour and do not

currently anticipate any wider impact on our bus iness  model .

Fees - Underlying product fees  have not been changed for the last five years . Management has  undertaken a thorough

market review across  the various  product types  fol lowing which fees  wi l l  be increased at the product plan anniversary

date, commencing in H2 2025. The ful l  annual ised effect of these changes  wi l l  not be fel t unBl  2026. The products  have

been benchmarked and wi l l  remain highly competitive.  

Treasury Func<on - The Group is  making a  strategic investment into developing a  high qual i ty Treasury FuncBon. This  i s

important for customers, ensuring that we can maximise the return on cash balances, which wi l l  then be shared with

customers  on a fa i r bas is . The ful l  year benefit of this  i s  not expected to be fel t unBl  2026. For the Company, this  funcBon

wi l l  del iver sustainable high qual i ty earnings  and requires  a  one off excepBonal  investment of c£1m. We expect this  to be

implemented in H2 2025 and costs  wi l l  broadly equate to H2 2025 revenue benefi t.

M&A - The Board remain pos iBve around the wider M&A pipel ine. The credibi l i ty, experience and momentum driven by the

Groups first two acquis iBons has  re-enforced the strength of the potenBal  pipel ine. O pportuniBes  remain in a l l  three target

categories : specia l is t providers , l i fe companies , and plaOorms, with over 100 providers  in a  fragmented market. ValuaBon

expectations  remain in the range of 5-8X EBITDA on a pre-synergy bas is .

 

Enquiries:

Company Secretary: + 44 (0) 207 004 2700

Antoinette Vanderpui je

Camarco (PR Adviser): + 44 (0) 203 757 4980

Ed Gascoigne-Pees  / Phoebe Pugh

KK Advisory (IR Adviser): + 44 (0) 207 039 1901

Kam Bansi l

Panmure Liberum Limited (Corporate Broker): + 44 (0) 203 100 2000

Chris  Clarke / Ed Thomas

Zeus Capital Limited (Corporate Broker): + 44 (0) 207 220 1666

Harry Ansel l  / Katy Mitchel l

 

Chairman's Statement

Introduction                                                                                           

We are del ighted to present the report and audited financial  s tatements  (the "Financial Statements") for the s ix month

period to 31 December 2024, for I nvestAcc Group Limited (the "Company") consol idaBng the results  of the Company and i ts

subs idiaries  (the "Group").

 

During the s ix month period the Company completed the acquis iBon (the "Acquisition") of I nvestAcc Holdings  Limited

("InvestAcc"), an award-winning provider of sel f-invested personal  pens ion ("SIPP") and smal l  sel f-administered scheme

("SSAS") services  in the UK .  I n order to finance the acquis iBon, the Company successful ly ra ised £30 mi l l ion with

insti tutional  investors , demonstrating support for our strategy.

 

Fol lowing the Acquis iBon, the accounBng reference date for the Company was changed from 30 June to 31 December,

resulBng in a  shortened accounBng period of 6 months, with the results  of the acquired enBty being included for the period



from 9 O ctober to 31 December 2024. The comparaBve period presented in these F inancial  Statements  is  for the year to 30

June 2024.

 

Group strategy and market opportunity

O ur iniBal  focus  for growth is  on the S I P P  segment as  we bel ieve that the current market backdrop lends  i tsel f to a  growing
sel f-invested pensions  market. The key drivers  to market growth are:

1. Changing population and demographics
I n 2023 there were 21 mi l l ion people aged 55 and over in the UK , and the number of people aged 65 to 79 is
predicted to increase by 30% to over 10 mi l l ion in the next 40 years3.

2. Trapped and concentrated wealth
The value of UK  household wealth was  esBmated at £10.9 tri l l ion in 20234, with 42% concentrated in pens ion
assets  and 36% in property. I n 2020, average UK  household wealth for those aged 55 to 64 was nine Bmes higher
than for those aged 25 to 345.

3. Increasing family reliance
I n 2023, 57% of UK  mortgaged first-Bme buyers  received support from their fami l ies . This  support i s  expected to
total  £30 bi l l ion between 2024 and 20276.

4. Inter-generational wealth transfer
The Directors  expect to see an unprecedented level  of inter-generaBonal  wealth transfer in the coming decades. O n
a global  bas is , a lmost 680,000 individuals  with over 5 mi l l ion in net worth wi l l  transfer 18.3 tri l l ion in combined
wealth by 2030, with approximately £7 tri l l ion pass ing between generations  in the UK7.

 

5. Regulatory pressure in the UK SIPP market

A push for higher levels  of consumer duty and consumer care, as  wel l  as  vendor needs are driving the UK  S I P P
sector to acBvely consol idate. Li fe companies  and plaOorms account for over 80% of the "Simple" S I P P  market, but
the "Ful l" SIPP market - serviced by special is t fi rms - i s  much more fragmented. The top five UK SIPP administrators
account for just 46% of total  assets  under administraBon ("AuA") and 40% of total  plans. The market leader has
just 12% of total  AuA, with over 25 fi rms operating in the market.
 

 

3 Centre for Ageing Better, "The State of Ageing 2023-24"

4 Office of National  Statistics , "National  balance sheet estimates  for the UK: 2024"

5 Social  Mobi l i ty Commiss ion, "State of the Nation: Level  of Wealth", September 2023

6 Savi l l s , "Bank of mum and dad", 16 August 2024

7 Wealth-X, "Preservation and Succession: Family Wealth Transfer 2021"

 
The fragmented supply s ide of the S I P P  market creates  a  structural  opportunity for inorganic growth. We intend to del iver
our strategic goal  through a combinaBon of focussed M&A and strategic partnerships , faci l i tated through the acquired
InvestAcc operating group.

Acquisition of InvestAcc
We bel ieve that the I nvestAcc operaBng group provides  the opBmal  strategic plaOorm to create value through a S I P P  "buy
and bui ld" strategy. The bus iness  benefits  from being a  leading UK  personal  pens ion administrator, having a  proven track
record of del ivering excepBonal  customer service, scalable operaBons and infrastructure, a  strong financial  profile and a
sustainable organic growth trajectory.

I nvestAcc is  a  bus iness  with a  loyal  and growing customer base. W ith a  greater focus  on savings , changing demographics
and a growing opportunity presented by the inter-generaBonal  wealth transfer referred to above,  the pensions
administraBon industry plays  an important role in securing financial  independence and securi ty for customers  over the
long term.

I  am del ighted to formal ly extend a warm welcome to the talented team of over 100 employees  at I nvestAcc, with whom we

have worked closely s ince the Acquis iBon completed in O ctober 2024. As  set out in the C EO  report below, the I nvestAcc

team have already demonstrated their experBse, pass ion and commitment, having been recognised again for the high-

qual i ty service they del iver. Al l  of the management team, including the founder, have remained within the bus iness  s ince

completion, with the bus iness  remaining in Carl is le, and we look forward to working with the whole team as  we execute our

strategy.

 

Delivering our Buy And Build strategy

I n the period s ince the compleBon of the Acquis iBon on 9 O ctober 2024, the acquired operaBons of I nvestAcc have

performed wel l , conBnuing to del iver on their planned growth targets  in terms of revenue, number of pens ion schemes and

assets  under administraBon, and with customer retenBon rates  conBnuing to exceed 96%.   Further detai ls  are included in

the CEO Report below.

We remain focussed on our goal  to create the UK 's  leading special is t pens ions  administraBon bus iness  in the publ ic

markets . We have conBnued to develop a strong pipel ine of acquis iBon targets  to bui ld on the excel lent plaOorm provided

by InvestAcc. We have identi fied a  number of further SIPP acquis i tion opportunities  which have been developed through the

Directors ' deep industry Bes  and reputaBon. Management are in acBve discuss ions  with vendors  in respect of numerous

potenBal  targets  under NDA and could del iver s ignificant inorganic AuA and customer growth in 2025 and 2026. The Board



potenBal  targets  under NDA and could del iver s ignificant inorganic AuA and customer growth in 2025 and 2026. The Board

are in regular dia logue with vendors  and their advisers , often on a bi lateral  rather than competitive bas is .

 
I n March 2025 we were del ighted to announce our second major acquis iBon, AJ Bel l 's  "P laBnum" S I P P  and S SAS bus iness
("Platinum"). The P laBnum business  provides  bespoke, high-qual i ty pens ions  experBse and S I P P  and S SAS administraBon
to high net worth ("HNW") customers. At the end of 2024 the bus iness  had assets  under administraBon of £3.2 bi l l ion
across  3,562 accounts , and a H NW  cl ient base reflected through an average S I P P  account s ize of approximately £670k. This
transacBon is  expected to complete in the second hal f of 2025 fol lowing the migraBon and integraBon of the P laBnum
cl ients  onto I nvestAcc's  plaOorm, strengthening our pos iBon as  a  market leader in "Ful l" S I P P  pens ion administraBon. The
acquis iBon wi l l  be funded through a new, £25 mi l l ion credit faci l i ty from Kartes ia, a  specia l is t provider of capital
solutions. This  faci l i ty a lso has  the abi l i ty to scale and support the wider Group acquis i tion strategy in future.
 

Governance and Board appointments

To support our "buy and bui ld" strategy we commiTed to s ignificantly enhance the Company's  Board and governance

arrangements . I  am pleased to report that shortly fol lowing compleBon of the Acquis iBon we recruited three highly

experienced independent Non-ExecuBve Directors  ("INEDs"), one taking the pos iBon of Senior I ndependent Director ("SID"). 

We have adopted the UK  Corporate Governance Code and establ ished five Board commiTees: Audit CommiTee, Risk

Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Disclosure Committee.

 

We also strengthened the management team in 2024 through the appointment of both a Chief Risk O fficer ("CRO") and Chief

Commercial  Officer ("CCO").

 

Pages  27 and 28 of this  report sets  out informaBon on the Company's  directors , including a  brief overview of their ski l l s

and experience.

 

I n pages  21 to 26 of this  report, an overview of the Company's  governance arrangements  is  set out, including an

explanation of areas  of non-compl iance with the UK Corporate Governance Code.

 

Pages  29 to 37 include a report from each of the Board commiTees, seVng out their roles  and responsibi l iBes , an overview

of the acBviBes  they have each undertaken in the short period s ince their establ ishment, and a descripBon of their areas  of

focus  for 2025 and beyond.

 

More recently, the Company has  announced the appointment of Vinoy Nurs iah as  Group Chief F inancial  O fficer ("CFO") and

an ExecuBve Director. Vinoy joined the Group on 1 Apri l  2025 and brings  a  wealth of experience to the role, with a  proven

track record of driving financial  performance, operaBonal  excel lence and strategic transformaBon. He wi l l  be instrumental

in supporBng the Company's  ambiBous growth  plans  through both organic growth and further M&A.  Vinoy was previous ly

C FO  at K ingswood Holdings  Limited, a  publ icly quoted wealth management bus iness , and before that was  C FO  at C S C

Global  F inancial  Markets , a  global  provider of specia l ised administraBon services .  Vinoy wi l l  assume responsibi l i ty for

the Group's  overal l  financial  s trategy, performance and reporBng. Working alongs ide the rest of the Board, he wi l l  play a

pivotal  role in shaping and del ivering the Group's  strategic objecBves, ensuring our financial  s trength and operaBonal

agi l i ty. I n the interim period unBl  Vinoy commenced his  role, the Company appointed Marcus  Holburn as  interim C FO  who

has supported the Board of Directors  by overseeing the Group's  financial  operaBons and supporBng the annual  financial

reporting process .

 

Environmental

We are cognisant of the importance of bui lding an environmental ly sustainable bus iness  and remain commiTed to

developing a  comprehensive ESG strategy that a l igns  with our bus iness  values, the expectations  of our

stakeholders , and the evolving regulatory and societal  landscape. Having only completed the acquis iBon of I nvestAcc in

O ctober 2024, we are at the start of this  journey, and are currently cons idering how environmental  factors  may be

incorporated into our longer-term business  planning.

 

Looking forward

With a greater focus  on savings , changing demographics  and a growing rel iance on the fami ly, the pens ions  administration

industry plays  an important role in securing financial  independence and securi ty for customers  over the long term.

CompleBng the Acquis iBon of I nvestAcc provides  us  with an excel lent plaOorm from which to conBnue to execute our "buy

and bui ld" strategy. W ith strategic appointments  to both the Board and operaBonal  team, and a strong pipel ine of

acquis i tion opportunities , we are wel l  pos itioned to move at pace.

As  we look forward to the opportunities  and chal lenges  ahead, I  want to thank our shareholders , customers, employees  and

our wider team of advisers  for a l l  their support and hard work over the last s ix months. Together we are wel l  pos iBoned to

continue to execute our strategy.

 

Mark Hodges

Chairman



Chairman

23 April 2025

 

CEO Statement
 
Introduction

The past year has  been transformaBve for the Group, having completed the Acquis iBon of our plaOorm

business  I nvestAcc, and made a number of key hires  across  our execuBve and senior management team. This

report highl ights  our achievements  and operaBonal  mi lestones  as  we look ahead to execuBng our strategy, to

become the UK's  leading special is t pens ions  administration bus iness .

Strategic progress
We completed the Acquis iBon of I nvestAcc on 9 O ctober 2024. I nvestAcc was  founded in 1992 by C EO  Nick
Gardner as  D H C Brokers  Ltd. The bus iness  is  now a leading UK  personal  pens ion administrator, having a
proven track record of del ivering excepBonal  customer service, scalable operaBons and infrastructure, a
strong financial  profile and a sustainable organic growth trajectory. Al l  of the management team, including
the founder, remain with the bus iness .

I nvestAcc has  two principal  subs idiaries , I nvestAcc Pens ion AdministraBon Limited ("IPA") and Vesta Wealth
Limited ("Vesta").

I PA offers  S I P P  and SAS S products  distributed primari ly through I ndependent F inancial  Advisers  ("IFAs")
throughout the UK , with over 1,000 supporBng advisers . W ith the excepBon of UK  fixed term deposit accounts ,
I PA does  not accept any new non-standard assets  into any of i ts  schemes. I PA's  flagship plan is  the "Minerva
S I P P ", which is  a  ful l  S I P P  al lowing investment in any permiTed standard asset. The "S I P P  Li te" scheme is  a
lower cost, s impler S I P P  and al lows investment in a  s ingle investment, such as  a  discreBonary fund manager
portfol io plus  a  bank account.

Vesta is  a  Chartered Financial  P lanner that offers  hol isBc advice to a  wide range of customers. I t provides
initia l  and ongoing advice under service agreements  with over £450 mi l l ion of AuA.

I nvestAcc has  capacity within i ts  current offices, employees  and back office funcBons to absorb further bolt-
on acquis iBons with l imited fol low-on investment. We have idenBfied and engaged with further potenBal
acquis iBon targets  and are acBvely bui lding our pipel ine of opportuniBes  with iniBal  focus  on those
transactions  that are both attractively priced and operational ly del iverable.

Key management hires

During the period we've made a number of senior management appointments , including the appointment of

Al lan Dibble as  CCO and James Keely as  CRO.

 

As  C CO, Al lan is  responsible for leading M&A and integraBons for I nvestAcc Group. He brings  over 20 years '

experience in post-merger integraBon and strategic transformaBon in financial  services , primari ly in the l i fe

insurance, savings  and reBrement sectors . As  C RO, James leads  the Group's  risk, governance and regulatory

work, leveraging his  experience within the financial  services  sector. 

 

As  we trans iBon into the new phase of growth, we wi l l  bui ld out a  target operaBng model  that supports  our

ambiBous growth plans. The Group conBnue to work closely with the I nvestAcc team in Carl is le to support the

business  in del ivering yet further organic growth and conBnuing to del iver excepBonal  customer service. 

Therefore, in addiBon to the recruitment of Al lan and James, we have also made a number of other key hires

across  our central  management team who have joined the bus iness  in recent months. These appointments

further strengthen our central  management team, providing us  with the experience, experBse and capacity to

del iver on our strategy.

 

Business highlights

I nvestAcc has  conBnued to perform strongly s ince i ts  acquis iBon by the Company in O ctober 2024. The

number of acBve pension schemes reached 12,467 at the end of December 2024, an increase of 8.3% in the s ix

month period, with AuA of £5.4 bi l l ion at the same date. More detai ls  are included in the Management Report.

 

Market Recognition & Achievements

I nvestAcc received market recogniBon of the high-qual i ty service provided to i ts  cl ients , with I nvestAcc having

its  most successful  year to date at the I LP  Moneyfacts  Awards  2024.  I nvestAcc won both the Moneyfacts ' Best

SIPP Provider award for the fiWh Bme, as  wel l  as  winning the Best Pension Service provider award for the fiWh

year running. I nvestAcc was  a lso awarded Highly Commended in the category of Service Beyond the Call of

Duty.

This  service qual i ty underpins  the focus  of the Company as  i t seeks  to execute i ts  "buy and bui ld" strategy.

 

The high-qual i ty service I nvestAcc provides  i ts  cl ients  was  further recognised in November when I nvestAcc



The high-qual i ty service I nvestAcc provides  i ts  cl ients  was  further recognised in November when I nvestAcc

won five stars  at the Financial Adviser Service Awards 2024. This  was  the seventh year, out of the last eight

years , where I nvestAcc has  a  received a five-star service award at the F inancial  Adviser Service Awards. These

awards  demonstrate the strong customer focus  at the heart of InvestAcc's  purpose and culture.

 

Market and industry overview

As the Chair has  noted above in his  report, there are many attractive acquis i tion opportunities  avai lable to the

Company. Regulatory focus  on customer outcomes supports  the consol idaBon of non-core books  of bus iness

where excepBonal  customer service can be del ivered through the provis ion of appropriate systems, controls

and compl iance overs ight.  The historic fragmentaBon of individual  providers  and, in many cases, smal ler,

owner managed bus inesses , provides  an opportunity for us  to retain our customer centric focus  whi lst

uBl is ing a  more central ised operaBonal  infrastructure. We are exci ted by the nature and extent of

opportuniBes  that s i t firmly within our M&A universe, and we look forward to sharing more detai l  with

shareholders  over the coming months.

 

Summary and outlook

The last s ix months  have seen the bus iness  trans iBon from a conceptual  strategy to an operaBng bus iness

with clear ambiBon and strategic opportunity. I  am genuinely proud of what the Group has  achieved and

would l ike to take this  opportunity to thank the enBre team, including al l  of the I nvestAcc staff, for their hard

work and commitment in achieving what we have to date.  This  i s  however the beginning for the Group. Looking

ahead, we are now focused on ensuring that we can del iver our ambiBous growth plans  and bui ld the Group's

operational  capabi l i ties , enabl ing us  to succeed for the benefi t of our customers  and shareholders .

 

 

Will Self

CEO

23 April 2025
               

 
Management Report

 

Financial performance in the period

P rior to the Acquis iBon of the I nvestAcc bus iness  on 9 O ctober 2024, the Group was a  cash shel l  and was  not

revenue generating.  The Company has  not owned the I nvestAcc bus iness  for the enBre s ix-month period to 31

December 2024 and therefore trading data in this  secBon is  presented for the period from 9 O ctober 2024 to

31 December 2024. This  i s  cons istent with the accounBng period in these financial  s tatements  and is  intended

to provide clearer information to shareholders .

 

Revenue and Profitability:

The Group's  income total led £2.5m in the s ix months  to 31 December 2024 (year to 30 June 2024: ni l ). This  was

enBrely generated by I nvestAcc in the short period from the Acquis iBon to the period end. Pens ion

administraBon services  and wealth management fees  accounted for 54% and  23% of total  income,

respectively.

The Group's  earnings  before interest, tax, depreciaBon and amorBsaBon ("Group EBITDA") in the period

amounted to a  loss  of £0.1m (year to 30 June 2024: loss  of £3.9m). I nvestAcc's  trading contribuBon to Group

EBITDA for the period ("Trading EBITDA") was  a  profi t of £0.9m.

 

The Group incurred non-recurring, excepBonal  costs  of £1.6m in the period relaBng to the Acquis iBon and

I ntegraBon of I nvestAcc and development of the Group funcBon, and depreciaBon and amorBsaBon charges  of

£0.5m in the period, primari ly relaBng to the intangible assets  associated with the Acquis iBon. These are

class ified as  AdministraBon Expenses  in the Group's  Statement of Comprehensive I ncome. AWer deducBng

these i tems, the Group generated an operating loss  of £2.2m in the period (year to 30 June 2024: operating loss

of £3.9m).

 

The table below shows each of the i tems described above.

 
Component Definition Six months to 31 December 2024

Trading EBITDA
Core EBITDA from ongoing, underlying
pension administration and associated
services

£0.9m
Only includes period post-Acquisition

Plc Costs
Corporate costs  of the l i s ted vehicle,
including governance, investor relations
and staff costs  for group functions

(£1.0m)



and staff costs  for group functions
Group EBITDA Trading EBITDA less  Plc Costs (£0.1m)

Integration Costs Costs  incurred to integrate acquired
businesses

(£0.1m)

Acquis i tion Costs Fees  and one-off costs  associated with
executing M&A transactions

(£1.5m)

EBITDA
Group EBITDA less  the sum of Integration
Costs , Acquis i tion Costs  and any other
exceptional  i tems

(£1.7m)

 
 

Depreciation and
amortisation

Charges  for depreciation and amortisation,
including the amortisation of the intangible
assets  associated with the Acquis i tion

(£0.5m)

Operating profi t /
(loss)

EBITDA less  depreciation and amortisation (£2.2m)

Customers and Assets Under Administration:

The Group's  pens ion scheme AuA at the period end total led £5.4 bi l l ion, this  represents  an increase of 10.8%

in the s ix months  to 31 December 2024.

The growth in AuA has  been driven by steady increases  in our customer base. The number of I nvestAcc's  acBve

SIPP and SSAS schemes increased by 951 (8.3%) in the period, to 12,467 as  at 31 December 2024.

Customer retenBon rates  have remained strong during 2024, at a  rate of 96.5% for I nvestAcc's  S I P P  product in

the s ix-month period to 31 December. I nvestAcc's  service qual i ty scores  for a l l  S I P P  and S SAS schemes were

98.5% over the same period, reflecBng I nvestAcc's  ongoing focus  on providing excel lent service to i ts

customers.

 

Funding and Liquidity:

The Acquis iBon was partly funded via  a  £30 mi l l ion insBtuBonal  placing and subscripBon (effecBve 4 July

2024) and the issue of 6,150,911 ordinary shares  ("Considera<on Shares"). I n addiBon to this , the remaining

consideraBon was to be del ivered through a deferred cash payment of £6,150,911, of which  £6,150,911 has

been paid s ince 31 December 2024 as  detai led in Note 33.

 

The Group maintains  a  strong l iquidity pos iBon, with cash and cash equivalents  of £13.4m at 31 December

2024 (30 June 2024: £6.5m).

Capital and Reserves

As menBoned above, the Company raised £30 mi l l ion from insBtuBonal  placing and subscripBon in the

period. Shareholder Funds grew from £1.8m at 30 June 2024 to £40.3m at period end.

 

The Group's  regulatory capital  reserves  for i ts  regulated subs idiaries  are conBnual ly monitored. At 31

December 2024, in aggregate, surplus  capital  balances  in the Group's  regulated enBBes amounted to 295% of

the capital  requirement.

 

Key Performance Indicators

The Group uses  Key performance I ndicators  ("KPIs") to measure and report progress  against our strategic

objectives . These KPIs  are reviewed at least annual ly, and the primary measures  are shown below.

 

Group K P I s  are shown here for the 6 month period to 31 December 2024. ComparaBve numbers  are shown for

the preceding 12 months  to 30 June 2024, to a l ign with the mandatory prior period disclosure in the Group

financial  s tatements .

 

Group KPIs Six months  to
31 December 2024

Year to
30 June 2024

Total  revenue £000s 2,532 Ni l
Operating (loss) / profi t £000s (2,242) (3,909)
Bas ic earnings  per share £ 0.0298 (0.2339)
Net cash flow from operating activi ties  £000s (3,368) (2,315)
Regulatory capital  coverage* 295% n/a

*Average of the surplus capital in the Group's regulated en��es, above the regulated capital requirement, at the

period end date.

The Group also uses  Trading KPIs  to monitor InvestAcc's  operational  performance, these are shown below.

W hi lst the Company has  owned I nvestAcc s ince 9 O ctober 2024, trading K P I s  are shown here for the s ix-month



W hilst the Company has  owned I nvestAcc s ince 9 O ctober 2024, trading K P I s  are shown here for the s ix-month

period to 31 December 2024, which is  cons istent with the accounBng period in these financial  s tatements , and

with pre-acquis iBon, comparator data for the preceding s ix months. This  intended to provide clearer

information to shareholders .

Trading KPIs 6 months  to
31 December 2024

6 months  to
30 June 2024

Assets  Under Administration £000s** 5,396 4,872
Number of active pens ion schemes** 12,467 11,516
Customer retention 96.5% 96.4%
Service qual i ty** 98.5% 96.1%

** SSIP and SSAS schemes at period end.

 

Treasury

The Group has  adopted a treasury pol icy which is  des igned to maintain a  strong l iquidity pos iBon for i ts

operaBonal  and growth requirements  whi lst also opBmis ing the return on surplus  funds. The treasury pol icy

includes  measures  to miBgate financial  ri sks , such as  interest rate risk and credit risk, by divers i fying

investments  and us ing financial  instruments  prudently. The pol icy is  des igned to ensure the Group meets  legal

and regulatory requirements  in respect of capital  and l iquid assets .

 

I n 2025 the Group has  commiTed to a  s ignificant investment in i ts  treasury capabi l i ty. This  wi l l  provide

improved returns  as  wel l  as  operational  efficiencies , for the benefi t of the Group and i ts  customers.

 

Dividends

The Board recognises  the importance of dividends to investors , both as  a  key component of shareholder value

creaBon and as  a  discipl ine on the bus iness  of the Company and the Group. The Company intends to adopt a

progress ive dividend pol icy at a  time that the Group has  capital  avai lable to return to shareholders .

 

The Acquis iBon was completed on 9 O ctober 2024 and in March 2025 the Group has  a lso announced the

Acquis iBon of AJ Bel l 's  P laBnum book. The Group therefore plans  to invest surplus  capital  to complete the

Acquis iBon and integraBon of these bus inesses , in organic growth and further acquis iBons in the coming

months. The Board wi l l  conBnue to cons ider the retenBon of sufficient capital  for investment in the Group's

ongoing growth, before announcing a  dividend pol icy and proposing any dividend payment.

 

Statement of Going Concern

These Financial  Statements  have been prepared on a going concern bas is , which assumes that the Company

and the Group wi l l  be able to continue their operations  and meet their l iabi l i ties  as  they fa l l  due. The Directors

have cons idered the financial  pos iBon of the Company and the Group, and have reviewed forecasts  and

budgets  for a  period of at least 12 months  from the date of approval  of these Financial  Statements .

 

The Directors  have cons idered the impact of the proposed acquis iBon announced of the AJ Bel l  P laBnum book

in March 2025, including the associated funding and i ts  impact on the Group's  future l iabi l iBes  and cash

flows. Should compleBon of this  acquis iBon occur as  planned, the Group has  sufficient resources  to complete

the Acquis iBon and operate the enlarged Group. Should compleBon of this  acquis iBon not occur, the Group

has  sufficient resources  to continue del ivering i ts  strategy through other M&A opportunities .

 

At 31 December 2024 the Group had net assets  of £40.3m (30 June 2024: £1.8m) and cash balances  of £13.4m

(30 June 2024: £6.5m).

 

The Directors  have also cons idered the macro environmental  factors  impacBng the UK  economy and the

Group's  target market, in making their assessment of the Group's  abi l i ty to continue as  a  going concern.

 

Based on their review, the Directors  bel ieve i t i s  reasonable to expect the Company, and the Group, wil l  be able

to conBnue operaBons and meet their l iabi l iBes  as  they fa l l  due. The Directors  have concluded that there are

no materia l  uncertainBes  related to the going concern status  of the Company or the Group and therefore these

Financial  Statements  have been prepared on a going concern bas is .



Viability Statement

I n accordance with provis ions  of the UK  Corporate Governance Code, the Directors  have assessed the

prospects  of the Company and the Group over a three-year period. This  assessment has  been made taking into

account the current pos iBon of the Group, the principal  risks  facing the bus iness , and the effecBveness  of any

miBgaBng acBons. This  assessment has  been made with reference to the Group's  strategy, cash flow forecasts

and financial  pos ition, as  wel l  as  i ts  abi l i ty to meet both short-term and long-term l iabi l i ties .

 

The Directors  bel ieve that the Group is  wel l -pos iBoned to conBnue operaBons over the next three years . Key

factors  influencing this  conclus ion include:
·      Balance sheet strength: the Group has  a  strong balance sheet with adequate l iquidity and cash

reserves.

·      Robust bus iness  model : the Group has  a  wel l -defined strategy supported by a  compel l ing market
opportunity.

·      Risk miBgaBon strategies : the Group has  idenBfied and is  acBvely managing i ts  key risks , including
financial , operational , and market risks .

·      Stress  tesBng: the directors  have performed scenario analyses  and stress  tests , cons idering severe
but plaus ible adverse condiBons. I n these scenarios  the Group maintains  i ts  abi l i ty to meet i ts
obl igations  as  they fa l l  due.

Based on this  assessment, the directors  have a reasonable expectation that the Group wi l l  be able to continue

in operation and meet i ts  l iabi l i ties  as  they fa l l  due over the period of their assessment.

 
Risk Management

 

Risk culture

There is  a  strong risk aware culture across  the Group, which is  based on open communicaBon, transparency,

informed decis ion making, leadership and clear accountabi l i ties .

 

The Group takes  a  proacBve approach to risk management with processes  that are embedded within the

organisaBon. These are supported by a  strong compl iance funcBon which communicates , advises  and

supports  the bus iness  in applying the risk and compl iance framework and supporBng pol icies  and

procedures.  This  includes  developing and implemenBng computer-based training and in-person training,

where appropriate.  Consumer Duty has  been embedded across  the bus iness , ensuring that cons istently

pos itive customer outcomes remain integral  to a l l  processes.

 

Risk appetite

I n order to support our growth plans, the Group's  risk appeBte framework wi l l  be enhanced to provide further

comfort that key risks  are idenBfied, monitored and control led. This  wi l l  help to ensure that the Board remains

actively engaged, and wi l l  outl ine the boundaries  of acceptable risk taking for each risk category and highl ight

where there is  a  greater or lesser appeBte for risk. This  includes  acceptable l imits  within which the Group wi l l

operate, with the aim of achieving i ts  corporate objecBves, with corresponding controls  and key risk

indicators .

Governance

The principal  risks  faced by the Group have been ful ly assessed and form part of the comprehensive group risk

register, which is  reviewed and updated by the Risk CommiTee at each meeBng and summaries  presented to

the Board as  required. The risk register s i ts  a longs ide the risk and compl iance overs ight acBvity, which is

reported to monthly governance meeBngs, the Risk CommiTee and to periodic Board meeBngs.  Appropriate

controls  and miBgaBng acBons have been idenBfied and are tracked through the governance meeBngs. W here

further actions  are identi fied, they are tracked by management through to completion.

 

Risks and uncertainties (including emerging risks)

The Board is  commiTed to further enhancing the Group's  risk management framework in order to support the

strategic plans  for growth. This  wi l l  ensure that the bus iness  conBnues to idenBfy new and emerging risks

and put in place an effective mitigation activi ty.

 



 

W hi lst we are proacBve in idenBfying emerging risks  and changes  to the profile of exisBng risks , there remain

a number of potenBal  risks  to the Group that could impact the abi l i ty to successful ly del iver the Group's

strategy.  Emerging risks  are primari ly idenBfied through horizon scanning from an external  perspecBve and

customer and staff engagement internal ly.  O nce potenBal  risks  are assessed, miBgaBng acBons are agreed

and, where appropriate, these risks  are added to the risk register and tracked through the governance

structure. The principal  risks  and uncertainBes  facing the Group are outl ined below, a long with the miBgaBng

actions  and controls .

 

Risk category Key Risk Mitigating actions and controls

 
Strategic risk

The Group may be unable to obtain the
additional  funding needed to implement i ts
organic and inorganic growth strategy.

Sustainable and managed growth through M&A
is  a  cri tical  element of the growth strategy for
the bus iness .  The bus iness  intends to seek
additional  sources  of financing (equity and/or
debt) to implement i ts  strategy and has  recently
secured a committed acquis i tion faci l i ty from
Kartes ia. The faci l i ty wi l l  be used to finance the
recently announced AJ Bel l  Platinum
acquis i tion, with further abi l i ty to scale and
support the wider Group acquis i tion strategy in
future.  This  i s  complemented by a  programme
of enhancements  to support organic growth and
existing customers  through regular reviews of
the proposition, service and pricing.

 
Legal &
Regulatory risk

There is  a  risk that a  s igni ficant regulatory
change may be introduced that would have
a detrimental  impact upon the bus iness
model  of the Group. In addition, i f
unexpected regulatory or legal  changes  are
introduced at short notice, or i f the
implementation of regulatory change is  not
managed in an effective manner, this  could
impact the capital  and regulatory pos ition
of the Group in the short term.

The Group undertakes  horizon scanning on an
ongoing bas is  to ensure al l  legis lative and
regulatory change is  assessed and highl ighted
to the Board for cons ideration. The Compl iance
team are responsible for overseeing al l  aspects
of regulation and the introduction of regulatory
changes. This  i s  supported by the
implementation and management of relevant
pol icies  and procedures  and maintaining an
effective risk and control  environment.

 

Risk category Key Risk Mitigating actions and controls

 
Operational risk

People risk: The risk that the Group fa i ls  to attract,
retain and develop key employees  and there is
inadequate experience or resource.  This  could
impact service and lead to poor customer
outcomes and reputational  damage.

A continuous schedule of steady recruitment
has  been in place for some time to support
organic growth and to a l low sufficient time for
training. In order to support the plans  for
further M&A activi ty, the Group has  enhanced
its  recruitment processes  further in order to
attract the best poss ible ta lent.

Conduct risk: The risk that the Group's  actions  or
culture does  not support the fa ir treatment of
customers.

Del ivering great customer outcomes is
fundamental  to our purpose and culture. The
customer is  central  to any changes  and
enhancements  that we make, and this  i s  further
evidenced through our approach to Consumer
Duty and the associated standards  and metrics .

Information security risk: The risk of an incident
that affects  systems or the infrastructure
(including third party) and leads  to customer
harm, a  loss  of data or reputational  damage.

We continual ly review our information securi ty
with our third-party suppl iers  to ensure data is
protected and systems remain secure. To
mitigate the third-party suppl ier risk, the Group
conducts  due di l igence and monitors
performance.

Customer investment risk: The risk that higher risk
customer investments  fa i l , caus ing consumer
harm, cla ims against the Provider and
reputational  damage.  

The Group al lows Commercial  Property
investment, but only certain standard
categories  are permitted, and the property
management is  subject to a  robust control
framework.  Non-Standard Assets  ("NSA") are no
longer permitted and only an extremely l imited
number of customers  hold legacy NSA.

Financial crime risk: The risk that customers  and/or
the Group are a  victim of financial  crime, including
anti -money laundering, terror financing, cyber
crime and fraud.

The Group operate extens ive controls  to
mitigate the risk of financial  crime, including
thorough pol icies , procedures, due di l igence,
screening and training (at outset and ongoing).

Advice risk: The risk that the F inancial  and/or
I nvestment advice provided by Vesta Wealth Ltd or
I nvestAcc Ltd leads  to customer harm, cla ims
against the bus iness  and reputational  damage.

Whi lst there is  inherent market risk, we operate
extens ive controls  and overs ight to mitigate the
risk of poor advice.  Defined Benefi t transfer
advice is  only provided by Vesta Wealth and in
l imited ci rcumstances  and the vast majori ty are
excluded as  unsuitable at the ini tia l  triage
stage. An independent third-party compl iance
fi rm also checks  a l l  fi les  prior to completion of
the advice process . Investment advice does  not
extend to high-risk investments .



Risk category Key Risk Mitigating actions and controls

 
Financial risk

Inflation Risk: Inflation risk is  the risk that
the value of the Group's  assets  and revenue
streams wi l l  be eroded by inflation.

We manage this  risk through regular reviews of our
revenue streams and customer charges.

Market Risk: Market risk arises  from
fluctuations  or volati l i ty in capital  markets ,
interest rates  and customer confidence.

For the pens ion bus iness , market risk i s  primari ly borne
by the underlying customers  as  InvestAcc fees  are fixed
sterl ing charges. We manage this  risk across  the non-
pension bus iness  through divers i fication and by regular
monitoring of market conditions.
The acquis i tion faci l i ty i s  exposed to interest rate risk i f
rates  increase.    We are planning on a low leverage to
mitigate exposure.

Credit Risk: Credit risk arises  from the
poss ibi l i ty that customers, market
counterparties  or banks  used by the Group
may default on their obl igations.

We mitigate this  risk through contractual  agreements
with our customers, by setting credit l imits , and by
conducting thorough due di l igence on our
counterparties .

Liquidity Risk: The risk that the Group does
not have readi ly real isable financial
resources  to enable i t to meet i ts  obl igations
as  they fa l l  due.

Liquidity risk i s  managed by maintaining a  balance of
l iquid assets  and monitoring cash flow forecasts , to
ensure the Group and i ts  subs idiaries  have sufficient
real isable resources  to meet their obl igations  as  they
fal l  due.

 

 

Internal control framework

The Group maintains  a  robust internal  control  framework that encompasses  detai led pol icies  and procedures

across  a l l  funcBons, and conBnuous monitoring of compl iance with regulatory requirements . O ur internal

controls  are des igned to idenBfy and manage risks  effecBvely, to ensure compl iance with appl icable laws and

regulations, and to provide rel iable financial  reporting and operational  processes.

 

The Group's  monitoring of K P I s  relaBng to service standards, service performance, complaint levels  and

consumer outcomes al l  support the assessment that I nvestAcc's  administraBve controls  are effecBve.  These

K P I s  are reported to and overseen by the relevant subs idiary Boards. W hi lst the exisBng governance and

control  processes  are proporBonate for the current bus iness , there is  a  commitment to enhance the risk,

governance and control  framework further in 2025 in order to support the Group's  growth plans.

 

The financial  control  framework includes  robust financial  pol icies  and procedures, overs ight by the Group of

each subs idiary's  financial  operaBons and performance, and conBnuous monitoring of compl iance with

regulatory requirements . S ince the Acquis iBon of the I nvestAcc bus inesses  in O ctober 2024, an increased level

of third-party day to day accounBng support has  been provided.  I n addiBon, further financial  controls  have

been implemented in banking, payrol l  and management reporting in l ine with the Group's  pol icies . 

 

As  at the balance sheet date we have not idenBfied any materia l  controls  which have not operated effecBvely

and there were no materia l  i ssues  previous ly reported.

 

As  highl ighted under risks  and uncertainBes, emerging risks  are primari ly idenBfied through horizon scanning

from an external  perspecBve and customer and staff engagement internal ly.  O nce potenBal  risks  are

assessed, miBgaBng acBons are agreed and, where appropriate, these risks  are added to the risk register and

tracked through the governance structure. Given the informaBon included in this  report covering risk

management and the Group's  internal  control  framework, the Board are saBsfied that the Group has  in place

effective materia l  controls  as  at the 31 December 2024.

 
 
Chairman's introduction to Governance

 

Introduction

The fol lowing pages  set out our approach to governance and how the Board and i ts  commiTees operated

during the s ix month period to 31 December 2024.

 

The Directors  are responsible for the Company's  day to day management, which includes, among other things ,

formulaBng strategy and pol icies , and seVng and achieving the Company's  objecBves. Each Director has  a

duty to the Company in exercis ing their powers  or performing their duBes, to act honestly and in good fa i th



duty to the Company in exercis ing their powers  or performing their duBes, to act honestly and in good fa i th

and in what the Director bel ieves  to be in the best interests  of the Company and for a  proper purpose. From the

date of appointment of the INEDs  on 16 O ctober, the Board establ ished commiTees to support the Board.

Further detai ls  of these commiTees, their responsibi l iBes  and acBviBes  in the period are set out within these

Financial  Statements .

 

The Board is  responsible for the governance structure of the Company, and we bel ieve that our clear

governance framework enables  the Board to operate effecBvely and support the del ivery of the Company's

strategy.

 

Our Board

We bel ieve i t i s  important that we have the right balance of ski l l s , knowledge and experience on our Board to

lead the Group.

 

O n 16 O ctober 2024, we announced the appointment of three I NEDs: Giovanni  Castagno, who has  assumed the

role of Senior I ndependent Director, Helen Copinger-Symes, who has  assumed the role of the workforce

director, and Martin Potkins . 

 

These appointments  strengthen the Company's  governance arrangements  and provide the Board with highly

credible and experienced independent Directors  who provide experBse in areas  criBcal  to the Company as  i t

seeks  to execute i ts  stated strategy.

 

O n the appointment of the three I NEDs, the Board adopted the UK  Corporate Governance Code and establ ished

the Board CommiTees.  Further detai ls  on our compl iance with the UK  Corporate Governance Code is  included

within the Governance Report.

 

Our Culture

The Board is  responsible for establ ishing the Company's  culture and assess ing and monitoring how the

desired culture has  been embedded.

 

We foster a  culture of openness , transparency and trust to faci l i tate an environment where ideas,

opportuniBes  and chal lenges  are freely and construcBvely discussed and where every member of the team is

empowered to contribute to our success .  We are driven by achieving our stated strategy and del ivering the

best outcomes and services  for our customers  and al l  our stakeholders , including our customers  and our

shareholders .

 

During the Acquis iBon process , we met regularly with the I nvestAcc management team. Throughout these

iniBal  interacBons, i t was  clear that I nvestAcc's  corporate culture is  very much al igned with our own: one of

integri ty and focus  on del ivering the highest qual i ty of service to customers. This  i s  demonstrated through

InvestAcc's  exceptional ly high customer retention rate and multiple industry awards.

 

We bel ieve that our culture provides  us  with the foundaBon upon which we wi l l  conBnue to bui ld as  a  firm,

creating an environment for people to thrive and whereby we wi l l  continue to grow, innovate and excel .

 
Helen Copinger-Symes in her role as  Des ignated Workforce Director wi l l , through her interacBons with the

Board, execuBve management and the wider team, beTer understand how culture is  embedded throughout the

Group and provide a conduit to ensure that culture a l igns  with the Company's  strategic ambitions.

 

Our Governance Structure

O ur governance framework and a clear divis ion of responsibi l iBes  enables  the Board to operate effecBvely,

ful fi l  i ts  responsibi l i ties  and provide valuable overs ight.

 

W hi lst the Board reserves  certain responsibi l iBes  which are set out in the maTers  reserved for the Board, day

to day management of the Group has  been delegated to the Group Chief ExecuBve O fficer, who is  supported by

the Executive Committee.

 

The Board has  establ ished five Board commiTees (an Audit CommiTee, a  Risk CommiTee, a  NominaBon

CommiTee, a  RemuneraBon CommiTee and a Disclosure CommiTee) which operate under Terms of Reference

which are avai lable on our website at: https://investaccgroup.com/about-us/Corporate-

Governance/default.aspx

https://investaccgroup.com/about-us/Corporate-Governance/default.aspx


 

The Composition of these committees  is  as  fol lows:

 

I  am the Chair of the Board, the Senior I ndependent Director ("SID") i s  Giovanni  Castagno, and the Des ignated

Workforce Director is  Helen Copinger-Symes.

 

The roles  and responsibi l iBes  of the Chair, the S I D, the Des ignated Workforce Director, each of the commiTees,

the C EO  and management of the underlying operaBng bus iness , have been set out in wriBng and agreed with

the Board and are set out in the roles  and responsibi l iBes  document which is  reviewed on an at least an

annual  bas is  by the Board.

 

The Disclosure CommiTee is  set up to ensure accurate, Bmely, and compl iant communicaBon of materia l

informaBon to stakeholders , in compl iance with our obl igaBons under M AR and overseeing the process  by

which informaBon that i s  l ikely to have a s ignificant impact on the Company's  financial  instruments  is

disclosed publ icly.

The roles  and responsibi l iBes  for each of the Audit CommiTee, Risk CommiTee, RemuneraBon CommiTee and

Nomination Committee are set out in pages  29 to 37 of these Financial  Statements .

An overview of the roles  and responsibi l iBes  of the Board, S I D, Des ignated Workforce Director and Company

Secretary are included in the Governance Report.

 

My Role as Chair

As the Chair, I  provide leadership to the Board, ensuring i ts  effecBveness  and al ignment with the company's

purpose, values, and strategy. I  set the Board agenda, with a  focus  on strategy, performance, and

accountabi l i ty, whi le fostering a  culture of openness , integri ty, and constructive debate.

 

I oversee the Company's  governance framework, ensuring i t a l igns  with best pracBces  and supports  value

creaBon. Through effecBve leadership of Board meeBngs, I  faci l i tate col laboraBon amongst the directors , and

ensure decis ions  are wel l -informed and Bmely. I  a lso strive to col laboraBvely manage relaBonships  with the

CEO, other Directors , and key stakeholders , promoting trust, respect, and mutual  understanding.

 

We are conscious  of the need to conBnue to assess  and monitor the composiBon of the Board and regularly

review and reconsider a  ski l l s  matrix to ensure that the Board is  fit for purpose for the Group's  acBviBes  as

they are now, and as  they evolve.  O nce the current Board has  worked together for a  period of Bme, we wi l l

cons ider the best method of assess ing Board effecBveness  and areas  where Board interacBons or composiBon

can be further improved or enhanced.

 

Stakeholder engagement is  central  to the role, and we are commiTed to maintaining regular dia logue with

shareholders , employees, and other stakeholders  to understand their concerns  and ensure their views are

reflected in decis ion-making.

 

Looking ahead: 2025 governance priorities

As a Board we are commiTed to conBnuing to evolve our governance structure to best meet the needs of the



As a Board we are commiTed to conBnuing to evolve our governance structure to best meet the needs of the

business  as  i t develops  and continues  to execute i ts  strategy.  Accordingly, the Board wi l l :
-     ConBnue to criBcal ly evaluate acquis iBon opportuniBes  and seek a pipel ine of highly aTracBve

targets , applying rigour to the assessment of suitabi l i ty, di l igence, risk and pricing.  Ensure
appropriate ski l l s , capacity and experience to successful ly integrate the targets  idenBfied, and embed
overs ight at Board level  of the operations  of those processes.

-     ConBnue to chal lenge the composiBon of the Board as  the bus iness  evolves  over the coming year to
ensure i t provides  the ski l l s , experience and experBse required to support the bus iness  in i ts  strategy
execution.

-     Evaluate the Board's  performance and look to idenBfy areas  to improve or enhance, be that through
information flows, composition or tra ining, for example.

-     Embed the operaBon of the Board's  commiTees, ensure open and regular dia logue between the
commiTee Chairs  and their execuBve management counterpart, enhance the annual  cycle of the
commiTees and further enhance the detai l  and informaBon flows most relevant to each commiTee in
i ts  operation.

-     Consider, understand and, where required, formal ise informaBon flows required to meet the
enhanced disclosure requirements  under a l l  appl icable rules  and regulaBons impacBng the
Company, for example, in respect of ES G maTers , and further develop internal  pol icies  and
procedures  to support these requirements .

-     Encourage open and regular dia logue with shareholders  and other stakeholders  to ensure a  thorough
understanding of the bus iness  and i ts  activi ties  over the coming year.

 
Roles and Responsibilities

 

Board

The Board is  responsible for promoBng the long-term, sustainable success  of the Company through seeking to

generate value for shareholders  whi le fulfil l ing responsibi l iBes  to a l l  our stakeholders . This  includes  seVng

the Group's  strategic priori ties  and monitoring management's  performance against those priori ties , setting the

Group's  risk appeBte and ensuring effecBve controls  are in place, monitoring compl iance with corporate

governance principles  and upholding the purpose, culture, values, and ethics  of the Company.

 

SID

The S I D supports  the Chair and Board, acBng as  a  sounding Board and intermediary for directors  and

shareholders . The S I D ensures  the Chair cons iders  shareholder views, focuses  on success ion planning, and

leads  the Chair's  performance evaluaBon. They chair meeBngs  without the Chair present, parBcularly for

appraisals  or success ion discuss ions, and are avai lable to shareholders  for unresolved concerns.  Giovanni

Castagno is  keen to develop relationships  with shareholders  and engage with them over the coming year.

 

CEO

The Group C EO  has  overal l  accountabi l i ty for the development and execuBon of the Group's  strategy in l ine

with the pol icies  and objecBves  agreed by the Board, as  wel l  as  the operaBonal  effecBveness  and profitabi l i ty

of the Group. The Group C EO  leads  the ExecuBve CommiTee.  W i l l  Sel f has  been in the role of C EO  s ince 6 June

2023 and led the execuBve team through the Acquis iBon and subsequent integraBon with the Company.  W i l l

has  driven the expansion of the execuBve team, the idenBficaBon of further M&A opportuniBes  and

development of the enlarged group's  culture and values.

 

CFO

The Group C FO  is  responsible for the financial  affairs  of the Group whi lst supporBng the Group C EO  in the

development and execuBon of the Group's  strategy.  James Pearce joined on a fixed term contract and served

as  CFO of the Group from 23 May 2024 to 20 December 2024, supporting the Company through the Acquis i tion.

The Company appointed an interim C FO, Marcus  Holburn, for the period from James' departure unBl  the

commencement of the permanent CFO, Vinoy Nurs iah, who joined the bus iness  on 1 Apri l  2025. 

 

Company Secretary

AntoineTe Vanderpui je is  Company Secretary of the Company. The Company Secretary supports  the Board of

Directors  in ensuring the Company's  ongoing compl iance with legal  and regulatory requirements , including

the Company's  adherence to the UK  LisBng Rules . The Company Secretary is  the primary advisor to the Board

on governance maTers , supporBng the Company with i ts  compl iance with the UK  Corporate Governance Code

and the ongoing management of a  corporate governance framework and annual  calendar. O n a  day-to-day

bas is , the Company Secretary's  responsibi l iBes  include organis ing and minuBng Board, commiTee and

shareholder meeBngs, maintaining statutory records, and supporBng Directors  through inducBons and

training as  wel l  as  managing regulatory fil ings , market announcements , and ins ider l i s ts . AddiBonal ly, the

Company Secretary provides  strategic and administraBve support for corporate transacBons, l ia ises  with

stakeholders , and ensures  the company remains  informed of, and compl iant with, evolving legis laBon and

best practices .



 
UK Corporate Governance Code

The Board is  commiTed to maintaining high standards  of corporate governance and has  resolved that the

Company wi l l  comply with the UK  Corporate Governance Code, so far as  pracBcable, during the period and on

an ongoing bas is . The Company has  adopted the 2024 UK Corporate Governance Code, which was publ ished by

the FRC in January 2024 and is  avai lable at https://www.frc.org.uk.

 

Detai ls  and explanations  of non-compl iance with the UK Corporate Governance Code are set out below:

 

The Chair is not independent

P rovis ion 9 of the UK  Corporate Governance Code recommends that a  Chair should be independent on

appointment. The independence of a  Chair i s  assessed against cri teria  set out in P rovis ion 10 of the UK

Corporate Governance Code which includes, amongst other things , whether a  Director parBcipates  in a

company's  share opBon or performance related pay scheme. O n appointment, the Company's  subs idiary

issued me with incenBve shares  pursuant to a  long-term incenBve plan ("LTIP") and therefore the Board does

not cons ider me as  independent on appointment.

 

Remuneration for Non-Executive Directors includes share options

P rovis ion 34 of the UK  Corporate Governance Code recommends that the remuneraBon for Non-ExecuBve

Directors  should not include share opBons or other performance-related elements . The Company's  subs idiary

has  issued incenBve shares  pursuant to i ts  LTI P  to myself (as  noted above) and James Corsel l i s . I n the case of

James Corsel l i s , his  interest in incenBve shares  is  held indirectly through his  interest in Marwyn's  long term

incentive vehicle, Marwyn Long Term Incentive LP ("MLTI").

 

No discretion in relation to LTIP outcomes

P rovis ion 37 of the UK  Corporate Governance Code recommends that remuneraBon schemes and pol icies

should enable the use of discreBon to override formulaic outcomes. The terms of the LTI P, as  described in note

29 to these F inancial  Statements , wi l l  result in remuneraBon being awarded based on pre-determined

formulas , and therefore, there is  no discretion in relation to LTIP outcomes.

 

The Chair of the Remuneration Committee has not previously served on a Remuneration Committee 

P rovis ion 32 of the UK  Corporate Governance Code recommends that before appointment as  chair of the

RemuneraBon CommiTee, the appointee should have served on a RemuneraBon CommiTee for at least 12

months. Helen has  not previous ly served as  a  member of a  RemuneraBon CommiTee, and therefore the

Company is  non-compl iant with this  provis ion of the UK  Corporate Governance Code. The Board is  however

saBsfied that Helen has  the experience and ski l l s  required to perform this  role and the Company is  supporBng

Helen in this  pos ition, having also enrol led Helen in a  Remuneration Committee workshop and update sess ion.

 

Board Effectiveness

The Board is  determined to maintain the highest standards  in the way we work and so have commiTed to

undertake an annual  assessment of effecBveness . The NominaBon CommiTee along with the Chair are

responsible for puVng in place a  formal  and rigorous  annual  evaluaBon of the performance of the Board, i ts

commiTees and individual  D irectors . Given that the compleBon of the I nvestAcc Acquis iBon took place in

O ctober 2024, with the appointments  of three INEDs  shortly thereaWer i t has  been agreed that the first Board

effecBveness  review wi l l  take place in Q 3 2025. The results  of the Board EffecBveness  review are to be

discussed at the subsequent meeBng of the Board, and the results  of the Board EffecBveness  review, a longs ide

the recommendations  and any implemented changes  wi l l  be outl ined in the 2025 annual  report.

 
Induction, training and development

As part of the appointment process  of the three INEDs  in O ctober, the Chair oversaw a ta i lored and detai led

inducBon process . As  part of which, each of the proposed Directors  received materia ls  on the Group and

aTended a day's  inducBon sess ion which included meeBngs with the Chair, ExecuBve Management, Company

Secretary and Broker.

 

We are commiTed to supporBng the conBnued development of a l l  our staff, and this  includes  the Board and

execuBve management team. We have so far arranged training for Helen, to support with her role as  Chair of

the Remuneration Committee.

 

Board Diversity

We are commiTed to fostering a  diverse and inclus ive Board that reflects  the broad perspecBves, experiences

https://www.frc.org.uk


We are commiTed to fostering a  diverse and inclus ive Board that reflects  the broad perspecBves, experiences

and ski l l s  required to effecBvely guide our bus iness  and create sustainable value for a l l  s takeholders .

Divers i ty i s  a  key component of our governance framework, supporBng beTer decis ion-making whi le a l igning

with our values  and stakeholder expectations.

 

We acknowledge that we have not yet met the recommended targets  for Board divers i ty as  outl ined by the FC A,

given that our Board is  majori ty male, with the roles  of C EO, C FO, Chair and S I D al l  being held by males  and no

Directors  being from an ethnic minori ty, as  at the balance sheet date. Vinoy Nurs iah is  of As ian and As ian

BriBsh ethnici ty and joined the Board of Directors  as  C FO  on 1 Apri l  2025. Board and senior management

divers i ty i s  something that we are commiTed to improving over Bme, and divers i ty of the Board and the

workforce of the wider group is  a  maTer for review over the coming twelve months, a long with the des ign of a

Divers i ty Pol icy as  noted in the NominaBon CommiTee Report on page 34. A Divers i ty Pol icy has  not yet been

put in place, given the short period of Bme from the compleBon of the Acquis iBon and the appointment of the

I NEDs and the period end. Disclosure requirements  specified under UK  LisBng Rule 22.2.30R(2) are included in

the Directors ' Report.

 

The Company had commiTed to enhancing i ts  governance arrangements  and I NEDs to the Board at or around

the point of Acquis iBon. As  part of the recruitment process  for these appointments , a  ski l l s  matrix was

prepared, which idenBfied the strengths  and areas  of experBse of the exisBng Board and management team as

wel l  as  the ski l l s  gaps. This  matrix formed the bas is  of the recruitment process , which was very much focussed

on recruiBng Board members  who had the requis i te experience, experBse and ski l l s  needed to enhance the

Board and support the Company in i ts  strategy execution.

 

ESG

ES G is  the responsibi l i ty of the Board, and is  included on the Board standing agenda, to faci l i tate Board level

discuss ions  on a regular bas is . The Bming and nature of these discuss ions  is  set out on the Board governance

calendar.

 

As  menBoned in my Chairman's  Statement on page 5, as  we evolve, we intend to bui ld an environmental ly

sustainable bus iness .  We recognise the importance of having in place a  wider ES G strategy and adopBng an

ES G framework to enable the Company to provide comprehensive disclosures  in this  regard. Given the short

period of Bme s ince the Acquis iBon, the Company is  very much at the start of i ts  ES G journey and the

Company's  ESG strategy is  a  Board matter, to be cons idered at regular intervals  over the coming year.

 
We recognise that under the UK  LisBng Rules  i t i s  expected that l i s ted companies  wi l l  have adopted the Task

Force on C l imate-related Financial  D isclosures  ("TCFD") and include cl imate related financial  disclosures

consistent with the TCFD recommendations  and provide i ts  recommended disclosures  in the annual  report.

 

Given the very short Bmeframe s ince the Acquis iBon, the Company has  not yet des igned i ts  ES G Strategy.  As

previous ly noted, the Directors  are commiTed to doing so, and over the coming year this  wi l l  be an area for

development. The Directors  are aware of the evolving regulatory landscape, and the expected adopBon of the

first two standards  issued by the I nternaBonal  Sustainabi l i ty Standards  Board ("ISSB") in the UK  of I F RS S1:

General  Requirements  for Disclosure of Sustainabi l i ty-related Financial  I nformaBon and I F RS S2: C l imate-

related Disclosures.

 

Communication with Shareholders

I t i s  very important to us  that the Board engages  with the owners  of our Company. During the year, as  part of

the fundraise process  we undertook a roadshow and met with the shareholders  that subscribed for shares  as

part of the placing.  The placing was completed through the issuance of shares  to both new shareholders , as

wel l  as  the issuance of addiBonal  shares  to a  number of the Company's  shareholders  that had been invested

in the bus iness  s ince IPO.

 

The Company wi l l  conBnue to meet and interact with i ts  shareholders  during key points  in the reporBng

process , such as  fol lowing the release of i ts  F inancial  Statements  and interim accounts . Giovanni  Castagno, in

his  role as  SID, i s  a lso avai lable as  needed for discuss ions  with shareholders .

 

The Company's  first annual  general  meeBng ("AGM") wi l l  be held prior to 9 Apri l  2026. The Board wi l l  aTend

the AGM, and we are a l l  looking forward to meeBng with our shareholders  and us ing this  as  an opportunity to

hear their views and answer their questions.

 



 

Wider Stakeholder Engagement

The Board is  commiTed to cons idering not only the immediate interests  of shareholders , but a lso the interests

and impact that the Company may have on wider stakeholders  including:
i .              the l ikely consequences  of decis ions  in the long-term;

i i .             the interests  of our employees;

i i i .            the need to further the Group's  bus iness  relationships  with suppl iers , customers  and others ;

iv.            the impact of the Group's  operations  on the community and the environment;

v.             the des irabi l i ty of the Group to maintain a  reputaBon for high standards  of bus iness  conduct;
and

vi .            the need to act fa i rly.

The Group operates  in a  regulated industry where customer outcomes are paramount.  O ur employees  are

fundamental  to the Group's  abi l i ty to del iver the excepBonal  customer service expected of I nvestAcc, and our

employees  are supported by the Group's  suppl iers .  The Board understands  the interdependencies  of the

Group's  wider bus iness  relaBonships , i s  mindful  of the impact the Group has  on the community and

environment and remains  cognisant of maintaining and conBnuing to enhance the Group's  reputaBon in the

market based on excel lent customer experience.

 

Our shareholders

The Board bel ieves  that by execuBng our strategy and del ivering for our customers, we can del iver our

ful l  potentia l  for our shareholders .

During the period, the Company completed i ts  plaOorm Acquis iBon, which was partly funded by a  £30 mi l l ion

insBtuBonal  subscripBon and placing. As  part of the Acquis iBon process , the Company's  Directors  and

management engaged with potenBal  shareholders  in respect of the Acquis iBon opportunity and longer-term

strategy of the enlarged Group. S ince the compleBon of the Acquis iBon, the Company has  conBnued to

progress  i ts  stated strategy, as  disclosed in more detai l  in the Chairman's  Report and C EO  Report. The

Directors  have communicated with shareholders  via  R NS announcements  and are avai lable to meet with

shareholders  as  required.  The Board is  committed to maintaining regular dia logue with shareholders .

 

Customers

As disclosed in the C EO  Report, our bus iness  is  recognised for the qual i ty of service i t conBnues to del iver to

i ts  cl ients  year on year as  demonstrated by the awards  the I nvestAcc bus iness  has  won. Customer saBsfacBon

and customer retention are cri tical  to the long-term sustainable prospects  of the Group.

 

I nformaBon on customer retenBon is  cons idered a key performance indicator, as  set out in the Management

Report and therefore reported to the Board at each periodic meeBng and recent retenBon rates  remain

consistently pos itive.

 

The Board conBnues to be kept informed on how management of the underlying regulated bus inesses  are

embedding Consumer Duty, ensuring that cons istently pos iBve customer outcomes remain integral  to a l l

processes.

 

Workforce

We consider the engagement of our workforce to be a criBcal  element of good governance, and we want to

ensure that we have in place an open and transparent dia logue with our workforce which enables  the

perspecBves, needs  and concerns  of our staff to be part of our Board discuss ions, and therefore, cons idered

as  part of our strategic decis ion making.

 

Fol lowing the Acquis iBon, Group management have met regularly with the senior I nvestAcc team at their

offices in Carl is le. Group management have also held our first town hal l  with the wider I nvestAcc team in

person in Carl is le. I t was  important for the Group that this  be held shortly fol lowing the Acquis iBon, as  an

opportunity for management to share the Group's  strategy and vis ion, as  wel l  as  meet the staff individual ly

and encourage a forum of openness  and transparency, iniBaBng and encouraging a  dia logue between

management and the workforce.

 

We have recently appointed Helen Copinger-Symes as  the Des ignated Workforce Director. The Dedicated

Workforce Director is  to be a bridge between the workforce and the Board, strengthening the voice of our

workforce at Board level .

 

Looking ahead to 2025, Helen wi l l  engage with the workforce on key areas, such as  the group remuneraBon

pol icy, and divers i ty and inclus ion as  the Company looks  to develop and implement i ts  strategies  and pol icies



pol icy, and divers i ty and inclus ion as  the Company looks  to develop and implement i ts  strategies  and pol icies

in these areas.

 

Regulators

We have an open, construcBve and transparent relaBonship with the FC A.  We also take a proacBve approach

to ensure the FCA remain informed regarding our strategy and any potentia l  M&A activi ty.  

 
Community and environment

The I nvestAcc bus iness  has  developed strong Bes  to i ts  community. During 2024 they conBnued to support the

local  footbal l  team in Carl is le and held a  number of chari ty events  ra is ing money for both Macmil lan Cancer

Support and a local  chari ty Eden Val ley Hospice. As  menBoned above, the Company is  commiTed to bui lding

an environmental ly sustainable bus iness  and intends to develop a wider ES G strategy and adopt an ES G

framework in 2025. As  part of this  work, the Company is  looking forward to bui lding on and nurturing the

community relationships  developed by the InvestAcc team.

 

Suppliers

O ur suppl iers  are criBcal  to our bus iness  and the long-term success  of the Group. We have in place a  suppl ier

onboarding process  and undertake a periodic review of our suppl iers . During 2025, our suppl ier onboarding

and review pol icy wi l l  be reviewed by the Risk CommiTee and enhancements  to our procedures  in this  area

made, in l ine with our ongoing review and enhancements  to our risk management processes.

 

Looking forward

The Board is  commiTed to fostering strong engagement with i ts  shareholders . Looking ahead, the Board wi l l

cons ider and balance, the views and interests  gained through i ts  stakeholder engagement, as  wel l  as  the need

to promote the long-term success  of the Group.

 

Board and Committee attendance

Since adopBon of the UK  Corporate Governance Code, and establ ishment of the Board commiTees, the

Company held one periodic Board meeBng in the period to 31 December 2024, as  wel l  as  one RemuneraBon

CommiTee, Audit CommiTee, and Risk CommiTee meeBng.  2025 Board meeBngs are scheduled and diarised,

with a  minimum of 8 meeBngs  intended to be held during the year. Al l  Board and commiTee meeBng members

attended the respective meetings .

 

One Disclosure Committee meeting was a lso held in the period to 31 December 2024.

 

A further ad-hoc meeBng was held in respect of the Board changes  in December 2024 and fol lowing discuss ion

with the ful l  board, the formal  approvals  were delegated to Mark Hodges  and Wi l l  Sel f.

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

 

Mark Hodges - Chairman

Mark has  over 30 years ' experience across  the financial  services  and
consumer sectors , including extens ive F TS E 100 Board experience with
Centrica plc and Aviva plc. He was a lso C EO  of ReAssure (which he sold to
P hoenix for £3.25 bi l l ion), Centrica's  consumer divis ion (including
BriBsh Gas), Towergate I nsurance, and Aviva UK . Mark is  currently the
independent Non-ExecuBve Chairman of the Royal  Sun Al l iance I nsurance
Group, a  whol ly owned subs idiary of the Intact Finance Corporation.
Date of appointment: 19 June 2022
Committee membership: Nomination Committee (Chair) and Disclosure
Committee (Chair)

Will Self - CEO

W il l  has  extens ive experience across  pens ion and reBrement services
sectors . He was previous ly Chief ExecuBve O fficer of Suffolk Li fe and Chief
Commercial  O fficer of Cofunds (both divis ions  of Legal  & General ), and
subsequently C EO  of CurBs  Banks  Group plc.  During his  Bme at Suffolk
Li fe, W i l l  led one of the S I P P  industry's  first consol idaBon iniBaBves
including the acquis iBon of the ful l  S I P P  book from Pointon York in 2012,
the merger with CurBs  Banks  in 2016, and the acquis iBon of Talbot and
Muir. W i l l  i s  a lso a  Trustee of the Seckford FoundaBon and serves  as
Deputy Chair to the FC A Smal l  Bus iness  P racBBoner Panel . He holds  an
MBA from Cranfield School  of Management.
Date of appointment: 5 June 2023
Committee membership: Disclosure Committee

Vinoy brings  a  wealth of experience to the role, with a  proven track record
of driving financial  performance, operaBonal  excel lence, and strategic



Vinoy Nursiah - CFO

of driving financial  performance, operaBonal  excel lence, and strategic
transformaBon.  P revious  pos iBons include C FO  of K ingswood, an AI M-
l isted wealth management group with over £10 bi l l ion assets  under
management, C FO  of C S C Global  F inancial  Markets , a  global  service
provider of specia l ised administraBve services , and Finance Director of
S F M Europe, del ivering corporate services  to structured finance and
securi tisation vehicles .
 
Date of appointment: 1 Apri l  2025

Giovanni (John) Castagno -
Senior Independent Director

Giovanni  has  over 45 years ' experience of working as  an execuBve and
non-execuBve with companies  such as  Legal  & General , BUPA, Post O ffice
Insurance, Tesco Bank, Bri tish Gas  Insurance and Hastings  Direct.
Giovanni  i s  currently Non-ExecuBve Chair of D ignity Funerals  Limited,
Honorary Chairman of W ide Group (I ta ly) and is  the Senior I ndependent
Director and Non-ExecuBve Chair of Risk for Markerstudy Group Holdings
Limited.
Date of appointment: 16 October 2024
Committee membership: Audit Committee, Risk Committee (Chair),
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee

Helen Copinger-Symes
 

Helen has  over 35 years ' experience in financial  services , ini tia l ly in fixed
income capital  markets , fol lowed by an extens ive career in insBtuBonal
asset management focus ing on investments  for UK  pension funds. She has
worked for several  global  investment firms including Deutsche Asset
Management, I nvesco Perpetual , Al l ianceBernstein and State Street
Global  Advisors , in addition to a  boutique hedge fund.
Helen currently serves  as  a  Non-ExecuBve Director on the Board of Nest
CorporaBon as  wel l  as  Chair of the Pens ion SuperFund Holdings  and
Pension SuperFund Sponsor Boards. She is  a lso a  Trustee and Chair of the
I nvestment CommiTee for D H L (UK ) FoundaBon, overseeing the
Foundation's  portfol io of assets .
Date of appointment: 16 October 2024
Committee membership: Audit Committee, Risk Committee, Remuneration
Committee (Chair) and Nomination Committee

Martin Potkins
 

MarBn is  a  highly experienced senior execuBve with parBcular experBse
in financial  services , specifical ly l i fe & pensions, general  and health
insurance developed over 35+ years . His  most recent execuBve role was
as  interim C FO  for Bupa where he conBnues to chair the UK  D B pension
scheme, and the Bupa Global  subs idiary based in I reland and serving
customers  across  the EU.
MarBn has  s ignificant experience of complex change in a  variety of
different scenarios , from establ ished bus inesses  (based in UK  and
worldwide) impacted by regulatory change, to acquis iBve concerns
requiring structural  transformation and cultural  change.
Date of appointment: 16 October 2024
Committee membership: Audit Committee (Chair), Risk Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Disclosure
Committee

James Corsellis
 

James is  Managing Partner of Marwyn Capital  and Chief I nvestment
O fficer of Marwyn I nvestment Management LLP. He brings  extens ive
publ ic company experience, management and corporate finance experBse
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Date of appointment: 31 July 2020
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Audit Committee Report

 

Introduction

As Chair of the Audit CommiTee, I  am del ighted to present my inaugural  report to shareholders  and set out the

acBviBes  of the commiTee s ince i ts  establ ishment on 16 O ctober 2024.  W hi lst only a  short period of Bme has

elapsed s ince establ ishment, the commiTee has  worked closely with the execuBve team to develop a thorough

understanding of the financial  pol icies , procedures  and processes  throughout the Group, including planned

enhancements  to these over the coming year. We have cons idered, and recommended to the Board, the

proposed change in year-end for the Group to 31 December and have been involved in the audit process  from



proposed change in year-end for the Group to 31 December and have been involved in the audit process  from

the planning stage through to compleBon.  Set out in this  report i s  a  summary of our roles  and

responsibi l i ties , our activi ties  in the period and our key priori ties  for 2025.

 

Committee Membership
-     Martin Potkins  (Chair)

-     Giovanni  Castagno

-     Helen Copinger-Symes

Al l  commiTee members  are independent, and al l  three members  aTended the one commiTee meeBng held in

the period from establ ishment to the year-end date.  O n an ongoing bas is , we intend to meet at least four Bmes

a year, at the appropriate times in the financial  reporting and audit cycle.

 

The biographies  of the Audit Committee members  are included on pages  27 and 28.

 

Roles and Responsibilities

The Audit CommiTee has  responsibi l i ty for, among other things , the monitoring of the integri ty of the Group's

financial  s tatements  and the involvement of the auditors  in that process . We focus  in parBcular on

compl iance with accounBng pol icies  and reviewing internal  financial  controls . We also advise on the

appointment of the external  auditor and focus  on ensuring the effecBveness  of the external  audit, including

considering the scope of the annual  audit. The ulBmate responsibi l i ty for reviewing and approving the annual

report and accounts  and the hal f-yearly report remains  with the Board.

 

2024 inaugural activities

The Audit CommiTee was establ ished on 16 O ctober 2024, during the short period to 31 December 2024, the

committee has:
-     Reviewed and approved i ts  Terms of Reference

-     Reviewed and cons idered the Finance Improvement Plan which had been prepared to capture any low-
risk due di l igence findings  which were not addressed pre acquis iBon by the I nvestAcc bus iness , a long
with some more general  financial  control  and operaBons enhancements  to a l ign group operaBons.
The majori ty of the idenBfied acBons have been implemented within the period to 31 December 2024,
and the committee wi l l  continue to monitor the resolution of the remaining low risk matters .

-     Approved the updated Financial  Pos iBon and P rospects  P rocedures  Memorandum ("FPPP"). The F P P P
was iniBal ly prepared as  part of the acquis iBon of I nvestAcc and has  subsequently evolved to reflect
the changes  to Group such as  enhancements  to financial  controls  and updates  to the Company's
Board and governance framework.

-     Approved the change in Group year end to 31 December. The change in year end is  now al igned across
the Group and also is  reflecBve of the financial  reporBng calendar of the wider industry, which is
important to the Company from an investor relations  perspective.

-     In respect of the financial  year 2024 audit and reporting process , the committee has:

 
o  Considered the financial  reporBng and audit requirements  across  the group and approved the

adoption of a  combination of IFRS and FRS 101.

o  Approved the audit timetable and has  monitored the audit work completed pre year end
o  Monitored the progress  of the PPA workstream, and i ts  interaction with the audit timetable
o  Reviewed and approved the Group audit engagement letters , including audit scope and fees

-     Considered the enlarged group's  VAT pos iBon and the des ign and implementaBon of managed
services  agreements .
 

2025 priorities

During the period to the date of this  report, the commiTee has  conBnued to oversee the audit and reporBng

process  and in relation to this  has:
-     Considered the key accounBng esBmates  and judgements  and reviewed and input into key accounBng

papers , including the completion of the PPA workstream and associated reporting.
-     Met with the audit partner to discuss  the audit process  and contents  of the audit findings  report.
-     Reviewed and recommended approval  of the annual  report and financial  s tatements , Audit CommiTee

report, and associated documents  such as  the management representaBon leTer to the external
auditors .

 

For the remainder of 2025, the committee wi l l :
-     Review the integri ty and accuracy of the Company's  financial  reporting processes.

-     Monitor the effecBveness  of the systems of internal  control  over financial  reporBng that support the
integri ty of the Company's  and the Group's  financial  disclosures.

-     ConBnue to monitor the implementaBon of the F inance I mprovement P lan and cons ider any further
enhancements , speci fical ly in relation to the acquis i tion of further bus inesses.

-     Consider the need for an internal  audit function.



-     Consider the need for an internal  audit function.

-     In relation to the 2025 interim financial  s tatements;
o  Consider the interim financial  s tatements  reporBng Bmetable and review and cons ider the

contents  of the interim accounts

o  Consider the impact on the Company's  financial  reporting of any further M&A

o  Perform an annual  review of the effectiveness  of the Group's  external  auditor

o  P repare for the 2025 financial  year, including enhancement of the Company's  ES G reporBng in
l ine with i ts  ESG strategy

The commiTee are aware of the impact that an acBve M&A agenda wi l l  have on the financial  reporBng

processes  and controls  and ulBmately the level  of disclosure required in the Group's  financial  s tatements  to

ensure that the informaBon presented to shareholders  is  clear, balanced and understandable. The commiTee

wi l l  work with management to both support and provide chal lenge throughout the year in respect of i ts  areas

of responsibi l i ty.

Internal Audit

Given the Group's  s ize and the nature of i ts  operaBons, i t has  been determined that an internal  audit funcBon

is  not required at this  Bme. The exisBng control  environment is  cons idered proporBonate to the scale and

complexity of the bus iness , with robust overs ight and review processes  in place to provide sufficient

assurance over key financial  and operaBonal  controls . The requirement for an internal  audit funcBon, or the

support of a  third party to provide internal  audit tesBng is  to be cons idered periodical ly by the commiTee and

wi l l  be assessed during 2025 as  set out above.

 

Audit Tenure

The commiTee is  responsible for overseeing relaBons with the external  auditor, including the proposed

external  audit plan and the approval  of fees . The commiTee wi l l  assess  the independence and effecBveness  of

the external  auditor each year and wil l  make a recommendaBon to the Board on their appointment or re-

appointment. The committee wi l l  fi rst undertake this  review in 2025.

 

The Company's  auditors  are Baker Ti l ly Channel  I s lands  Limited, who have been the Company's  auditor s ince

2022.

 

Auditor Independence

The commiTee has  assessed the impl icaBons of certain non-audit services  received from a network firm of the

external  auditor, to ensure their independence & objecBvity remained appropriate. The commiTee noted that

M H A Macintyre Hudson LLP  ("MHA"), acted as  ReporBng Accountant on the historical  financial  informaBon

for the underlying subs idiaries , and also provided financial  and taxaBon due di l igence services  for the

Acquis iBon. The commiTee and the auditor have cons idered this  and have cons idered the F RC's  independence

requirements  and satis fied themselves  that:
·      these services  are l i s ted as  a l lowable non-audit services; and
·      the safeguards  appl ied by the independent auditor are sufficient to ensure their independence

and objectivi ty are not compromised.
 

 

Martin Potkins

Chair of the Audit Committee

23 April 2025

 

Risk Committee Report

 

Introduction

The Risk CommiTee has, s ince establ ishment, been focussed on understanding the risk profile of the bus iness ,

i ts  current pos iBon, the intended evoluBon of the risk management funcBon, processes  and controls  and the

impact on risk of future M&A activi ty.

 

O ver the past few months, the commiTee have worked alongs ide execuBve management, cons idered the

detai led due di l igence performed as  part of the Acquis iBon process  and chal lenged the approach to risk

idenBficaBon, management and miBgaBon to be employed by the Group, both in i ts  current form and as  the

M&A agenda develops.

 



 

This  report sets  out a  summary of our roles  and responsibi l iBes , our acBviBes  in the period and our key

priori ties  for 2025.

 

Committee Membership:
-     Giovanni  Castagno (Chair)

-     Martin Potkins

-     Helen Copinger-Symes

Al l  commiTee members  are independent, and al l  three members  aTended the one commiTee meeBng held in

the period from establ ishment to the period-end date.  O n an ongoing bas is , we intend to meet at least four

times a  year. 

 

Roles and Responsibilities

The Risk CommiTee wi l l  have responsibi l i ty for, among other things , advis ing the Board on risk appeBte,

tolerance and strategy (including the l ikel ihood and impact of principal  risks  materia l is ing, and seeking

assurance on specific risks). The commiTee wi l l  a lso monitor the effecBveness  of the enlarged Group's  risk

management and internal  control  systems (including overseeing and seeking assurance regarding the

adequacy and effectiveness  of processes  and procedures  to manage risk and the internal  control  framework).

 

The Risk CommiTee wi l l  a lso oversee and seek assurance on the effecBveness  of management's  own processes

for monitoring and reviewing the effecBveness  of risk management and internal  control  systems and ensuring

corrective action is  taken when necessary. 

 

2024 Inaugural Activities

The Risk Committee was establ ished on 16 October 2024, during the short period to 31 December 2024, the

committee has:
-     Reviewed and approved of the committee's  terms of reference

-     Reviewed and chal lenged the des ign and implementaBon of an effecBve operaBng model  for the
Group risk funcBon, which has  been prepared by the Group's  recently appointed Chief Risk O fficer.
This  included the iniBal  review and chal lenge of the current working draWs of key risk management
documents , including:

o  Group risk register and severi ty matrix;

o  Risk and compl iance maturi ty matrix and target risk management framework; and

o  Working draft of the risk appeti te framework, including proposed approach to KRI reporting.

-     Reviewed papers  and cons idered the impact to the Group of upcoming changes  to regulaBons, most
notably looking at the risks  and opportuniBes  to the Group from Consumer Duty obl igaBons, the
FCA's  Dear CEO letter dated 4 November 2024 for our sector and the Autumn 2024 Budget.

-     Discussed, chal lenged and subsequently approved the approach to enhance the Group's  pol icies  and
procedures, risk appeBte formaBon and monitoring of the wider group adopBon of these
enhancements  to existing practices .

2025 priorities

In the period from 1 January 2025 to the date of this  report, the committee has:
-     Reviewed regular K P I  and K R I  reporBng, providing quesBons to the execuBve management team in

this  regard to ensure appropriate monitoring and response to changes  in such metrics

-     Considered the nature of the risk disclosures  in the Group's  annual  report and discussed and
approved the contents  of the Risk Committee Report.

During the remainder of 2025, the committee wi l l :
-     Approve the Group's  key risk management documents  and conBnue to chal lenge and feedback to the

executive management team on these to support their continual  enhancement, including the:

o  enlarged group risk register and severi ty matrix;

o  risk and compl iance maturi ty matrix and target risk management framework; and

o  risk appeti te framework and KRI reporting.

-     Monitor the impact and associated risks  aris ing from changes  to the macroeconomic, compeBtor
activi ty and pol i tical  environment, regulatory landscape and from global  cl imate change.

-     O versee the current and projected future risk exposures  of the Group, including determinaBon of risk
appeti tes  and tolerances, reflecting, as  appropriate the M&A activi ty of the Group.

-     P rovide effecBve overs ight of the management of key areas  of financial  and non-financial  ri sk,
including customer, conduct, market, l iquidity, cyber, data protecBon and data loss , regulaBon,
operational  res i l ience, investment, reputation and people risks .

-     Review al l  ri sk related Group pol icies  and procedures  and monitor the implementation and rol l  out of
these across  the Group.

-     Support the Company with the adoption of an ESG framework.

We, as  a  commiTee, are cognisant of the need for a  robust risk management approach commensurate with the

nature and acBviBes  of the Group today and as  the Group wi l l  look in the future as  i t executes  i ts  "buy and

bui ld" strategy.  The commiTee wi l l  provide both overs ight of and chal lenge to the execuBve team, including



bui ld" strategy.  The commiTee wi l l  provide both overs ight of and chal lenge to the execuBve team, including

the Chief Risk O fficer, and, in response to our risk prioriBes, request focussed reviews and more detai led

assessment of specific risk areas, being mindful  of the changing regulatory landscape, consumer expectaBons

and the M&A agenda. 
 
 
Giovanni Castagno

Chair of the Risk Committee

23 April 2025

 
 
Nomination Committee Report

 

Introduction

I n the short period from the commiTee's  establ ishment to the period end, the members  of the commiTee have

been involved in the recruitment process  and decis ion making in relaBon to the appointment of the Group's

permanent C FO, Vinoy Nurs iah, a longs ide the res ignaBon of James Pearce, as  wel l  as  cons idering i ts  terms of

reference and i ts  priori ties  for 2025.

 

This  report sets  out a  summary of the commiTee's  roles  and responsibi l iBes , our acBviBes  in the period and

our key priori ties  for 2025.

 

Committee Membership:
-     Mark Hodges  (Chair)

-     Giovanni  Castagno

-     Martin Potkins

-     Helen Copinger-Symes

The commiTee is  led by Mark Hodges, who is  not cons idered independent, however, the remaining commiTee

members  are independent. Al l  members  aTended the one commiTee meeBng held in the period from

establ ishment to the period-end date.  O n an ongoing bas is , the commiTee intends to meet at least twice a

year. 

 

Roles and Responsibilities

The NominaBon CommiTee wi l l  have responsibi l i ty for, among other things , cons idering and making

recommendaBons to the Board in respect of appointments  to the Board, the Board commiTees and the

chairmanship of the Board commiTees. I t wi l l  a lso be responsible for keeping the structure, s ize and

composiBon of the Board under regular review, and for making recommendaBons to the Board with regard to

any changes  necessary, taking into account chal lenges  and opportuniBes  facing the Company and the ski l l s

and expertise that wi l l  be needed on the Board in the future. 

 

The Nomination Committee wi l l  meet as  and when required, and at a  minimum, at least once a year.

 

2024 inaugural activities

The NominaBon CommiTee was establ ished on 16 O ctober 2024. The commiTee has  in place a  terms of

reference and agreed a 2025 annual  calendar setting out i ts  key priori ties  and actions  for the year ahead.

The commiTee was involved in the recruitment process  undertaken in respect of the idenBficaBon of

candidates  for the C FO  role, including the appointment of an external  recruitment agency to ass ist in the

preparaBon of a  long l i s t.  The commiTee Chair was  responsible, a longs ide the C EO, for idenBfying the short

l i s t, and was involved in a l l  interviews, from which two candidates  were then cons idered in detai l , both of

whom met further members  of the Board, before a  preferred candidate was identi fied.  The committee members

considered a paper in respect of the appointment that had been prepared by the C EO, and confirmed their

approval  of the appointment, with the remuneraBon package being cons idered by the RemuneraBon

Committee.

2025 priorities

During 2025, the committee wi l l ;
-     Review the current ski l l s  matrix, and cons ider the structure, s ize and composiBon (including the



-     Review the current ski l l s  matrix, and cons ider the structure, s ize and composiBon (including the
ski l l s , knowledge, experience and divers i ty) of the Board and make recommendaBons to the Board
with regard to any changes.

-     Consider the leadership needs of the bus iness , both executive and non-executive.

-     Consider the Bming of the introducBon of a  group divers i ty and inclus ion pol icy, including the gender
balance of senior management and their direct reports .

-     Consider the need for success ion planning for the Company's  Board, execuBve management team and
the wider Group.

-     Agree an approach for the inaugural  Board evaluation review and the timing of this .
-     Review and assess  Board independence and the Bme commitments  of the Board and make

recommendations  to the Board accordingly.

 

Mark Hodges 

Chair of the Nomination Committee

23 April 2025

 

Remuneration Committee Report

 

Introduction

I n the first few months  s ince the establ ishment of the commiTee, the members  of the commiTee approved i ts

terms of reference and cons idered the commiTee's  prioriBes  in 2025.  The commiTee has  reviewed the

performance metrics  for the C EO 's  bonus for the period from 1 July 2024 to 31 December 2024 and

commenced discuss ions  in respect of the K P I s  for the execuBve management team for the financial  year 2025.

The commiTee also approved the remuneraBon package for the appointment of the Group's  permanent C FO,

Vinoy Nurs iah, a longs ide the terms associated with the res ignation of James Pearce.

 

This  report sets  out a  summary of the commiTee's  roles  and responsibi l iBes , i ts  acBviBes  in the period and

the key priori ties  for 2025.

 

Committee Membership:
-     Helen Copinger-Symes (Chair)

-     Martin Potkins

-     Giovanni  Castagno

Al l  commiTee members  are independent, and al l  three members  aTended the one commiTee meeBng held in

the period from establ ishment to the year-end date.  On an ongoing bas is , we intend to meet at least four times

a year. 

 

Roles and Responsibilities

The RemuneraBon CommiTee are responsible for des igning the Directors ' RemuneraBon Pol icy and seVng the

remuneraBon for the Chair and execuBve directors , including approving the objecBves, terms of appointment

and the performance K P I s  of the execuBve directors . O n an ongoing bas is , the RemuneraBon CommiTee shal l

review and cons ider the ongoing appropriateness  of the Directors ' RemuneraBon Pol icy, oversee workforce

remuneraBon and related pol icies  and review the des ign of a l l  group share incenBve plans  for approval  by

the Board as  and when required.

 

2024 inaugural activities

The RemuneraBon CommiTee was establ ished on 16 O ctober 2024. During the short period to 31 December

2024, the Committee has:
-     Reviewed and approved the committee's  terms of reference.

-     Reviewed and discussed the remuneraBon related decis ions  that were made prior to the
establ ishment of the RemuneraBon CommiTee and the raBonale and background to each of these,
including the remuneration packages  and contractual  terms of the Group's  management team.

-     Discussed the change in financial  year end of the Group and the change in period upon which the
senior management team's  remuneration package wi l l  be reviewed to a l ign this  with the change in the
Group's  year end. The RemuneraBon CommiTee resolved to approve a short period of s ix months  to
31 December upon which to review the performance of the C EO, with discuss ions  commenced in
relation to the 2025 performance metrics  for the management team.

-     Discussed in detai l  the draW C EO  K P I s  for the s ix-month period to 31 December 2024, and how these
should evolve going forward to reflect the bus iness 's  strategic purpose.

-     Discussed and agreed the Bming of bonus payments  of senior management, reflecBve of the change in
financial  year end.

-     Discussed the need for a  plan to create and evolve workforce related pol icies .

-     Considered the proposed remuneraBon package for the new Group C FO, including re-al locaBon of
incenBve shares  under the exisBng LTI P, and the terminaBon provis ions  in respect of the res ignaBon
of James Pearce.



2025 priorities

During 2025 to date, the Committee has:
-     Approved the C EO  performance metrics  for the shortened period to 31 December 2024, reviewed the

performance assessment against these objectives  and determined the bonus payment, payable March
2025.

-     Reviewed and approved the C EO  and C FO  K P I s  for the twelve-month period to 31 December 2025,
alongs ide overseeing the performance metrics  for the remaining executive management team.

-     Reviewed senior managements ' bonus payments  for the shortened period to 31 December 2024 and
their KPIs  for the twelve-month period to 31 December 2025.

During the remainder of 2025, the Committee wi l l :

-     Review and discuss  documentaBon on the organisaBonal  values  and culture in the underlying
operational  bus iness

-     Design and implement a  Directors ' Remuneration Pol icy

-     Oversee the development of workforce related pol icies .

-     Consider appropriate long term incentive arrangements  for the wider Group.

Looking to the year ahead, the commiTee wi l l  des ign a Directors ' RemuneraBon Pol icy that i s  a l igned to the

Company's  purpose and values  and clearly l inked to the successful  del ivery of the Company's  long-term

strategy. The commiTee are cognisant of the importance of puVng in place a  pol icy which aTracts , retains

and moBvates  execuBve management. The RemuneraBon CommiTee wi l l  a lso oversee the development of the

Group's  workforce related pol icies , ensuring a l ignment to the Company's  newly des igned Directors '

Remuneration Pol icy.

 

Helen Copinger-Symes

Chair of the Remuneration Committee

23 April 2025

 

 

Remuneration Report

 

Introduction to Directors' Remuneration Report

The RemuneraBon CommiTee has  only recently been establ ished, and as  disclosed in the RemuneraBon

Committee Report, a  key area of focus  for 2025 is  to des ign and final ise a  Directors  Remuneration Pol icy.

 

As  a  company incorporated in the BriBsh Virgin I s lands, the Company is  not required to prepare a  Directors '

RemuneraBon Report as  required under the Companies  Act. However, the Board do think that transparency

and disclosure around Board remuneraBon is  a  key aspect to good governance and have therefore set out

within this  report relevant remuneraBon related informaBon, noBng that the Company only acquired  the

InvestAcc operating bus iness  a  short period prior to 31 December 2024.

 

The purpose of this  report i s  to communicate with our stakeholders  the current remuneraBon phi losophy of

the Company and also detai l  the key contractual  terms and remuneraBon paid to the Directors  during the s ix-

month period to 31 December 2024, given that the Directors ' Remuneration Pol icy is  not in place.

 

The remuneraBon phi losophy of the Company is  that execuBve remuneraBon should be al igned with the long-

term interests  of shareholders . The Company also bel ieves  that remuneraBon should be proporBonate,

transparent, performance based, encourage sustainable value creaBon and support the del ivery of the

business  strategy by aTracBng, incenBvis ing and rewarding the highest cal ibre personnel . This  phi losophy is

reflected in our remuneraBon structure and also in how the RemuneraBon CommiTee des ign and approve the

remuneration packages  of our senior executive team.

 

The Board feels  strongly that the ExecuBve Directors ' remuneraBon should be l inked to the creaBon and

del ivery of aTracBve returns  to shareholders . Although the Board feels  i t i s  important to remunerate key

management appropriately through their bas ic pay and benefits  at market levels  commensurate with their

peers , the Company also has  in place an LTI P  to provide an incenBve that i s  a l igned with shareholders '

interests .

 

Long Term Incentive Arrangements

The Directors  bel ieve that the success  of the Company wi l l  depend, to a  high degree, on the future performance

of i ts  executive directors . Accordingly, the Group has  put in place the LTIP, which wi l l  only reward participants

i f shareholder value is  created ensuring a l ignment between shareholders  and those responsible for del ivering

the Company's  strategy.



the Company's  strategy.

 

Mark Hodges, W i l l  Sel f and James Corsel l i s  have a beneficial  interest in the LTI P  as  disclosed in Note 29. The

newly appointed Group CFO also has  a beneficia l  interest in the LTIP.

 

The general  principles  of the LTIP a l ign with our phi losophy:
·      Proportionate: the parBcipaBon levels  should be proporBonate to the role being undertaken by the

parBcipants  and reflecBng the parBcipants ' value to del ivering outstanding, sustainable shareholder
returns;

·      Transparent: the compensaBon structure and i ts  associated terms should be transparent to investors
and the impact of the scheme clearly communicated to investors  on an ongoing bas is ;

·      Performance Based: minimum performance cri teria  should be based on equity profits  generated,
taking into account a l l  equity issuance over the l i feBme of the relevant measurement period, subject
to minimum preferred returns; and

·      Encourage Sustainable Value Crea<on: incenBve arrangements  should be structured to encourage the
creation of sustainable returns  through long term vesting and performance measurement periods.

The Board strongly bel ieves  that such a clear and transparent incenBve framework wi l l  be a l igned with the

Company's  strategy for growth and provides  a  strong plaOorm to incenBvise key management for the future

success  of the Company. 

 

More detai l  on the LTIP is  included in Note 29 of these Financial  Statements . Detai ls  of the LTIP are a lso set out

in the Company's  prospectus  dated 1 July 2024.

 

The Board wi l l  conBnue to cons ider whether further long term incenBve arrangements  should be put in place

for the wider group.

 

Breakdown of Remuneration Earned

The below table sets  out the remuneration of each Director during the period and prior year (where relevant):

 

Six-month period to 31 December 2024 Twelve months to 30 June 2024
Salary/fees Bonus Benefi ts Salary/fees Bonus Benefi ts

Group CEO1

Wil l  Sel f 160,000 336,000 21,244 320,000 - 40,374
Group CFO2

James Pearce 204,333 100,000 11,214 18,333 - 917
Chair
Mark Hodges 125,000 - - 250,000 - -
Non-Executive Directors
James Corsel l i s 36,694 - - - - -
Giovanni
Castagno 16,774 - - - - -
Martin Potkins 16,774 - - - - -
Helen Copinger-
Symes 16,774 - - - - -
 

1In the period to 31 December 2024, Will Self was awarded two bonus amounts as follows: (i) in respect of the Acquisi�on

and related performance metrics, a bonus of £240,000, payable subject to comple�on of the Acquisi�on which occurred on

9 October 2024.  Of this bonus amount, 75% was payable in the period, and 25% was deferred and is payable in July 2025. 

The deferred amount is included in accruals.  (ii) a performance bonus for the period from 1 July 2024 to 31 December

2024 of £96,000, of which 50% was payable in March 2025, with the remainder payable in equal instalments in March

2026 and March 2027.   The deferred amount is included in provisions as it is payable more than 12 months from the

balance sheet date.

2James Pearce was employed on a fixed term contract. James Pearce resigned as director on 19 December 2024. Included

in the Salary figure for James Pearce above is £84,333, which relates to payments in lieu of no�ce and £10,000 as

compensation for loss of office.

 

Approach to Non-Executive Director ("NED") fees

Three INEDs  were appointed on 16 O ctober 2024 and James Corsel l i s  entered into a  revised Non-ExecuBve

Director service agreement relating to the period, in conjunction with the Acquis i tion of InvestAcc.

 

As  part of the INED appointments  and the revised agreement with James Corsel l i s , the Directors  cons idered the

market rates  paid to NEDs across  the industry, cons idered the nature of the Company's  acBviBes  and

additional  roles  and responsibi l i ties  associated with chairing committees.

 



 

Going forward, NED fees  wi l l  be reviewed on an annual  bas is  in l ine with market rates .

 

Director Service Contract Provisions

New Director and senior management service contracts  are prepared alongs ide the Company's  legal  counsel

and new practices/guidance are cons idered at the point these are drafted.

 

The appointment leTers  for a l l  D irectors  set out clearly the noBce period, and terminaBon clauses  and claw

black provis ions  for each of the Directors . I n a l l  instances  Directors  are required to step down from their

pos ition should this  be voted for by the shareholders .

 

The noBce period for a l l  I NEDs is  three months  wriTen noBce. The noBce period for Mark Hodges  is  two years

fol lowing completion of the Acquis i tion, and twelve months  thereafter. Wi l l  Sel f and James Corsel l i s  both have

a twelve month notice period.

 

The overal l  remuneraBon packages  of the execuBve directors  are cons idered appropriate for the role

performed by each Director, their level  of ski l l s  and experience, and the intenBon of the Company to execute

its  stated strategy.  I n order to aTract and retain the highest cal ibre of individual  to perform these roles , i t i s

essenBal  that their remuneraBon is  compeBBve in the industry and that i t i s  a lso provides  appropriate short

and long term reward, a l igned with shareholders  and wider stakeholders , based on the strategy of the Group. 

 

Key Remuneration Decisions made during the period

During the period, key remuneration decis ions  were made in respect of the fol lowing:
-     The appointment of Vinoy Nurs iah. Vinoy joined the Company as  CFO on 1 Apri l  2025. The terms of his

employment were cons idered against market expectaBons for the role, the nature of his  role with the
Company and the al ignment of the reward for his  performance with the interests  of shareholders . No
amounts  were payable to Vinoy unti l  he commenced employment.

-     TerminaBon payments  for James Pearce. TerminaBon payments  were agreed to be made to James in
accordance with his  employment contract fol lowing his  terminaBon date as  set out in the table
above. Such amounts  have been accrued at the balance sheet date and amount to £107,351 including
social  securi ty.

-     TransacBon bonuses  for both W i l l  Sel f and James Pearce in respect of the Acquis iBon amounBng to
£240,000 and £100,000 respecBvely.  Such amounts  were payable on compleBon of the Acquis iBon,
with 25% of Wi l l  Sel f's  bonus being deferred for payment unti l  July 2025. 

-     The performance bonus for W i l l  Sel f, C EO. The metrics  on which the performance bonus for W i l l  Sel f
would be determined for the period from 1 July 2024 to 31 December 2024, the monetary amount of
such bonus being determined in January 2025 fol lowing compleBon of the period and assessment of
his  performance.  As  the bonus relates  to the period to 31 December 2024, the bonus amount of
£96,000 has been accrued at the balance sheet date, with i t being payable over 3 years , with 50%
payable in 2025, 25% in 2026 and 25% in 2027.

-     The remuneraBon terms for the two further senior management appointments , James Keely as  C RO
and Al lan Dibble as  C CO.  Their terms were cons idered in relaBon to market expectaBons for
thoseroles , the role they wi l l  play for the Company and bonus provis ions  to a l ign their performance
with the strategic goals  of the Company.

Director shareholdings and interests

 

Director shareholdings  and interests  are disclosed in the Directors ' Report on page 45 with both Mark Hodges

and W i l l  Sel f owning shares  in the Company. The Company has  not yet set any minimum shareholding

requirements  for directors .

 

The Directors  interests  in the LTIP are detai led below.

 

LTIP

At the balance sheet date, Mark Hodges  and W i l l  Sel f were directly beneficial ly interested in the incenBve

shares  of the Group. James Pearce had been issued 400 incenBve shares  on his  appointment, however, in

accordance with the terms of his  subscripBon leTer, on his  res ignaBon,  he transferred his  incenBve shares

back to the Company for £0.01 per share.  James Corsel l i s i s  indirectly beneficial ly interested in the incenBve

shares  of the Group through his  interest in Marwyn Long Term I ncenBve LP  ("MLTI"), Marwyn's  long term

incentive plan. 

Subject to a  number of provis ions  which are detai led in Note 29, i f the P referred Return and at least one of the

vesBng condiBons have been met, the holders  of the I ncenBve Shares  can give noBce to redeem their I ncenBve

Shares  for ordinary shares  in the Company ("Ordinary Shares") for an aggregate value equivalent to 20% of the

"Growth", where Growth means the excess  of the total  equity value of the Company and other shareholder

returns  over and above i ts  aggregate paid up share capital  (20% of the Growth being the "Incen<ve Value"). 

10% of the I ncenBve Value is  aTributable to the A1 Shares  and 10% is  aTributable to the A2 Shares. The



Company has  the opBon to seTle the exercise of incenBve shares  for cash, however, i t i s  anBcipated that they

wi l l  be equity seTled.  The incenBve shares  have been accounted for as  equity seTled share-based payments

as  discussed in more detai l  in Note 29.

The table below sets  out the number of incenBve shares  in which the Directors  were interested, their

respecBve share of the incenBve scheme value, the date from which the shares  can be exercised (note that in

certain ci rcumstances, incenBve shares  can be exercised before they have ful ly vested, such instances  are

detai led in Note 29), and their vested proporBon at the balance sheet date based on the Bme elapsed s ince

compleBon of the Acquis iBon and the year-end date, noBng that the shares  vest over the three years  from

Acquis i tion date. 
 

Shareholder

Share
designation
at balance
sheet date

Number of
incentive
shares held

Date from which
shares can be
exercised

Entitlement
to share of
Growth in
value

Vested
shares

MLTI A2 2,000 10 October 2027 10% 2,000

Mark Hodges A1 2,000 10 October 2027 6.25%* 151

Wil l  Sel f A1 800 10 October 2027 2.5%* 60

 
*The above table does  not include the 400 A1 Shares  which had been issued on 22 May 2024 to James Pearce.

O n the 19 December 2024, the Company entered into a  transfer agreement with James Pearce under which

James transferred his  400 A1 Shares  to the Company to be held in treasury. These A1 Shares  were

subsequently transferred to I nvestAcc (BVI ) Limited and cancel led on 31 January 2025. Therefore, at the

balance sheet date, Mark Hodges, W i l l  Sel f and the Company shared the remaining 10% of the I ncenBve Value

aTributable to the A1 Shares , based on their respecBve shareholdings. I n relaBon to his  appointment, i t was

intended that Vinoy

Nurs iah be issued incenBve shares  and the issuance of such shares  was  made aWer the balance sheet date,

fol lowing the transfer and cancelaBon of the 400 A1 Shares  previous ly i ssued to James Pearce as  noted

above. 

 

Accordingly, on 31 January 2025 Vinoy Nurs iah was issued 400 A1 Shares  and the number of A1 Shares  issued

to Mark Hodges  and W i l l  Sel f was  amended such that their beneficial  interests  in the incenBve scheme was as

fol lows:

 

Shareholder

Share
designation
at reporting
date

Number of
incentive
shares held

Date from which
shares can be
exercised

Entitlement
to share of
Growth in
value

Vested
shares

Mark Hodges A1 2,400 10 October 2027 6% 182

Wil l  Sel f A1 1,200 10 October 2027 3% 91

Vinoy Nurs iah A1 400 10 October 2027 1% ni l

At the balance sheet date, the I ncenBve Value was £1,152,528, calculated as  20% of the Growth in Value from

4 December 2020 to 31 December 2024.  The total  value of the LTIP is  divis ible between participants  in the LTIP

based on their respecBve shareholding, with hal f of the Growth in Value aTributable to the A1 Shares  and hal f

to the A2 Shares. The convers ion of incenBve shares  into O rdinary Shares  is  made based on the 30 day volume

weighted average price ("VWAP") up to the date of exercise, therefore, to 31 December 2024, the 30 day VWAP

for the Company was £1.166 per share.  Accordingly, whi lst no vesting event had occurred at the balance sheet

date, the I ncenBve Value at that date would equate to 960,440 O rdinary Shares  (based on the clos ing price per

share on 31 December 2024), which, on issuance, would be di luBve to the interests  of shareholders .  The LTI P

has  been included in the calculation of EPS on a di luted bas is  as  set out in Note 11.

The chart below depicts  how the market capital isaBon at 31 December 2024 is  shared amongst O rdinary

Shareholders  and Incentive Shareholders .



Clawback provisions

W ith regards  to the LTI P, should the holder of A1 incenBve shares  commit (i ) gross  misconduct, (i i ) fraud, (i i i )

a  criminal  act (iv) a  materia l  breach of any post terminaBon covenants  or restricBons, or (v) take such

acBons which, on discovery, result in a  requirement for the Company to materia l ly restate i ts  audited

financial  s tatements , and that, on the bas is  of the restated financial  s tatements  they would not have received

the ful l  amount that they did receive under the LTI P, then clawback provis ions  a l low I nvestAcc (BVI ) Limited to

clawback (i ) I ncenBve Shares , (i i ) Company Shares  or (i i i ) cash equivalents , as  set out in the holder's

respective subscription letter.

 

As  set out in the employment contracts  of the ExecuBve Directors , a l l  payments  and/or benefits  payable to the

ExecuBve are subject to and condiBonal  upon any regulatory rules  to which the Company may be subject from

Bme to Bme. The Company reserves  the right to amend, reduce, hold back, defer, claw back or a l ter the

structure of any payments  and benefits  payable to the ExecuBve in order to comply with any appl icable

regulatory rules .

 

The aforementioned clawback provis ions  were not used in the reporting period to 31 December 2024.

 

Recruitment Arrangements

W here recruitment is  iniBated, cons ideraBon wi l l  be given to appropriate recruitment agencies  that can

support the Company with their recruitment process , based on their presence in the market for the role the

Company is  seeking to fil l .  I t i s  usual  for the Company to engage with more than one agency for each role.  

Senior team members  wi l l  be involved in the recruitment process  to idenBfy the preferred candidate and

decis ions  made in respect of appointments  is  approved in accordance with the delegaBon of authori ty

matrix.  Fees  for recruitment agencies  involved in appointments  are commensurate with market rates .

 

Risks

The remuneraBon commiTee are cognisant of the importance of puVng in place a  pol icy which aTracts ,

retains  and moBvates  execuBve management.   I t's  a lso important to ensure that reward is  sufficiently

balanced by risk in remuneraBon arrangements  for execuBve management. W hi lst the Group RemuneraBon

Pol icy and O bjecBves  have not been final ised yet, the RemuneraBon CommiTee are a l igned to the need to

ensure commercial  objecBves  are not prioriBsed to the detriment of customer outcomes and remain

consistent with the Company's  purpose and values.

 

Performance Evaluation
Set out in the NominaBon CommiTee Report, over the next 12 months  the NominaBon CommiTee wi l l  des ign
the Board evaluaBon process , undertake this  and also review and cons ider the results , implemenBng any
enhancements  and recommendations  made as  part of this  process . 

Looking Ahead
As discussed above, the RemuneraBon CommiTee wi l l  des ign a Group RemuneraBon Pol icy over the coming
year and conBnue to review and support the enhancement of the enlarged group's  workforce remuneraBon
pol icies .

 

Directors' Report

 

Information on the Company

I nvestAcc Group Limited was incorporated on 31 July 2020 in the BriBsh Virgin I s lands  ("BVI") as  a  BVI

bus iness  company (registered number 2040956) under the BVI Bus iness  Company Act, 2004. The Company was

l is ted on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange on 4 December 2020 and has  i ts  registered address  at

Commerce House, W ickhams Cay 1, P.O. Box 3140, Road Town, Tortola, VG1110, BriBsh Virgin I s lands  and UK

establ ishment (BR022831) at 11 Buckingham Street, London WC2N 6DF.

 



 

Detai ls  of the Company's  subs idiaries  are included in Note 12 of these Financial  Statements .

 

Directors

The Company's  directors  who served during the s ix-month period ended 31 December 2024 and to the date of

this  report were as  fol lows:

-     Mark Hodges  (Chair)

-     Wil l  Sel f (Chief Executive Officer)

-     James Pearce (Chief Financial  Officer) (appointed 23 May 2024, res igned 19 December 2024)

-     Vinoy Nurs iah (Chief Financial  Officer) (appointed 1 Apri l  2025)

-     James Corsel l i s  (Non-Executive Director)

-     Giovanni  Castagno (Senior Independent Director) (appointed 16 October 2024)

-     Martin Potkins  (Independent Non-Executive Director) (appointed 16 October 2024)

-     Helen Copinger-Symes (Independent Non-Executive Director) (appointed 16 October 2024)

 

A brief biography for each of the Directors  as  at the date of this  annual  report i s  included on pages  27 to 28 of

these Financial  Statements .

 

Directors' indemnities and insurance

I n accordance with the ArBcles , the Company has  granted qual i fying third-party indemnity provis ions  for the

benefit of each person who was a  director of the Company during the period, in respect of l iabi l iBes  that may

aTach to them in their capacity as  directors  of the Company or of associated companies . These indemniBes

were in force during the financial  year and remain in force. Throughout the year, the Company has  a lso

purchased and maintained Directors ' and O fficers ' l iabi l i ty insurance in respect of i tsel f, i ts  directors  and

others .

Stated Capital and Significant Shareholdings

Detai ls  of the stated capital  of the Company during the year are set out in Note 25.

As  at the date of this  report, the Company has  in issue 48,850,911 O rdinary Shares  of no par value, each

carrying one vote. The Company also has  in issue one sponsor share which does  not carry the right to vote at

meetings  of shareholders , and 700,000 ordinary warrants .

As  part of financing the Acquis iBon, the Company issued 6,150,911 ConsideraBon Shares  to Nicholas

Gardner. The ConsideraBon Shares  were issued on 9 O ctober 2024 and are subject to a 12-month restriction

(the "Lock-in Period"), with a  requirement that any sale of ConsideraBon Shares  in the 12 months  fol lowing the

end of the Lock-in Period may only be made on the bas is  that an orderly market in the O rdinary Shares  is

maintained. The Consideration Shares  were issued at a  price of £1.00 per share.

The table below shows s igni ficant shareholders  at the balance sheet date, and at the date of this  report.

Significant shareholders Interest at the Balance
Sheet date

Interest at the date of
this report

Marwyn Investment Management LLP 59.80% 59.80%
Nicholas  E Gardner 12.59% 12.59%
M&G Investment Management 8.19% 8.19%
River Global  Investors  LLP 3.99% 3.99%
Dowgate Wealth Management 3.45% 3.45%
Ki l l ik & Co. LLP 3.22% 3.22%
 

Directors' interests

At the balance sheet date, and as  at the date of these F inancial  Statements , Mark Hodges  owns 150,000

O rdinary Shares  in the Company and W i l l  Sel f owns 50,000 O rdinary Shares. There were no O rdinary Shares

held by any connected persons, ei ther at the balance sheet date, nor at the date of this  report.

Mark Hodges, W i l l  Sel f, James Corsel l i s  and Vinoy Nurs iah have interests  in the Company's  long term

incentive plan, as  detai led in Note 29 of these Financial  Statements .

James Corsel l i s  i s  the Chief I nvestment O fficer of Marwyn I nvestment Management LLP  which, at the balance

sheet date, managed 59.8% of the O rdinary Shares  and 525,000 matching warrants  and 1 sponsor share.

James Corsel l i s  i s  a lso the managing partner of Marwyn Capital  LLP, a  firm which provides  corporate finance

support, company secretaria l  services  and ad-hoc managed services  support to the Company.

Detai ls  of the related party transacBons which occurred during the period are disclosed in Note 30 of these

Financial  Statements , save for the parBcipaBon in the Company's  long term incenBve plan as  disclosed in

Note 29 of these Financial  Statements .

There were no loans  or guarantees  granted or provided by the Company and/or any of i ts  subs idiaries  to or



There were no loans  or guarantees  granted or provided by the Company and/or any of i ts  subs idiaries  to or

for the benefi t of any of the Directors .

Share class rights

Rights  and obl igaBons aTaching to the Company's  shares  are set out in the ArBcles , detai ls  on these are

further set out in Note 25 of these Financial  Statements .

Annual General Meeting

The Company is  required to hold i ts  first annual  general  meeBng within a  period of 18 months  fol lowing the

date of a  bus iness  acquis iBon. Not more than 15 months  are permiTed to elapse between the date of one

annual  general  meeBng and the date of the next, unless  the members  pass  a  resoluBon in accordance with the

Articles  waiving or extending such requirement.

The compleBon of the Company's  first bus iness  acquis iBon took place on 9 O ctober 2024 and therefore the

Company's  fi rst AGM wi l l  be scheduled on or before 9 Apri l  2026.

Management report

The Strategic report, Management Report, Governance secBon and Directors ' report together are the

management report for the purposes  of DTR 4.1.5(2).

Corporate governance statement

The Governance section of the Annual  Report and the risk management and internal  control  framework section

of the Management Report, ful fi l s  the requirement of a  corporate governance statement under DTR 7.2.1.

Information required by UK Listing Rule 22.2.24R

Al l  informaBon required to be disclosed by the Company by UK  LisBng Rule 22.2.24R is  set out within this

Directors ' Report.

Director and senior management diversity reporting

I n accordance with LisBng Rule 22.2.30R(2), the fol lowing tables  set out numerical  data on the ethnic

background and the gender of the Company's  directors  and 'execuBve management', being members  of the

Company's  executive committee.

Data concerning ethnic background and gender is  col lected directly from individuals . Company directors  are

required to complete a  form on an annual  bas is , whereas  members  of Group ExecuBve CommiTee are required

to complete a  divers i ty declaration upon joining the Company and advise i f this  information changes.

This  data has  been completed based on the board composiBon as  at 31 December 2024. O n 1 Apri l  2025,

Vinoy Nurs iah joined the board as  C FO, Vinoy is  not included within the tables  set out below, should Vinoy be

included within the ethnici ty reporBng he would be presented within 'As ian and As ian BriBsh' and represents

14% of the board from his  date of appointment.

Reporting on gender

 Number of Board
members

Percentage of the
Board

Number of
senior pos itions
on the Board
(CEO, CFO, SID
and Chair)

Number in
executive
management

Percentage of
executive
management

Men 5 83% 3 2 100%

Woman 1 17% 0 0 0%

Not specified
/ prefer not to
say

0 0% 0 0 0%

Reporting on ethnic background

Number of
Board
members

Percentage of
the Board

Number of
senior
pos iBons on
the Board (CEO,
C FO, S I D and
Chair)

Number in
executive
management

Percentage of
executive
management

White Bri tish or
other White
(including
minority white
groups)

6 100% 3 2 100%

Mixed/Multiple
Ethnic Groups

0 0% 0 0 0%

Asian/Asian
British

0 0% 0 0 0%

Black/African/ 0 0% 0 0 0%



Black/African/
Caribbean/Black
Bri tish

0 0% 0 0 0%

Other ethnic
group, including
Arab

0 0% 0 0 0%

Not speci fied/
prefer not to say

0 0% 0 0 0%

 

Director and Senior Management Diversity and TCFD

As explained in the Divers i ty secBon of the Governance Report, the Company has  not met the targets  on board

divers i ty which are set out in LisBng Rule 22.2.30R(2). Nor has  the Company included cl imate related financial

disclosures  cons istent with the TCFD requirements .

 

The Company only completed i ts  first acquis iBon on 9 O ctober 2024, making enhancements  to i ts  governance

framework shortly thereaWer, adopBng the UK  Corporate Governance Code and appoinBng to the Board three

INEDs  and establ ishing four Board committees  on 16 October 2024.

 

The Directors  are commiTed to maintaining high standards  of corporate governance and recognise the

importance of transparency and robust reporBng in this  regard. O ver the coming year, the Board, supported

by the Board CommiTees, wi l l  look to enhance i ts  pol icies , procedures  and reporBng around Board and Group

divers i ty and inclus ion, and also in respect of ES G, as  i s  disclosed and discussed in the Chairman's  Report,

Governance Report and NominaBon Report to improve transparency and enhance reporBng ahead of the

publ ication of the 2025 Annual  Report.

 

The Directors  are commiTed on al igning the Company's  governance, risk management and sustainabi l i ty

practices  with the expectations  of our stakeholders  and al igning with regulatory requirements .

 

Statement of Director's Responsibilities

The Directors  are responsible for preparing the consol idated financial  s tatements  in accordance with

appl icable laws and regulaBons, including the BVI  Bus iness  Companies  Act, 2004. The Directors  have

prepared the financial  s tatements  for the period ended 31 December 2024, which present fa i rly the state of

affa irs  of the Group and the profi t or loss  of the Group for that period.

The Directors  have acted honestly and in good fa i th and in what the Directors  bel ieve to be in the best

interests  of the Company.

The Directors  have chosen to use I nternaBonal  F inancial  ReporBng Standards  as  adopted by the European

Union ("EU adopted IF RS" or "IFRS") in preparing the Group's  F inancial  Statements . I nternaBonal  AccounBng

Standard 1 requires  that the F inancial  Statements  present fa i rly for each financial  year the group's  financial

pos iBon, financial  performance and cash flows. This  requires  the fa i thful  presentaBon of the effects  of

transacBons, other events  and condiBons in accordance with the definiBons and recogniBon cri teria  for

assets , l iabi l i ties , income and expenses  set out in the International  Accounting Standards  Board's  "Framework

for the preparaBon and presentaBon of financial  s tatements". I n vi rtual ly a l l  ci rcumstances, a  fa i r

presentation wi l l  be achieved by compl iance with a l l  appl icable EU adopted IFRS.

A fa ir presentation also requires  the Directors  to:

·      Select cons istently and apply appropriate accounting pol icies ;

·      P resent informaBon, including accounBng pol icies , in a  manner that provides  relevant, rel iable,

comparable and understandable information;

·      Make judgements  and accounting estimates  that are reasonable and prudent;

·      P rovide addiBonal  disclosures  when compl iance with the specific requirements  in EU adopted I F RS is

insufficient to enable users  to understand the impact of parBcular transacBons, other events  and

conditions  on the enti ty's  financial  pos ition and financial  performance;

·      State that the Group has  compl ied with EU adopted I F RS, subject to any materia l  departures  disclosed

and explained in the financial  s tatements; and

·      P repare the F inancial  Statements  on the going concern bas is  unless  i t i s  inappropriate to presume

that the Company wi l l  continue in bus iness .

The Directors  are a lso required to prepare financial  s tatements  in accordance with the rules  of the London

Stock Exchange for companies  trading securi ties  on the Stock Exchange.



The Directors  are responsible for keeping proper accounting records  which disclose with reasonable accuracy

at any Bme the financial  pos iBon of the Group, for safeguarding the assets , for taking reasonable steps  for the

prevention and detection of fraud and other i rregulari ties  and for the preparation of financial  s tatements .

F inancial  informaBon is  publ ished on the Group's  website. The maintenance and integri ty of this  website is

the responsibi l i ty of the Directors ; the work carried out by the auditor does  not involve cons ideraBon of these

maTers  and, accordingly, the auditor accepts  no responsibi l i ty for any changes  that may occur to the

Financial  Statements  aWer they are presented iniBal ly on the website. Legis laBon in the BriBsh Virgin I s lands

governing the preparaBon and disseminaBon of financial  s tatements  may differ from legis laBon in other

jurisdictions.

Directors' Responsibilities Pursuant to DTR4

In compl iance with DTR4, each of the Directors  confi rm to the best of their knowledge:

·      The Financial  Statements  have been prepared in accordance with EU adopted I F RS, and give a  true

and fa ir view of the assets , l iabi l i ties , financial  pos ition and profi t and loss  of the Group; and

·      The management report includes  a  fa i r review of the development and performance of the bus iness

and the financial  pos iBon of the Group, together with a  descripBon of the principal  risks  and

uncertainties  that they face.

 

Independent Auditor

Baker Ti l ly Channel  I s lands  Limited ("BTCI") remains  the Company's  independent auditor for the period ended

31 December 2024 and has  expressed i ts  wi l l ingness  to continue to act as  auditor to the Group. 

BTCI has  been appointed as  the Company's  auditor s ince 2022.

Disclosure of Information to Auditor

Each of the Directors  in office at the date the Report of the Directors  i s  approved, whose names and funcBons

are l i s ted in the Report of the Directors , confi rm that, to the best of their knowledge:

•      The Financial  Statements , which have been prepared in accordance with EU adopted I F RS, present

fairly the assets , l iabi l i ties , financial  pos ition and loss  of the Group;

•      The Report of the Directors  includes  a  fa i r review of the development and performance of the

business  and the pos iBon of the Group and Company, together with a  descripBon of the principal

risks  and uncertainties  that i t faces;           

•      So far as  they are aware, there is  no relevant audit informaBon of which the Group's  auditor i s

unaware; and

•      They have taken al l  the steps  that they ought to have taken as  a  Director in order to make themself

aware of any relevant audit informaBon and to establ ish that the Group's  auditor i s  aware of that

information.

 

This  Directors ' Report was  approved by the Board of Directors  on [•] and is  s igned on i ts  behal f.

By Order of the Board

 

 

Mark Hodges

Chair

23 April 2025

 
 

 

 
 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

 
 
 
To the members of InvestAcc Group Limited
 



Opinion
 
This We have audited the consolidated financial statements of InvestAcc Group Limited (the "Company")
and together with its subsidiaries (the "Group"), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the period
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements:
·      give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024,

and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the period then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union ("IFRSs"); and

·      have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the BVI Business Companies Act 2004,
as amended.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in Jersey, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
 
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and include the most significant
assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by us, including those
which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and
directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
 
 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the
matter

Key observations communicated to
those charged with governance

Acquisition
accounting
The risk that the
acquisition transaction
has not been
accounted for in
accordance with the
applicable accounting
standard, IFRS 3.
Financial statement
impact:
· Consideration
£41,512,317
· Note 26 for full
impact

 
We reperformed the acquisition date
calculations made for determining
goodwill, substantiating key inputs
against supporting documentation.
We evaluated and challenged the
reasonableness of management's
and management's experts'
assumptions made in determining
the acquisition date fair values of
assets acquired and liabilities
assumed.
We evaluated the reasonableness of
critical estimates made including
useful economic lives, growth &
attrition rates, and the forecast
periods used in determining fair
values.

 
Based on the procedures performed, we are
satisfied that the acquisition accounting
performed by management for the period
ended 31 December 2024, along with the
related disclosures in the consolidation
financial statements, are appropriate.
We have nothing further to report to those
charged with governance from our testing.

 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the
matter

Key observations
communicated to those

charged with governance

Fraud in relation to revenue
recognition
 
Newly acquired subsidiaries:
Revenue primarily arises from
contracts with customers for the
provision of pension advice and
related services which is recognised
in line with the principles as set out
in IFRS 15. There is a risk that the
revenue is misstated because of the

 
 
 
For revenue generated by the
newly acquired subsidiaries we:
 
We obtained and documented an
understanding of the entity's revenue
recognition process and relevant
controls;
 

 
 
 
Based on the procedures
performed, we are satisfied that
the revenue recognition policies
and practices applied by
management for the period
ended 31 December 2024,
along with the related
disclosures in the consolidated



revenue is misstated because of the
incorrect application of IFRS 15
principles.
 
Financial statement impact:
·      Revenue £2,532,329 (PY: £nil)
·      Accounting Policy 2(f)
·      Note 5
 
InvestAcc Group Limited:
 
Revenue primarily arises from
interest income and there is a risk
that this is misstated or recorded in
the incorrect accounting period.
 
Financial statement impact:
·      Finance (Costs)/Income

£525,968 (PY: £359,367)
·      Accounting Policy 2(f)
·      Note 9
 
 

 
We assessed the operational
effectiveness of these controls by
performing a walkthrough over a
sample of transactions;
 
We traced a sample of revenue
transactions through to the underlying
agreements to assess whether the
performance obligations had been
appropriately met to qualify for
revenue recognition;

 
We performed cut-off testing over a
sample of contracts to ensure that
revenue/contract liabilities were
appropriately recognised;
 
We inquired from the board about
their awareness of any fraudulent
activities; and
 
We reviewed minutes of board and
audit committee meetings; and
performed substantive analytical
procedures where the data allowed.

 
For interest income we:
 
Obtained and reviewed bank
statements, ledgers, and minutes of
board meetings to ensure revenue
was complete and as per our
expectations.

disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements, are
appropriate.
 
Our testing did not identify any
indications of fraud in revenue
recognition.
 
We have nothing further to
report to those charged with
governance from our testing.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the
matter

Key observations
communicated to those

charged with governance

 
 

Our Application of Materiality
Materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole was set at £1,510,000 (prior year ("PY"):
£73,000), determined with references to a benchmark of the Group's net assets, of which it represents
3.75% (PY: 4%).
 
In line with our audit methodology, our procedures on individual account balances and disclosures were
performed to a lower threshold, performance materiality, so as to reduce to an acceptable level the risk
that individually immaterial misstatements in individual account balances add up to a material amount
across the consolidated financial statements as a whole.
 
Performance materiality was set at 70% (PY: 70%) of materiality for the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, which equates to £1,057,000 (PY: £51,000). We applied this percentage in our
determination of performance materiality because we did not identify any factors indicating an elevated
level of risk. 
 
We reported to the Board of Directors any uncorrected omissions or misstatements exceeding £75,500
(PY: £3,600), in addition to those that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
 
Due to our assessed risk we have applied a specific materiality calculated at 1.5% of total annualised
income, which equates to £173,000 (PY: £20,060) for certain balances in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income, namely Revenue and Administrative Expenses. A specific performance
materiality of 70% was used in the performance of our procedures which equates to £121,000.
 
We have reported to you any uncorrected omissions of misstatements in these line items exceeding
£8,650, in addition to those that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds
 
Conclusions relating to Going Concern
In auditing the consolidated financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is appropriate.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the consolidated financial
statements are authorised for issue.



 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described
in the relevant sections of this report.
 
Other Information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other
information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we
are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the consolidated financial
statements themselves. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
 
We have nothing to report in this regard.
 
Responsibilities of the Directors
As explained more fully in the Directors' responsibilities statement set out on page 48 and 49, the
Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
 
The Directors are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. The extent to which our procedures are capable
of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below:

·      Enquiry of management to identify any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations,
including actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

·      Reading minutes of meetings of the Board of Directors;

·      Review of legal invoices;

·      Review of management's significant estimates and judgements for evidence of bias;

·      Review for undisclosed related party transactions;

·      Obtained and reviewed bank statements as well as reviewed ledgers and minutes to ensure finance
income is complete and as per our expectations;

·      Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships; and

·      Undertaking journal testing, including an analysis of manual journal entries to assess whether there
were large and/or unusual entries pointing to irregularities, including fraud.

The Company is required to include these financial statements in an annual financial report prepared
using the single electronic reporting format specified in the TD ESEF Regulation. The auditor's report
provides no assurance over whether the annual financial report has been prepared in accordance with
that format.
 
A further description of the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at
the Financial Reporting Council's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.



the Financial Reporting Council's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
 
This description forms part of our auditor's report.
 
Other Matters which we are Required to Address
We were appointed by InvestAcc Group Limited to audit the consolidated financial statements. Our total
uninterrupted period of engagement is 4 years.
 
The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided to the Group and we
remain independent of the Group in conducting our audit. Our audit opinion is consistent with the
additional report to the Board in accordance with ISAs.
 
Use of this Report
This report is made solely to the Members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with our letter of
engagement dated 16 December 2024. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the Members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and its Members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.
 
 
Sandy Cameron
For and on behalf of Baker Tilly Channel Islands Limited
Chartered Accountants
St Helier, Jersey
 
 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 

 

6 months ended
31 December

2024
 

 
 

Year ended
30 June

2024
 

Note £'s  £'s
    

Revenue 5 2,532,329 -
Cost of sales (240,847) -
Gross profit 2,291,482  -

Administrative expenses 8 (4,536,845) (3,909,470)
Other operating income 3,212 -
Operating Loss 6 (2,242,151)  (3,909,470)
  
Share of retained profi t of associates 14 2,805 -
Finance income 9 525,968 359,367
Finance costs 9 (9,832) -
Movement in fa i r value of warrants 24 240,000 579,000
Loss for the period / year before tax (1,483,210)  (2,971,103)
  
Income tax 10 2,820,285 -
Profit / (Loss) for the year 1,337,075  (2,971,103)
Total  other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive profit / (loss) for the period / year 1,337,075  (2,971,103)
    
    
    
Profit / (Loss) per ordinary share £'s  £'s
Basic 11 0.0298 (0.2339)
Di luted 11 0.0288 (0.2339)
 

The Group's  activi ties  derive from continuing operations.

There are no further i tems of comprehensive income other than those shown above

The Notes  on pages  61 to 94 form an integral  part of these Financial  Statements .

 

 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
 
 
 
 
 

 
As at 31

December
2024

 
As at

30 June
2024

 

Assets Note £'s £'s
Non- current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 16 1,098,364  -
Right-of-use assets 17, 23 463,506  -
Goodwi l l 13 12,169,000  -
Other Intangible assets 15 25,460,914  -
Investment in associates 14 16,159  -

Deferred tax asset 22
 

2,896,518  -

Total non-current assets 42,104,461  -
    
Current assets    
Trade and other receivables 18 706,991 1,069,959
Contract assets 5 265,415 -
Current tax receivable 695,965 -
Cash and cash equivalents 19 13,424,847 6,461,475
Total current assets  15,093,218  7,531,434
   
Total assets  57,197,679  7,531,434
   
Equity and liabilities
 

  

Equity   
Ordinary Shares 25 45,894,484 326,700
A Shares 25 - 10,320,000
Sponsor Shares 25 1 1
Warrant cancel lation reserve 24 1,680,000 -
Ordinary Shares  Warrants 24 168,000 -
Share-based payment reserve 27, 29 277,566 255,811
Accumulated losses 27 (7,732,541) (9,069,616)

Total equity  40,287,510  1,832,896
 

   
Non-current liabilities   
Lease l iabi l i ties 23 365,515  -
Deferred tax l iabi l i ty 22 6,539,736  -
Provis ions 21 54,624  -
Total non-current liabilities 6,959,875  -

 
  

As at 31
December

2024

 
As at

30 June
2024

 
 Note £'s £'s
   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 20 7,726,935 3,610,538
Ordinary Shares  Warrants 24 - 2,088,000
Contract l iabi l i ties 5 2,105,445  -
Lease l iabi l i ties 23 117,914  -
Total current liabilities  9,950,294  5,698,538
     
Total liabilities  16,910,169  5,698,538

Total equity and liabilities  57,197,679  7,531,434
 

 

The Notes  on pages  61 to 94 form an integral  part of these Financial  Statements .

The Financial  Statements  were approved and authorised for i ssue by the Board of Directors  on [x] and were

s igned on i ts  behal f by:

 

 

 
Mark Hodges
Non-Executive Chairman

Martin Potkins
Director

     



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

 

Note

 

Ordinary
Shares  A Shares  

Sponsor
Share  

Share
based

payment
reserve  

Warrant
Cancellation

reserve   

Ordinary
Share

Warrants
 £'s  £'s  £'s  £'s  £'s  

Balance at 1 July 2023 326,700  10,320,000  1  201,641  -  
Tota l  compre he ns i ve  l os s  for the  ye a r - - - - -
Sha re -ba s e d pa yme nt cha rge 29 - - - 43,510 -
Is s ua nce  of A1 i nce nti ve  s ha re s -  -  -  10,660  -
Balance at 30 June 2024 326,700  10,320,000  1  255,811  -  

 

Note

 

Ordinary
Shares  A Shares  

Sponsor
Share  

Share
based

payment
reserve  

Warrant
Cancellation

reserve  

Ordinary
Share

Warrants
 £'s  £'s  £'s  £'s  £'s  

Balance at 1 July 2024 326,700  10,320,000  1  255,811  -  
Tota l  compre he ns i ve  profi t for the
pe ri od - - - - -

A Sha re s  re cl a s s i fi e d to Ordi na ry Sha re s 25 10,320,000 (10,320,000) - - -
Ca nce l l a ti on of A Wa rra nts 24 1,680,000
Sha re -ba s e d pa yme nt cha rge 29 - - - 21,755 -
Is s ua nce  of Ordi na ry Sha re s  for
a cqui s i ti on 25, 26 29,096,873 - - - -
Ordi na ry Sha re s  Wa rra nts  - re cl a s s i fi e d 24 - - - - - 168,000
Sha re hol de r's  Loa n conve rte d to
Ordi na ry Sha re s 25 6,150,911 - - - -
             

Balance at 31 December 2024   45,894,484  -  1  277,566  1,680,000  168,000

 

The Notes  on pages  61 to 94 form an integral  part of these Financial  Statements .

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  6 months ended
31 December

2024
 

 
 

Year ended
30 June

2024
 

 Note £'s £'s
Operating activities
Loss  for the period / year (1,483,210) (2,971,103)
 
Adjustments to reconcile total operating loss to net cash flows:
Depreciation charges 16 47,400 -
Finance income 9 (525,968) (359,367)
Finance costs 9 9,832 -
Share of retained (profi t) of associate 14 (2,805) -
Fair value (gain) on warrant provis ion 24 (240,000) (579,000)
Share-based payment expense 29 21,755 43,510
Amortisation of Intangibles 15 399,557 -
Amortisation of Right of use assets 17 32,456 -

Working capital adjustments:
Decrease / (Increase) in trade receivables 18 626,284 (834,339)
Decrease in contract assets 5 185,916 -
Decrease in contract l iabi l i ties 5 106,470 -
(Decrease) / Increase in trade and other payables 20 (2,334,502) 2,385,231
Cash generated / (used in) operations (3,156,815) (2,315,068)
Tax paid (211,212) -
Net cash generated / (used in) operations (3,368,027) (2,315,068)
 
Investing activities
Purchase of tangible assets 16 (238,416) -



Purchase of tangible assets 16 (238,416) -
Interest received 9 525,968 359,367
Acquis i tion of subs idiary 26 (19,014,396) -
Net cash flows (used in) /received from investing activities (18,726,844)  359,367
 
Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of ordinary A share capital 25 - 10,660
Proceeds from issue of Ordinary Shares 25 29,096,873 623,068
Interest paid (378) -
Lease payments 23 (38,252) -
Net cash flows received from financing activities 29,058,243  633,728
 
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,963,372 (1,321,973)
Cash and cash equivalents  at the beginning of the period / year 6,461,475 7,783,448
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period / year 19 13,424,847  6,461,475

 

The Notes  on pages  61 to 94 form an integral  part of these Financial  Statements .

  

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 

1.    GENERAL INFORMATION

I nvestAcc Group Limited (formerly Marwyn Acquis iBon Company I I  Limited) (the "Company") was  incorporated

on 31 July 2020 in the BriBsh Virgin I s lands  ("BVI") as  a  BVI  bus iness  company (registered number 2040956)

under the BVI  Bus iness  Company Act, 2004. The Company was l i s ted on the Main Market of the London Stock

Exchange on 4 December 2020 and has  i ts  registered address  at Commerce House, W ickhams Cay 1, P.O. Box

3140, Road Town, Tortola, VG1110, BriBsh Virgin I s lands  and UK  establ ishment (BR022831) at 11 Buckingham

Street, London WC2N 6DF.

The Company was formed for the purpose of effecBng a merger, share exchange, asset acquis iBon, share or

debt purchase, reorganisaBon or s imi lar bus iness  combinaBon with one or more bus inesses. The Directors

consider there to be no ultimate control l ing party.

The Company acquired I nvestAcc Holdings  Limited (formerly I nvestAcc Group Limited) ("InvestAcc") on 9

O ctober 2024 for £41.5 mi l l ion, represenBng an enterprise value of approximately £36 mi l l ion on a cash-free-

debt-free bas is . The Acquis iBon was partly funded via  a  £30 mi l l ion insBtuBonal  placing and subscripBon

(effecBve 4 July 2024) of which cash of £29,210,495 was paid a longs ide the issue of 6,150,911 ConsideraBon

Shares, with an addiBonal  deferred cash payment to sel lers  of £6,150,911 fol lowing compleBon (which has

been seTled in ful l  aWer 31 December 2024). I t i s  the Company's  plaOorm from which to conBnue to execute i ts

strategy to bui ld the UK 's  leading special is t pens ions  administraBon bus iness  in the publ ic markets  with an

iniBal  focus  on the sel f-invested personal  pens ion segment. The enBBes forming part of the Group are detai led

in Note 12 (a l l  di rect and indirect subs idiaries , together with the Company, the "Group"). The Company

changed i ts  name from Marwyn Acquis iBon Company I I  Limited to I nvestAcc Group Limited on 10 O ctober

2024, fol lowing the completion of acquis i tion of InvestAcc.

The accounBng reference date was changed from 30 June to 31 December, resulBng in a  shortened accounBng

period of s ix months, with the results  of the acquired enBty being included for the period from 9 O ctober to 31

December 2024. The comparaBve period presented is  for the year to 30 June 2024 and is  therefore not directly

comparable to the s ix month period to 31 December 2024, as  they are for di fferent time periods.

Al l  companies  forming part of the Group have also amended their accounBng reference date to 31 December to

al ign with the Company.

2.    MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)    Basis of preparation

The Financial  Statements  for the period ended 31 December 2024 have been prepared in accordance with

I nternaBonal  F inancial  ReporBng Standards  and I F RS I nterpretaBons CommiTee interpretaBons as  adopted by

the European Union (col lecBvely, "EU adopted IF RS" or "IFRS") and are presented in BriBsh pounds sterl ing,

which is  the presentaBon and funcBonal  currency of the Group. The Financial  Statements  have been prepared

under the historical  cost bas is , except relaBng to the prior period, for the revaluaBon of certain financial



under the historical  cost bas is , except relaBng to the prior period, for the revaluaBon of certain financial

instruments  which have been measured at fa i r value at the end of the prior reporBng period, as  explained in

the accounBng pol icies  below. The Financial  Statements  present the results  for the s ix-month period to 31

December 2024 with a  comparaBve year to 30 June 2024. Due to the shortening of the financial  period end and

the acquis iBon during the period, the periods  are not directly comparable as  noted in the General  I nformaBon

above.

The preparaBon of the F inancial  Statements  requires  the use of certain criBcal  accounBng esBmates. I t a lso

requires  management to exercise i ts  judgement in the process  of applying the consol idated enBty's  accounBng

pol icies . The areas  involving a  higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas  where assumpBons and

estimates  are s igni ficant to the Financial  Statements , are disclosed in Note 3.

The materia l  accounBng pol icies  adopted in the preparaBon of the F inancial  Statements  are set out below. The

pol icies  have been cons istently appl ied throughout the current and prior year presented. 

(b)   Going concern

The Group meets  i ts  day-to-day working capital  requirements  from the pos iBve cash flows generated by i ts

trading acBviBes  and i ts  avai lable cash resources. The informaBon in these F inancial  Statements  has  been

prepared on a going concern bas is , which assumes that the Group wi l l  conBnue to be able to meet i ts

l iabi l i ties  as  they fa l l  due within the next 12 months  from the date of approval .

2.    MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The Directors  confirm that they have re-assessed the principal  risks  and reviewed current performance and

forecasts , combined with expenditure commitments  and including capital  expenditure. The Group's  forecasts

demonstrate i t should generate profits  and cash in the period ending 31 December 2025 and beyond and the

Directors  are saBsfied that the Group has  sufficient cash reserves  to enable i t to meet i ts  obl igaBons as  they

fal l  due for a  period of at least 12 months  from the date of s igning these financial  s tatements .

At 31 December 2024, the Group has  net assets  of £40,287,510 (30 June 2024: £1,832,896) and a cash balance

of £13,424,847 (2024: £6,461,475).

(c)    New standards and amendments to International Financial Reporting Standards

Standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted by the Group:

I F RSs  appl icable to the F inancial  Statements  of the Group have been appl ied for the s ix-month period ending

31 December 2024 as  wel l  as  for the comparaBve year. The appl icaBon of these standards  have no materia l

impact on the financial  results  or presentation.

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective:

The fol lowing standards  are issued but not yet effecBve. The Group intends to adopt these standards, i f

appl icable, when they become effecBve. I t i s  not currently expected that these standards  wi l l  have a materia l

impact on the Group.

Standard Effective date

Amendments  to IAS 21 Lack of exchangeabi l i ty*; 1 January 2025
Amendments  IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 regarding the class i fication and measurement of
financial  instruments*;

1 January 2026

IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial  Statements*; and 1 January 2027

IFRS 19 - Subs idiaries  without Publ ic Accountabi l i ty: Disclosures* 1 January 2027
* Subject to EU endorsement

(d)   Basis of consolidation

The Consol idated Financial  Statements  consol idate the financial  s tatements  of the Company, and i ts

subs idiary undertakings  drawn up to each relevant period end date.

A subs idiary is  an enBty control led by the Company. Subs idiaries  are ful ly consol idated from the date on

which control  i s  transferred to the Group or, i f created directly, the subs idiary has  been incorporated. The

Group obtains  control  over an enti ty when i t has:

a)     Power over the enti ty

b)    Exposure, or rights , to variable returns  from i ts  involvement with the enti ty

c)     The abi l i ty to use i ts  power over the enti ty to affect the amount of the Group's  returns

W here appl icable, the results  of subs idiaries  acquired during the period are included in the consol idated

statement of comprehensive income from the effecBve date of acquis iBon.  W here necessary, adjustments  are

made to the F inancial  Statements  of subs idiaries  to bring their accounBng pol icies  into l ine with those used

by the Group.



by the Group.

The acquis iBon method of accounBng is  used to account for bus iness  combinaBons that result in the

acquis iBon of subs idiaries  by the Group. The cost of a  bus iness  combinaBon is  measured as  the fa ir value of

the assets , equity instruments  issued, and l iabi l iBes  incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. I denBfiable

assets  acquired, l iabi l iBes  and conBngent l iabi l iBes  assumed in a  bus iness  combinaBon are measured

initia l ly at their fa i r values  at the acquis i tion date. Any excess  of the cost of the bus iness  combination over the

acquirer's  interest in the net fa i r value of the idenBfiable assets , l iabi l iBes  and conBngent l iabi l iBes

recognised is  recorded as  goodwi l l .

2.    MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

I nter-company transacBons, balances, and unreal ised gains  on transacBons between the Company and i ts

subs idiaries , which are related parties , are el iminated in ful l  on consol idation.

(e)   Associated undertakings

Associates  are those enBBes in which the Group has  s ignificant influence, but not control , over the financial

and operaBng pol icies . The Consol idated Financial  Statements  includes  the Group's  share of the total

comprehensive income of the associate on an equity accounted bas is , from the date that s ignificant influence

commences  unti l  the date that s igni ficant influence ceases.

(f)    Revenue recognition

The Group generates  revenue from the provis ion of pens ion advice to cl ients  and related services .

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group fol lows the 5-step process  as  set out within IFRS 15:

1.     Identi fying the contract with a  customer

2.     Identi fying the performance obl igations

3.     Determining the transaction price

4.     Al locating the transaction price to the performance obl igations

5.     Recognis ing revenue when/as  performance obl igation(s) are satis fied

The revenue and profits  recognised in any period are based upon the del ivery of performance obl igaBons and

an assessment of when services  are del ivered to the customer.

Revenue is  primari ly generated in one of two ways: the receipt of advisory fees  on the referral  of cl ients , and

the provis ion of pens ion administration services  direct to customers.

Financial advice - Wealth management and appointed representatives

I ncome is  earned by the Group from the provis ion of financial  advice to cl ients , for which an advisor charge is

received. The Group has  a  contract with the individual  to whom pension advice is  being provided, and an

advisor charge is  payable to the Group based on the advice given and level  of funds  being invested. This

becomes payable once the cl ient has  passed a 'cool ing off' period, which is  referred to as  the 'on risk' date.

The Group cons iders  that there is  a  s ingle performance obl igaBon, being the provis ion of financial  advice,

which is  satis fied at a  point in time being the 'on risk' date. Revenue is  therefore recognised on that date.

Pol icies  sold on an indemnity bas is  are potenBal ly subject to a  clawback. A provis ion is  included for any such

clawbacks, a l though these are rare in practice.

The Group also earns  income from the provis ion of services  to appointed representaBves. I n these s i tuaBons,

the customer with whom the Group has  a  contract i s  the appointed representaBve rather than the individual  to

whom pension advice is  being provided.

Pension administration services

The Group's  subs idiary, I nvestAcc Pens ion AdministraBon Services  Limited ('IPA') provides  various  products

that are structured around advice and services  to those wishing to invest in two types  of pens ion plans: Sel f-

Invested Personal  Pens ions  ('SIPPs') and Smal l  Sel f-Administered Schemes ('SSASs').

I PA earns  revenue from agreements  with each customer that are governed by a  'schedule of fees .' Under these

agreements , I PA col lects  an annual  fee for the services  to be provided which include scheme set-up, ongoing

management, administration and the provis ion of an annual  valuation report.

There are therefore a  number of performance obl igaBons included in the contract with the customer. However,

only the iniBal  set-up of the scheme is  cons idered to be a disBnct performance obl igaBon. I n the first year of

the scheme, revenue is  cons idered to be mainly derived from the set-up and is  therefore recognised at the date

of commencement.



2.    MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The remaining services  are cons idered to represent a  col lecBon of performance obl igaBons that are not

consumed separately by the customer and could occur at any point over the annual  term. These are therefore

considered to be a col lecBon of non-disBnct performance obl igaBons that are del ivered over Bme and are

recognised on a straight-l ine bas is  over the term of the contract from the second year onwards.

S I P P  products  are bi l led annual ly in advance, resulBng in deferred income being recognised in the balance

sheet. This  i s  reflected as  a  current l iabi l i ty as  a l l  remaining income wi l l  be recognised in the period fol lowing

the balance sheet date.

S SAS products  are bi l led annual ly in arrears , resulBng in accrued income being recognised in the balance

sheet and included in receivables .

Treasury interest income

The Group receives  a  share of interest on monies  deposited with banks  relaBng to cl ient pens ion

arrangements . This  i s  cons idered to be part of the Group's  normal  trading acBviBes  and is  therefore

recognised within revenue rather than finance income. I nterest i s  recognised over Bme as  i t accrues  on the

accounts  and is  received on a monthly bas is .

(g)   Property, plant and equipment

P roperty, plant and equipment are stated at cost less  depreciaBon. DepreciaBon is  recognised so as  to write

off the cost of assets  less  their res idual  values, with the expected value of zero, over their useful  l ives  on the

fol lowing bas is :

Fixture and fi ttings                20% straight-l ine

Motor vehicles                      18% straight-l ine

Leasehold improvements    10% straight-l ine

(h)   Financial instruments

Investments and other financial assets

Classification

The Group class i fies  i ts  financial  assets  in the fol lowing measurement categories :

•      those to be measured subsequently at fa i r value (ei ther through OCI or through profi t or loss); and

•      those to be measured at amortised cost.

The class ificaBon depends on the Group's  bus iness  model  for managing the financial  assets  and the

contractual  terms of the cash flows.

Measurement

At iniBal  recogniBon, the Company measures  a  financial  asset at i ts  fa i r value plus , in the case of a  financial

asset not at fa i r value through profit or loss  (F VP L), transacBon costs  that are directly aTributable to the

acquis iBon of the financial  asset. TransacBon costs  of financial  assets  carried at F VP L are expensed to the

income statement.

Trade and other receivables

The Company assesses  on a forward-looking bas is  the expected credit losses  associated with i ts  receivables

carried at amorBsed cost. For trade receivables , the Company appl ies  the s impl ified approach permiTed by

I F RS 9, resulBng in trade receivables  recognised and carried at original  invoice amount less  an al lowance for

any uncol lectible amounts  based on expected credit losses .

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables  are recognised iniBal ly at fa i r value. Subsequent to iniBal  recogniBon they are

measured at amortised cost us ing the effective interest method.

2.    MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits  in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits

with original  maturiBes  of three months  or less  from incepBon that are readi ly converBble to known amounts

of cash and which are subject to an ins ignificant risk of changes  in value. Bank overdraWs are shown within

current financial  l iabi l i ties .

Warrants



Warrants

I n relaBon to the prior period end, warrants  that fa i led the fixed for fixed cri teria  were accounted for as

derivaBve l iabi l i ty instruments  under I AS 32 and were measured at fa i r value at the date of i ssue and were

remeasured at the prior period end with the change in fa i r value being recognised in the Statement of

Comprehensive I ncome. Fair value of the warrants  has  historical ly been calculated us ing a  Black-Scholes

opBon pricing methodology and detai ls  of the esBmates  and judgements  used in determining the fa ir value of

the warrants  are set out in Note 3.

 

At 31 December 2024, warrants  meeBng the definiBon of equity are held in a  separate reserve in equity and

not subsequently remeasured.

 

(i)    Goodwill

Goodwi l l  represents  the amount by which the fa ir value of the cost of a  bus iness  combinaBon exceeds the fa ir

value of the net assets  acquired. Goodwi l l  i s  not amorBsed and is  stated as  cost less  any accumulated

impairment losses .

The recoverable amount of goodwi l l  i s  tested for impairment annual ly or when events  or changes  in

circumstance indicate that i t might be impaired. I mpairment charges  are deducted from the carrying value and

recognised immediately in the income statement.

(j)    Intangibles

External ly acquired intangible assets  are iniBal ly recognised at cost and subsequently amorBsed on a

straight-l ine bas is  over their useful  economic l ives . I ntangible assets  are recognised on bus iness

combinaBons i f they are separable from the acquired enBty or give rise to other contractual/legal  rights . The

two acquired intangibles  are as  fol lows:

Branding

Branding intangible value is  the deemed fair value attributable to the acquired brands.

Customer relationships

Customer relaBonships  intangible is  the al located fa ir value of the customer relaBonships  of the acquired

companies .

The amounts  ascribed to such intangibles  are arrived at by us ing appropriate valuaBon techniques  (see

section related to cri tical  estimates  and judgements  below).

The s ignificant intangibles  recognised by the Group, their useful  economic l ives  and the methods used to

determine the cost of intangibles  acquired in a  bus iness  combination are as  fol lows:

Asset Useful  Economic Li fe Valuation method

Customer Relationships 10 to 15 years Multi -Period Excess  Earnings  Method

Brand value 10 years Rel ief From Royalty

2.    MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)   Provisions

P rovis ions  are recognised when the Group has  a  present obl igaBon (legal  or construcBve) as  a  result of a  past

event, i t i s  probable that the Group wi l l  be required to seTle that obl igaBon, and a rel iable esBmate can be

made of the amount of the obl igation.

P rovis ions  are measured at the Directors ' best esBmate of the expenditure required to seTle the obl igaBon at

the reporting date and are discounted to present value where the effect i s  materia l .

(l)    Pensions

The Group parBcipates  in defined contribuBon pension schemes and contribuBons are charged to the income

statement in the year in which they are due. These pens ion schemes are funded, and the payment of

contribuBons is  made to separately administered trust funds. The assets  of the pens ion schemes are held

separately from the Group. ContribuBons to defined contribuBon plans  are recognised as  employee benefit

expense when they are due. I f contribuBon payments  exceed the contribuBon due for service, the excess  is

recognised as  a  prepayment.

(m)  Leases



The Group as lessee

Short term leases  or leases  of low value are recognised as  an expense on a straight-l ine bas is  over the term of

the lease.

The Group recognises  right-of-use assets  under lease agreements  in which i t i s  the lessee.  The underlying

assets  mainly comprise property and are used in the normal  course of bus iness .  The right-of-use assets

comprise the iniBal  measurement of the corresponding lease l iabi l i ty payments  made at or before the

commencement day as  wel l  as  any iniBal  direct costs  and an esBmate of costs  to be incurred in dismantl ing

the asset.  Lease incenBves  are deducted from the cost of the right-of-use asset.  The corresponding lease

l iabi l i ty i s  included in the consol idated statement of financial  pos ition as  a  lease l iabi l i ty.

The right-of-use asset i s  depreciated over the lease-term and i f necessary impaired in accordance with

appl icable standards.  The lease l iabi l i ty i s  iniBal ly measured at the present value of the lease payments  that

are not paid at that date, discounted us ing the rate impl ici t in the lease. The lease l iabi l i ty i s  subsequently

measured by increas ing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease l iabi l i ty (appl icaBon of the

effecBve interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments  made.  No lease

modificaBon or reassessment changes  have been made during the reporBng period from changes  in any lease

terms or rent charges.

(n)   Equity

O rdinary shares  and sponsor shares  are class ified as  equity. I ncremental  costs  directly aTributable to the

issue of new shares  are recognised in equity as  a  deducBon from the proceeds. Equity instruments  are

measured at the fa ir value of the cash or other resources  received or receivable, net of the direct costs  of

issuing the equity instruments . I f payment is  deferred and the Bme value of money is  materia l , the iniBal

measurement is  on a present value bas is .

 

2.    MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(o)   Corporation tax

Tax on the profit or loss  for the year comprises  current and deferred tax. Tax is  recognised in the income

statement except to the extent that i t relates  to i tems recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive

income.

Current tax is  the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss  for the year, us ing tax rates

enacted or substanBvely enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

previous  years .

Deferred tax is  provided, us ing the l iabi l i ty method, on al l  temporary differences  at the balance sheet date

between the tax bases  of assets  and l iabi l i ties  and their carrying amounts  for financial  reporting purposes.

Deferred tax assets  are recognised for a l l  deducBble temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax

assets  and unused tax losses , to the extent that i t i s  probable that taxable profit wi l l  be avai lable against

which the deducBble temporary differences  and the carry-forward of unused tax assets  and unused tax losses

can be uBl ised, except where the deferred tax asset relaBng to the deducBble temporary difference arises  from

the iniBal  recogniBon of an asset or l iabi l i ty in a  transacBon that i s  not a  bus iness  combinaBon and, at the

time of the transaction, affects  neither the accounting profi t nor taxable profi t or loss .

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets  i s  reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent

that i t i s  no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit wi l l  be avai lable to a l low al l  or part of the deferred

tax asset to be uti l i sed.

Deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i ties  are measured at the tax rates  that are expected to apply to the year when the

asset i s  real ised or the l iabi l i ty i s  seTled, based on tax rates  (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

(p)   Earnings per ordinary share

The Group presents  bas ic earnings  per O rdinary Share ("EPS") data for i ts  O rdinary Shares  as  disclosed in

more detai l  in Note 11. Bas ic EP S is  calculated by dividing the profit or loss  aTributable to ordinary



shareholders  of the Company by the weighted average number of O rdinary Shares  outstanding during the year.

Di luted EP S is  calculated by adjusBng the weighted average number of O rdinary Shares  outstanding to assume

convers ion of a l l  potenBal  di luBve O rdinary Shares  Warrants  and I ncenBve Shares  which would result in

Ordinary Shares.

(q)   Share based payments

The A1 O rdinary Shares  and A2 O rdinary Shares  in I nvestAcc (BVI ) Limited (the "Incen<ve Shares''), represent

equity-seTled share-based payment arrangements  under which the Group receives  services  as  a  cons ideraBon

for the additional  rights  attached to these equity shares.

Equity-seTled share-based payments  to Directors  and others  providing s imi lar services  are measured at the

fair value of the equity instruments  at the grant date. Fair value is  determined us ing an appropriate valuaBon

technique, further detai ls  of which are given in Note 29. The fa ir value is  expensed, with a  corresponding

increase in equity, on a straight-l ine bas is  from the grant date to the expected exercise date. W here the equity

instruments  granted are cons idered to vest immediately as  the services  are deemed to have been received in

ful l , the fa ir value is  recognised as  an expense with a  corresponding increase in equity recognised at grant

date.

 

2.    MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r)    Warrants

At the prior period end, warrants  were accounted for as  derivaBve l iabi l i ty instruments  under I AS 32 and were

measured at fa i r value at the date of i ssue and each subsequent balance sheet date unBl  the point they were

seTled, reclass ified or cancel led. Fair value of the warrants  was  calculated us ing a  Black-Scholes  opBon

pricing methodology. Detai ls  of the esBmates  and judgements  used in determining the fa ir value of the

warrants  are set out in Note 3.

At 31 December 2024, the warrants  in issue (solely the O rdinary Shares  Warrants  as  discussed in more detai l

in Note 24) meet the cri teria  of equity, and accordingly are class ified in equity and recorded at fa i r value on

initia l  recognition in equity.  On an ongoing bas is , these wi l l  not subsequently be remeasured.

 

3.    CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The preparaBon of the Group's  F inancial  Statements  under I F RS requires  the Directors  to make esBmates  and

assumpBons that affect the reported amounts  of assets  and l iabi l iBes  and the disclosure of conBngent assets

and l iabi l iBes. EsBmates  and judgements  are conBnual ly evaluated and are based on historical  experience

and other factors  including expectaBons of future events  that are bel ieved to be reasonable under the

circumstances. Actual  results  may di ffer from these estimates.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

As required by I F RS 3, we have measured the assets  acquired and l iabi l iBes  assumed on the acquis iBon in the

period at their fa i r value on acquis iBon. The fa ir values  of contract l iabi l iBes  at the acquis iBon date were

esBmated to obtain a  price that would be paid to transfer the l iabi l i ty in an orderly transacBon between

market parBcipants . The approach used was based on a market parBcipant's  esBmate of the costs  that wi l l  be

incurred to fulfil  the obl igaBon plus  a  normal  profit margin, based on the overal l  cost profile over the l i fe of

the contract.

The determinaBon of the fa ir value of assets  and l iabi l iBes  including goodwi l l  aris ing on the acquis iBon of

the bus iness , the acquis iBon of branding, customer relaBonships , and intel lectual  property, whether aris ing

from separate purchases  or from the acquis iBon as  part of the bus iness  combinaBon, and development

expenditure, which is  expected to generate future economic benefits , are based, to a  cons iderable extent, on

management's  estimations. Independent specia l is ts  were engaged to review the assessment.

The fa ir value of these assets  i s  determined by discounBng esBmated future net cash flows the asset i s

expected to generate where no acBve market for the asset exists . The use of different assumpBons for the

expectations  of future cash flows and the discount rate would change the valuation of the intangible assets

Goodwill impairment

As required by I AS 36, goodwi l l  i s  required to be cons idered for impairment at least annual ly or whenever

indicators  of impairment are present. The Directors  have prepared forecasts  and are saBsfied that no

impairment is  required. The inputs  and cons iderations  of this  review are outl ined in Note 13.

 



 

3.    CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

On 4 July 2024, the Company announced the successful  placing of and subscription for 30 mi l l ion New

Ordinary Shares , at a  price of £1 per share. On this  date the Company also announced that the 12,000,000 A

Warrants  then in issue has  been surrendered and cancel led.  This  affected both the class i fication of the

remaining Ordinary Shares  Warrants  at 31 December 2024, and the method used to ascertain fa i r value of

both the Ordinary Shares  Warrants  and A Warrants  at 30 June 2024.

Classification of Ordinary Shares Warrants

As the New O rdinary Shares  issued were issued at £1 each, this  supported the Directors ' view that the

downward adjustment clause in the Warrant I nstrument (as  defined in note 24) i s  highly unl ikely to be

relevant and therefore that the warrants  meet the fixed for fixed cri teria  of I AS 32. Accordingly, the O rdinary

Shares  Warrants  were reclass i fied from l iabi l i ties  to equity on 4 July 2024.

Valuation of Ordinary Shares Warrants and A Warrants at 30 June 2024

For the year ended 30 June 2024 a different approach to valuing each of the O rdinary Shares  Warrants  and A

Warrants  has  been used. I n years prior to 30 June 2024, both the O rdinary Shares  Warrants  and O rdinary

Share and A warrant and A share have been valued at a  combined price of £1. At 30 June 2024, for the

O rdinary Shares  Warrants , the market value of £1 per ordinary share has  been used, being the price that the

New O rdinary Shares  were subscribed for without any matching warrants . As  the A shares  were converted into

O rdinary Shares , and the matching A warrants  surrendered and cancel led on 4 July 2024 i t was  not

appropriate to value the A shares  at £1 at 30 June 2024, instead, the Company conBnued to use an aggregate

value of £1 for an A share and A warrant.

Valuation of Ordinary Shares Warrants at 31 December 2024

For the O rdinary Shares  Warrants  remaining in issue at 31 December 2024, the Directors  are of the opinion

that these warrants  did not materia l ly change in value between 30 June 2024 and their reclass ificaBon to

equity on 4 July 2024, and are therefore shown in equity at the fa ir value reported at 30 June 2024. O n an

ongoing bas is , these wi l l  not subsequently be remeasured.

Valuation of Incentive Scheme

The Company has  issued I ncenBve Shares  as  part of the creaBon of a  long-term incenBve scheme which is

valued us ing a  Monte Carlo model . This  model  requires  esBmaBon and judgement surrounding the inputs  of

exercise price, expected volaBl i ty, ri sk free rate, expected dividends, and expected term of the I ncenBve Shares.

The O rdinary A share l iabi l i ty held, represents  the subscripBon price where there is  an opBon to redeem the

shares  for cash in the instance of a  good leaver for certain individuals , at the lower of market value and the

subscription price.

O ther disclosures  relaBng to the Group's  exposure to risk and uncertainBes  in relaBon to financial

instruments  are included in Note 28.

Critical accounting judgements

Revenue recognition

As detai led in Note 5, the recogniBon of revenue aris ing from pension administraBon services  requires

judgements  and estimates  to determine the appropriate a l location of revenue to performance obl igations.

Recognition and classification of costs relating to fundraise

I n the prior accounBng year, the Company has  incurred or accrued £2,621,041 of fees  in connecBon with the

acquis i tion of InvestAcc. These costs  have been accounted for as  fol lows:

i .              W here they are directly aTributable to the issuance of shares , they are taken as  a  deducBon from

equity on the issuance of the equity, and;

i i .             W here they are not directly aTributable to the issuance of shares  (for example an acquis iBon

cost or l i s ting cost), they are recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as  an expense.

3.     CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Consistent with the Company's  accounBng pol icy, costs  directly related to the prospectus  are cons idered

directly aTributable to the issuance of shares , in this  case being the 30 mi l l ion New O rdinary Shares  issued

on 4 July 2024. Al l  other costs  associated with the transacBon, for example acquis iBon related costs  or costs

associated with the l i sBng of the New O rdinary Shares  and convers ion of the A shares  into O rdinary Shares

are recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive I ncome as  an expense. As  of 31 December 2024, costs

amounBng to £903,127 are cons idered to be directly aTributable to the £30 mi l l ion equity ra ise and were

class ified as  deferred costs  in the year to 30 June 2024, were released into equity fol lowing the compleBon of



class ified as  deferred costs  in the year to 30 June 2024, were released into equity fol lowing the compleBon of

the issue of the 30 mi l l ion New Ordinary Shares  (refer to Note 25).

4.    SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management currently idenBfies one operaBng segment in the Group under I F RS 8 being the provis ion of

pension advice and related services . Although the group is  organised into three separate trading companies ,

in pracBce these enBBes are central ly managed and control led, and internal  reporBng is  presented on a

consol idated bas is .

Significant customers

There are no individual  customers  compris ing 10% or more of combined revenues in any period.

5.    REVENUE

Revenue is  earned from contracts  with customers  within the United Kingdom.

Significant judgements and policies

The Company appl ies  the principles  of revenue recogniBon set out in I F RS 15. The revenue and profits

recognised in any period are based on the del ivery of performance obl igaBons and an assessment of when

control  i s  transferred to the customer.

For revenue from wealth management and appointed representaBve referrals , for which the Group receives  a

fee, revenue is  recognised at a  point in time.

For pens ion administraBon services  where an annual  fee is  charged to a  customer, revenue is  recognised 'over

Bme' as  control  of the performance obl igaBon is  transferred to the customer. This  parBcular element of

revenue recogniBon requires  judgement. The Directors  have concluded that, for fees  charged in the first year,

revenue represents  services  a lready del ivered (e.g. the set up of the scheme) and the income is  therefore

recognised when bi l led. For subsequent years , revenue represents  a  number of non-disBnct services  for which

there are no standalone prices . Revenue is  therefore recognised evenly on a monthly bas is  over the course of

the year.

Treasury interest income received from banks  holding cl ient monies  on interest sharing arrangements  is

recognised on a monthly bas is .

Disaggregation of revenue

The Directors  cons ider that, based on the characterisBcs  of the work being performed and the consequenBal

effect on the nature of revenue recogniBon, there are four categories  of revenue. An analys is  of the revenue

recognised in each year is  shown below.

5.   REVENUE (CONTINUED)

For the 6 months
ended

31 December 2024

 For the year
ended

30 June 2024
£'s  £'s
   

Pension administration services 1,358,822 -
Wealth management 580,309 -
Appointed representative revenue 220,990 -
Treasury interest income 372,208 -

2,532,329  -

Contract balances

As noted above, for pens ion administraBon services  the Bming or bi l l ing is  such that invoicing does  not

necessari ly represent the Bming of services . As  a  result, contract assets  and l iabi l iBes  arise depending on

whether the services  are bi l led in arrears  (for Smal l  Sel f-Administered Schemes) or in advance (Sel f-I nvested

Personal  Pens ions). In both cases , the contract asset or l iabi l i ty wi l l  be real ised in the fol lowing year.



Personal  Pens ions). In both cases , the contract asset or l iabi l i ty wi l l  be real ised in the fol lowing year.

Al l  deferred income included in the balance sheet at 31 December 2024 is  expected to reverse within one year.

The balances  included as  fol lows.

As at
31 December 2024

 As at
30 June 2024

£'s  £'s
   

Accrued income- contract assets 265,415 -
Deferred income- contract l iabi l i ties (2,105,445) -

 

6.    OPERATING LOSS

Loss  for the year has  been arrived at after charging:

For the 6 months
ended

31 December
2024

 
For the year

ended
30 June 2024

£'s  £'s
   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 47,400 -
Amortisation of right of use assets 32,456 -
Amortisation of Intangibles 399,557 -

 

7.    EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS

During the period ended 31 December 2024, the Company had seven serving Directors : James Corsel l i s , Mark

Hodges, W i l l  Sel f, James Pearce (res igned 19 December 2024), Giovanni  Castagno, Helen Copinger-Symes and

MarBn Potkins . The Company has  110 employees  at the period end who were not Directors  of the Company

during the year (30 June 2024: One).

7.   EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The Company's  subs idiary has  issued I ncenBve Shares  directly to W i l l  Sel f and Mark Hodges. James Corsel l i s

is  indirectly beneficial ly interested in the I ncenBve Shares  through his  interest in M LTI . Further detai l  i s

disclosed in Note 29. James Pearce had been issued incenBve shares  in the prior year, however, on his

res ignaBon he transferred these back to the Company at a  price of £0.01 per share, and these were held in

treasury and post year end were subsequently transferred back to I nvestAcc (BVI ) Limited and cancel led.

Further incentive shares  have been issued post period end as  disclosed in Note 33.

(a)   Employment costs for the Group during the year:
For the 6

months ended
31 December

2024

 
For the year

ended 30 June
2024

£'s  £'s
   

Directors ' sa laries 584,649 668,019
Staff sa laries 999,067 118,180
Social  securi ty costs 239,031 114,803
Bonus provis ion 435,263 59,026
Pension contributions 28,713 29,218
Short term employee benefi ts 8,672 4,468
Termination benefi ts 10,000 -
Total  employment costs  expense 2,305,395  993,714

 

James Pearce was enBtled to an annual  gross  salary of £220,000, a  5% employer pens ion contribuBon and to
a transacBonal  bonus of up to £100,000 on the compleBon of the Acquis iBon. James res igned on 19 December
2024, included in Directors  fees  is  £84,333 in l ieu of noBce and included in terminaBon benefits  of £10,000
for loss  of office. I n the year to 30 June 2024, James Pearce received s igning on fee of £19,710 in addiBon to



for loss  of office. I n the year to 30 June 2024, James Pearce received s igning on fee of £19,710 in addiBon to
his  salary, which was used to pay the subscripBon price for his  I ncenBve Shares  as  further detai led in Note
29.
Mark Hodges  in respect of his  appointment as  Non-ExecuBve Director and Chairman is  enBtled to an annual
fee of £250,000.
W i l l  Sel f in respect of his  appointment as  Chief-ExecuBve O fficer is  enBtled to an annual  gross  salary of
£320,000, employer pens ion contribuBon of 8% of Gross  salary and car a l lowance of £10,000. There are
provis ions  for discreBonary annual  bonuses  to be paid up to the maximum value of 75% of his  salary,
provided performance targets  are met. In the period ended 31 December 2024, he was awarded a transactional
bonus of £240,000 and has  saBsfied the performance condiBons for further bonuses  of £96,000. O f the total
awarded, he was paid £180,000 prior to the period end, with £108,000 to be paid within s ix months  of the year
end, with the remaining value of £48,000 plus  socia l  securi ty to be paid in F Y2026 and F Y2027, as  outl ined in
Note 21. I n the year to 30 June 2024, W i l l  Sel f received a bonus of £39,315 which was used to pay the
subscription price for his  Incentive Shares  as  further detai led in Note 29.
James Corsel l i s  in respect of his  appointment as  Non-ExecuBve Director is  enBtled to an annual  fee of
£75,000.

7.   EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Giovanni  Castagno, Helen Copinger-Symes and MarBn Potkins . in respect of their appointment as  I ndependent

Non-Executive Directors  are each enti tled to an annual  fee of £80,000.

(b)   Key management compensation

During the period, the Board cons idered the Directors  of the Company to be the key management personnel  of

the Group, in addition to the Chief Operating Officer and Chief Risk Officer.

For the 6
months ended

31 December
2024

 
For the year

ended 30 June
2024

£'s  £'s
   

Fees  and salaries 673,540 682,310
Social  securi ty costs 148,924 100,973
Bonus provis ion 450,933 39,315
Pension contributions 8,067 -
Short term employee benefi ts 8,671 -
Termination benefi ts 10,000 -
Total  employment costs  expense 1,300,135  822,598

 

(c)    Employed persons

The average monthly number of persons  employed by the Group (including Directors) during the period was as

fol lows:

For the 6 months
ended 31

December 2024

 For the year
ended 30 June

2024
number  number

Directors 5 4

Other staff 110  1
115  5

 

8.    ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

For the 6 months
ended 31

December
2024

  For the year
 ended 30

June
2024

£'s  £'s
Group expenses by nature
Personnel  costs 2,305,395 993,714
Acquis i tion related costs 199,564 1,717,914
Non-recurring project, profess ional  and di l igence costs 354,825 115,500
Profess ional  support 901,862 1,007,269
Amortisation of Intangibles 399,557 -
Audit fees  payable (Note 32) 106,500 24,580
Share-based payment expenses  (Note 29) 21,755 43,510
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 47,400 -
Sundry expenses 199,987 6,983

4,536,845  3,909,470

Acquis i tion related costs  are those fees  expensed that were directly attributable to the Acquis i tion.



9.    NET FINANCE INCOME

For the 6
months ended

31 December
2024

 
For the year

ended 30 June
2024

£'s  £'s
Interest on cash and cash equivalents 525,968  359,367
Lease finance costs (9,454)  -
Other interest payable and s imi lar charges (378) -
Net finance income 516,136  359,367

 

10.  INCOME TAX

For the 6
months ended

31 December
2024

 
For the year

ended 30 June
2024

£'s  £'s
Current tax:
UK corporation tax
Adjustments  in respect of prior periods

- -

Total current tax charge  -  -

 
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal  of temporary di fferences 2,820,285 -
  2,820,285 -

 

Tax on ordinary activities
Reconci l iation of effective rate and tax charge For the 6

months ended
31 December

2024

 
For the year

ended 30 June
2024

£'s  £'s
 
Loss  on ordinary activi ties  before tax (1,483,210) (2,971,103)
Capital  a l lowances (43,034) (758)
Expenses  not deductible for tax purposes 694,742 (103,643)
Loss  on ordinary activi ties  subject to corporation tax (831,502)  (3,075,504)
Loss  multipl ied by the rate of corporation tax in the UK of 25% (30
June 2024: 25%)

(207,876) (768,876)

Effects  of:
Tax losses  not uti l i sed 113,371 768,876
Tax Losses  used in group offset 94,505 -
Movements  in deferred taxation (Note 22) 2,820,285 -
Total taxation credit 2,820,285  -
    

10.   INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The Group is  tax res ident in the UK  and as  at 31 December 2024, had cumulaBve tax losses  avai lable to carry

forward against future trading profits  of  £11,279,136 (30 June 2024: £6,831,237) subject to agreement with

H M Revenue & Customs. A deferred tax asset has  been recognised in respect of these losses . A deferred tax

asset i s  recognised in relaBon to these carried forward losses  as  i t i s  probable that the tax losses  can be

uti l i sed.

Pi l lar Two Tax reform has  been cons idered but the Group is  not of a  sufficient s ize to be included. 

 

11.  EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

As set out earl ier in these F inancial  Statements , on 4 July 2024, 30 mi l l ion New O rdinary Shares  were issued

by the Company, the 12 mi l l ion A shares  then in issue were converted into O rdinary Shares  and the 12 mi l l ion



by the Company, the 12 mi l l ion A shares  then in issue were converted into O rdinary Shares  and the 12 mi l l ion

A Warrants  were redeemed and cancel led in connecBon with the Acquis iBon.  O n compleBon of the

Acquis iBon, a  further 6,150,911 ConsideraBon Shares  were issued. The treatment in prior periods  of A shares

as  O rdinary Shares  for the purposes  of the EP S calculaBon due to the fact that both classes  of share have

equal  rights  to the res idual  net assets  of the Company, which enables  them to be cons idered col lecBvely as

one class  per the provis ions  of I AS 33, remains  unaffected by this  reclass ificaBon and for the purposes  of this

note are referred to col lecBvely as  O rdinary Shares. The sponsor share has  no rights  to distribuBon rights  so

has  been ignored for the purposes  of IAS 33.

Bas ic EP S is  calculated by dividing the loss  aTributable to equity holders  of the company by the weighted

average number of O rdinary Shares  in issue during the period. Di luted EP S is  calculated by adjusBng the

weighted average number of O rdinary Shares  outstanding to assume convers ion of a l l  O rdinary Shares

Warrants  which would result in di lutive potentia l  Ordinary Shares.

As  more ful ly detai led in Note 29 and the RemuneraBon Report set out earl ier, I ncenBve Shares  in I nvestAcc

(BVI ) Limited have been issued. O n exercise, the value of these shares  is  expected to be del ivered by the

Company issuing new ordinary shares , and hence the I ncenBve Shares  could have a di luBve effect, a l though

the Company has  the right at a l l  Bmes to seTle such value in cash. W hi lst the I ncenBve Shares  can not

currently be redeemed as  the relevant cri teria  have not yet been met, as  the P referred Return has  been met the

I ncenBve Shares  do have value to the incenBve shareholders , and accordingly the esBmated number of

O rdinary Shares  that would need to be issued at 31 December 2024 to saBsfy the value of the LTI P  have been

included for the purposes  of di luted EP S.  Based on the incenBve value at 31 December 2024, the I ncenBve

Shares  would convert into 940,440 Ordinary Shares. 

Ordinary Profit / Loss per share

For the 6
months ended

31 December
2024

 
For the

year ended 30
June 2024

Profi t / (loss) attributable to owners  of the parent (£'s ) 1,337,075 (2,971,103)

Weighted average in issue 44,834,020 12,700,000

Basic profi t / (loss) per ordinary share (£'s ) 0.0298 (0.2339)

11.   EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE (CONTINUED)

Diluted Profit / Loss per share

Earnings  for the purpose of di luted earnings  per share 1,337,075 (2,971,103)

Number of shares 44,834,020 12,700,000

Effects  of potentia l  di lutive ordinary shares

Ordinary share warrants 700,000 -

Incentive Shares 960,440 -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  in issue
 

46,494,460
 

12,700,000
 

Di luted earnings  / (loss) per share 0.0288 (0.2339)
 

12.  SUBSIDIARIES

I nvestAcc Group Limited is  the parent company of the Group, the Group comprises  the fol lowing subs idiaries

as  at 31 December 2024:

Company name Nature of business Country of incorporation Ordinary Shares held

InvestAcc (BVI) Limited
(formerly MAC II (BVI) Incentive vehicle Bri tish Virgin Is lands 100%



(formerly MAC II (BVI)
Limited)

Incentive vehicle Bri tish Virgin Is lands 100%

InvestAcc UK Limited
(formerly MAC II UK
Limited)

Holding Company England 100%1

InvestAcc Holdings
Limited (formerly
InvestAcc Group Limited)

Holding Company England 100%1

InvestAcc Pens ion
Administration Limited

Pension administration England 100%1

InvestAcc Limited Financial  wealth advice England 100%1

Vesta Wealth Limited Financial  wealth advice England 100%1

InvestAcc Pens ion
Trustees  Limited

Pension Funding England 100%1

1Indirectly Held

The share capital  of I nvestAcc (BVI ) Limited (formerly M AC I I  (BVI ) Limited) cons ists  of both O rdinary Shares

and I ncenBve Shares. The I ncenBve Shares  are non-voBng and disclosed in more detai l  in Note 29. The

registered office of I nvestAcc (BVI ) Limited is  Commerce House, W ickhams Cay 1, P.O. Box 3140, Road Town,

Tortola, VG1110, BriBsh Virgin I s lands  and has  a  UK  Establ ishment address  at 11 Buckingham Street, London,

WC2N 6DF.

I nvestAcc UK  Limited (formerly M AC I I  UK  Limited) was  incorporated on 13 May 2024. The registered office of

InvestAcc UK Limited is  11 Buckingham Street, London, United Kingdom, WC2N 6DF.

The registered office of I nvestAcc Pens ion AdministraBon Limited and I nvestAcc Pens ion Trustees  Limited is

Solway House Bus iness  Park, Kingstown, Carl is le, England, CA6 4BY.

12.   SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

The registered office of I nvestAcc Limited and Vesta Wealth Limited is  Unit 2 The Sidings , Port Road Bus iness

Park, Carl is le, Cumbria, United Kingdom, CA2 7AF.

Three of the subs idiaries  within the group are authorised, and regulated, by the F inancial  Conduct Authori ty -

I nvestAcc Pens ion AdministraBon Limited, I nvestAcc Limited and Vesta Wealth Limited. As  part of their

regulatory requirements , there was a  combined regulatory capital  requirement of £2.4m. At 31 December 2024,

in aggregate, surplus  capital  balances  in the Group's  regulated enBBes amounted to 295% of the capital

requirement.

There are no other restricBons on the Group's  abi l i ty to access  or use the assets  and seTle the l iabi l iBes  of the

Group's  subs idiary.

O n 4 February 2025, a  further subs idiary was  incorporated in the BriBsh Virgin I s lands, I nvestAcc I H Limited,

which is  100% owned by InvestAcc (BVI) Limited.

13.  GOODWILL

 
  Total
  £'s
Cost   
At 1 July 2024 -

Recognised on the Acquis i tion of a  subs idiary (Note 26) 12,169,000
At 31 December 2024 12,169,000

Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 July 2024 -
Charge for the period -
At 31 December 2024 -

Net book value
At 31 December 2024 12,169,000

 

Goodwi l l  has  been al located to a  s ingle cash generaBng unit, defined as  the provis ion of pens ion advice to

cl ients  and related services . The Group tests  goodwi l l  annual ly for impairment, or more frequently i f there are

indicaBons that goodwi l l  might be impaired. I n making this  assessment the Directors  have cons idered the



fol lowing in determining the Fair value less  cost to sel l  to assess  the value of the CGU and by extens ion

Goodwi l l :

-     The Enterprise Value ("EV") of InvestAcc was  determined by uti l i s ing an EV / EBITDA multiple and a last
twelve months  ("LTM") EB I TDA, approximately £3.6m at the point the acquis iBon price was
determined. The most recent revenue and EB I TDA figures  are in excess  of the values  which were
determined to use the EV, approximately £4.0m, indicating the EV of the bus iness  is  now greater;

-     Market valuaBon mulBples  for precedent transacBons within the pens ion administraBon and wealth
management sectors  demonstrate an average EV/EBI TDA mulBple of 12.8x for transacBons between
£25m and £50m, vs  the EBITDA multiple used at acquis i tion of 10x;

-     Organic revenue growth within in the period from 1 October to 31 December was strong at 4-5% and is
cons idered the key driver of profi tabi l i ty given the recurring nature of the revenue; and

-     There were no regulatory, legal  or other environmental  factors  idenBfied that would suggest that an
impairment is  required.

The Directors  have not idenBfied any informaBon suggesBng these key assumpBons have materia l ly changed

in the period s ince the Acquis iBon. Their view of long-term growth rates  remains  the same, and the Group's

capital  s tructure has  not changed s ince the Acquis i tion and have concluded that no impairment is  required.

14.  INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

 
  Total
Cost  £'s
At 1 July 2024 -
Recognised on the Acquis i tion of a  subs idiary Group 13,354
Share of associates ' comprehensive income 2,805
At 31 December 2024 16,159

The Group holds  33% of the shares  in H GH Wealth Management Limited, a  company incorporated in England

and Wales  whose principal  activi ty i s  the provis ion of financial  planning advice.

The above represents  the Group's  share of the associates ' net assets  on an equity accounBng bas is . The

Group's  shares  of the associates ' comprehensive income is  included in the income statement.

The Group has  historical ly waived i ts  enBtlement to dividends in respect of i ts  interest in H GH Wealth

Management Limited.

This  results  in an adjustment to real ign the Group's  share of net assets  each year (effecBvely represenBng i ts

share of the reducBon in net assets  aris ing from the dividends). This  i s  shown separately above but is

deducted from the Group's  share of profits  and losses  shown in the income statement. No dividends have been

declared or paid in the period from acquis i tion to 31 December 2024.

 

15.  OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 
 Customer relationships  Brand  Total
 Pension

Administration
 Wealth

Management
 Appointed

representative
    

 £'s  £'s  £'s  £'s  £'s
Cost          
At 1 July 2024 - - - - -

Acquis i tion of
subs idiary 20,755,434 3,492,397 237,916 1,374,724 25,860,471
Additions - - - - -
At 31 December
2024 20,755,434 3,492,397 237,916 1,374,724 25,860,471

Amortisation
At 1 July 2024 - - - - -
Charge for the
period (309,942) (52,944) (5,410) (31,261) (399,557)
At 31 December



At 31 December
2024 (309,942) (52,944) (5,410) (31,261) (399,557)

Net book value
At 31 December
2024 20,445,492  3,439,453  232,506  1,343,463  25,460,914

 

15.  OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

 

The Company has  recognised customer relaBonships  as  i t has  demonstrated historic benefits  from strong

customer retenBon, evidenced by a  low historic and current aTriBon rate, parBcularly with insBtuBonal

cl ients , such as  employers . This  i s  largely aTributable to the sBckiness  of i ts  contracts , which foster long-term

relaBonships . The esBmated useful  l i fe of these amounts  is  15 years  for both Pens ion AdministraBon Services

and Wealth Management Services  and 10 years  for Appointed Representative Services . 

 
The Company has  recognised a value aTributable to the I nvestAcc Brand, as  I nvestAcc is  a  mulB-award-
winning plaOorm recognized for i ts  abi l i ty to drive growth and del iver value to i ts  customers. The plaOorm's
reputaBon in the market conBnues to contribute pos iBvely to the Company's  financial  performance and
growth prospect. The Brand value has  an estimated useful  l i fe of 10 years .

 

16.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 
    Fixtures and

fittings
 Motor

vehicles
 Leasehold

Improvements
 Total

    £'s  £'s  £'s  £'s
Cost           
At 1 July 2024  - - - -
Acquis i tion of
subs idiary

 102,923 311,734 492,691 907,348

Additions  14,568 - 223,848 238,416
At 31 December 2024  117,491 311,734 716,539 1,145,764

 
Depreciation  
At 1 July 2024  - - - -
Charge for the period  8,586 16,336 22,478 47,400
At 31 December 2024  8,586 16,336 22,478 47,400

 
Net book value  
At 31 December 2024 108,905  295,398  694,061  1,098,364

 

 

17.  RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

 
      Property  Total
      £'s  £'s
Cost         
At 1 July 2024  - -
Acquis i tion of
subs idiary

 471,691 471,691

Additions  24,271 24,271
At 31 December 2024  495,962 495,962

  
Amortisation   
At 1 July 2024  - -
Charge for the period  32,456 32,456
At 31 December 2024  32,456 32,456

 
Net book value  
At 31 December 2024  463,506  463,506

 



18.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at
31 December

2024

 As at
30 June

2024
£'s  £'s

Amounts receivable within one year:
Trade receivables 276,528 -
Prepayments 290,293 104,769
Deferred costs - 903,127
Due from related party - 1
Other receivables 14,873 -
VAT receivable 125,297 62,062

706,991  1,069,959

 

Trade and other receivables  above are stated net of expected credit loss  ('ECL') provis ions  where necessary,

which are calculated us ing the s impl ified approach grouping trade receivables  on the bas is  of their shared

credit risk characteristics .

Trade receivables  are regularly reviewed for bad and doubOul  debts . The Group's  pol icy is  to include a

provis ion for impairment based on esBmated credit losses . This  includes  an assessment where relevant of

forward-looking informaBon on macroeconomic factors  that may affect the abi l i ty of customers  to seTle

receivables . Trade receivables  are wriTen off where there is  no reasonable expectaBon or recovery, for

example where the customer has  entered insolvency proceedings  or where a customer has  fa i led to make

contractual  payments  for an extended period. As  part of this  assessment, the Group also cons iders  the

l ikel ihood of any credit losses  occurring in future based on previous  experience and knowledge of the

respective customers.

Trade and other receivables  are a l l  current and any fa ir value difference is  not materia l . Trade and other

receivables  are assessed for impairment based upon the expected credit losses  model . I n order to manage

credit risk, the Directors  set l imits  for customers  based on a combinaBon of payment history and third-party

credit references. Credit l imits  are reviewed on a regular bas is  in conjuncBon with debt ageing and col lecBon

history.

The Directors  bel ieve the credit risk aTached to i ts  customer base is  minimal , as  such have taken the EC L

percentage as  ni l .

The maturi ty analys is  of trade receivables  is

 

  < 1 month  1-2 months  2-3 months  > 3 months  Total
£'s  £'s  £'s  £'s  £'s

31 December 2024 78,213 19,757 5,700 172,858 276,528
 

The expected credit loss  rate on al l  ageing columns above is  0%. Amounts  over 3 months  old mostly relate to

pension administraBon services . These are not cons idered impaired as  col lecBon of the relevant fees  is

awaiBng l iquidity in the underlying fund, which wi l l  occur at an unspecified future point. I nstances  of non-

col lection of these fees  are very rare.

19.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
As at

31 December
2024

 As at
30 June

2024
£'s  £'s

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank 13,424,847 6,461,475
 
 

13,424,847  6,461,475

Credit risk i s  managed on a group bas is . Credit risk arises  from cash and cash equivalents  and deposits  with

banks  and financial  insBtuBons. For banks  and financial  insBtuBons, only independently rated parBes  with a

minimum short-term credit rating of B, as  i ssued by Fi tch, are accepted in the period.



 

20.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

As at
31 December

2024

 As at
30 June

2024
£'s  £'s

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade payables 213,110 376,645
Due to a  related party (Note 30) 6,434,230 635,213
Accruals 761,875 1,866,209
Other tax l iabi l i ties 162,706 43,456
Other creditors 89,614 623,615
A1 ordinary share l iabi l i ty (Note 29) 65,400 65,400

7,726,935  3,610,538

There is  no materia l  di fference between the book value and the fa ir value of the trade and other payables .

Al l  trade payables  are non-interest bearing and are usual ly paid within 30 days.

 

21.  PROVISIONS

As at
31 December

2024
£'s

Cost
As at 1 July 2024 -
Additions 54,624
As at 31 December 2024 54,624

 

The provis ion represents  bonus due to W i l l  Sel f that has  been deferred. This  bonus is  due to be paid in equal

instalments  in March 2026 and March 2027, and represents  50% of the bonus to which he is  enBtled and

expected socia l  securi ty costs .

 

22.  DEFERRED TAX

As at
31 December

2024

 As at
30 June

2024
£'s  £'s

 
Deferred tax l iabi l i ty (6,539,736) -
Deferred tax asset 2,896,518 -

(3,643,218) -
Movement in deferred tax liability
Acquis i tion of a  subs idiary (6,463,502) -
Other temporary di fferences (76,234) -

(6,539,736) -
Movement in deferred tax asset
Credit to P&L on recognition of losses 2,819,784 -
Accelerated capital  a l lowances  and other temp di fferences 76,734 -

2,896,518  -

 

23.  LEASES

The Group leases  properBes  and certain i tems of fixtures  and fiVngs. W ith the excepBon of short-term leases

and leases  of low value underlying assets , each lease is  reflected on the balance sheet as  a  right-of-use asset

(Note 17) and a lease l iabi l i ty.

The Group has  recognised 3 property leases  in the period ended 31 December 2024. P roperty leases  relate to

s i tes  that are used as  offices as  part of the Group's  normal  operaBons. There are no variable payments  or

extens ion and termination options  in existence that require recognition under IFRS 16.

Al l  future cashflows are included. The leases  are not subject to rent reviews.

The Group has  used the interest rate impl ici t in the lease for the office equipment lease where the capital  value



i s  readi ly avai lable. For property leases , the Companies  have used an incremental  borrowing rate of 3%,

reflecBng the interest rate that would be cons idered to be avai lable on borrowing from third party lenders  on

s imi lar assets . I n undertaking the calculaBons for the property leases, the Group has  uBl ised the pracBcal

expedient in I F RS 16 to use a  s ingle discount rate across  a  porOol io of leases  with s imi lar arrangements . The

Leases  do not include any res idual  value guarantees  or restrictive covenants .

Amounts  recognised in the Combined Statement of Financial  Pos ition relating to leases  are:

Right-of-use assets

£'s
Net book value
At 1 July 2024 -
Acquired with Subs idiary 471,691
Additional  lease 24,271
Amortisation charge for the period (32,456)
At 31 December 2024 463,506

 

23.   LEASES (CONTINUED)

Maturity analysis

As at 31 December
2024

£'s

  As at 30 June
2024

£'s
Due within one year 117,914 -
Due within one to five years 365,515 -

483,429 -

 

Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

The Consol idated Statement of Comprehensive Income shows the fol lowing amounts  relating to leases:

For the 6 months
ended 31 December

2024
£'s

 For the year ended
30 June

2024
£'s

Depreciation charge of right-of-use asset 32,456 -
Interest expenses  (within finance costs) 10,550 -

43,006 -

 

Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the 6 months
ended 31 December

2024
£'s

 For the year
ended 30 June

2024
£'s

Cash outflows 38,252 -
38,252 -

 
Low value leases and short-term leases

The Group has  no leases  for which the low value or short-term exemptions  of IFRS 16 has  been appl ied.

24.  WARRANT LIABILITY

£'s
Fair value of warrants at 1 July 2023 2,667,000
Fair value movement of warrants:
Warrant liability - ordinary warrants

 

Warrant l iabi l i ty - Ordinary Shares  Warrants 21,000
Warrant l iabi l i ty - A Warrants (600,000)
Total fair value movement (579,000)
Fair value of warrants at 30 June 2024 2,088,000
  
Transfer of warrants on cancellation to equity:
Warrant liability - ordinary warrants
Warrant l iabi l i ty - Ordinary Shares  Warrants (168,000)
Warrant l iabi l i ty - A Warrants (1,680,000)



Fair value movement (240,000)
Fair value of warrants at 31 December 2024  -
   

24.   WARRANT LIABILITY (CONTINUED)

On 4 December 2020, the Company issued 700,000 Ordinary Shares  and matching warrants  at a  price of £1 for

one ordinary share and matching warrant. Under the terms of the warrant instrument ("Warrant Instrument"),

warrant holders  are able to acquire one ordinary share per warrant at a  price of £1 per ordinary share,

subject to a  downward price adjustment depending on future share issues  prior to or in conjuncBon with the

Company's  acquis i tions.

O n 20 Apri l  2021, the Company issued 12,000,000 A shares  and matching warrants  at a  price of £1 for one A

share and matching A warrant instrument. Under the terms of the A warrant instrument ("A  Warrant

Instrument"), warrant holders  are able to acquire one ordinary share per warrant at a  price of £1 per ordinary

share, subject to a  downward price adjustment depending on future share issues.

EffecBve 31 March 2022, both the Warrant I nstrument and A Warrant I nstrument were amended such that the

long stop date was extended to the fiWh anniversary of an iniBal  acquis iBon by a  member of the Group (which

may be in the form of a  merger, share exchange, asset acquis iBon, share or debt purchase, reorganisaBon or

s imi lar transacBon) of a  bus iness .  I n conjuncBon with the Acquis iBon, the A Warrants  were cancel led,

leaving only the O rdinary Shares  Warrants  in issue.  O n 9 O ctober 2024 the Company completed i ts  iniBal

acquis iBon, and accordingly, the O rdinary Shares  Warrants  were ful ly vested and are now exercisable for 5

years  from the date of the Acquis i tion.

I n the period from issuance to 30 June 2024, warrants  were accounted for as  level  3 derivaBve l iabi l i ty

instruments  and were measured at fa i r value at grant date and each subsequent balance sheet date. The

Warrant I nstrument and A Warrant I nstruments  were separately valued at the date of grant. For both the

O rdinary Shares  Warrants  and A Warrants , the combined market value of one share and one warrant was

considered to be £1, in l ine with the market price paid by third party investors . A Black-Scholes  opBon pricing

methodology was used to determine the fa ir value, which cons idered the exercise prices , expected volaBl i ty,

risk free rate, expected dividends and expected term.

For the year ended 30 June 2024 a different approach to valuing the O rdinary Shares  Warrants  and A warrants

has  been used. I n years  prior to 30 June 2024, both the O rdinary Shares  Warrants  and O rdinary Share and A

warrant and A share have been valued at a  combined price of £1. At 30 June 2024, the market value of £1 per

ordinary share has  been used, being the price that the New O rdinary Shares  were subscribed for without any

matching warrants . As  the A shares  were converted into O rdinary Shares , and the matching A warrants

surrendered and cancel led on 4 July 2024 i t was  not appropriate to value the A shares  at £1 at 30 June 2024,

instead, the Company continued to use an aggregate value of £1 for an A share and A Warrant.

At 30 June 2024, the fa ir value of the Warrant I nstrument was  assessed as  24p per warrant and the fa ir value

of the A Warrant I nstrument was  assessed as  16p per warrant. The result of change in fa i r value of the

warrants  was  a  fa i r value gain of £579,000 (2023: loss  of £254,000). The Directors  were responsible for

determining the fa ir value of the warrants  at each reporBng date, the underlying calculaBons are prepared by

Deloitte LLP.

O n 4 July 2024, the Company announced the successful  placing of and subscripBon for 30 mi l l ion New

O rdinary Shares , at a  price of £1 per share. O n this  date the Company also announced that the 12,000,000 A

Warrants  then in issue have been surrendered and cancel led. The cumulaBve unreal ised gain of £240,000

relaBng to A warrants  then in issue has  been taken to the profit and loss  as  a  fa i r value gain, the iniBal  fa i r

value ascribed to the A warrants  has  been transferred to the warrant cancel lation reserve within equity.

As  the new ordinary shares  were issued at £1 each, this  supported the Directors ' view that the downward

adjustment clause in the Warrant I nstrument is  highly unl ikely to be relevant and therefore that the warrants

meet the fixed for fixed cri teria  of I AS 32. Accordingly, the O rdinary Shares  Warrants  were reclass ified to

equity on 4 July 2024 at their fa i r value at 30 June 2024 and therefore wi l l  no longer be revalued at each

period end date. The O rdinary Shares  Warrants  are potenBal ly di luBve and have been included in the EP S

calculation.



25.  STATED CAPITAL

£'s  Number

Ordinary Shares   
At 30 June 2024 326,700 700,000
Shares  issued for cash* 29,096,873 30,000,000
Consideration Shares  (Note 26) 6,150,911 6,150,911
Convers ion of A shares 10,320,000 12,000,000
Total 45,894,484  48,850,911

*Shares  issued for cash are stated net of £903,127 transaction costs  (previous ly included as  deferred costs).

£'s  Number

A Shares   
At 30 June 2024 10,320,000 12,000,000

Convers ion to ordinary shares (10,320,000) (12,000,000)

Clos ing balance -  -

 

Under the Company's  Memorandum of AssociaBon, the Company is  authorised to issue an unl imited number

of ordinary shares  and 100 Sponsor Shares  of no par value, divided into five classes  as  fol lows:

·      an unl imited number of Ordinary Shares  without par value

·      an unl imited number of class  A ordinary shares  without par value

·      an unl imited number of class  B ordinary shares  without par value

·      an unl imited number of class  C ordinary redeemable shares  without par value

·      100 Sponsor Shares  without par value

 

The O rdinary Shares  and A shares  are enBtled to receive a  share in any distribuBon paid by the Company and

a right to a  share in the distribuBon of the surplus  assets  of the Company on a winding-up. O nly O rdinary

Shares  have voBng rights  aTached. The Sponsor Share confers  upon the holder no right to receive noBce and

aTend and vote at any meeBng of members , no right to any distribuBon paid by the Company and no right to a

share in the distribuBon of the surplus  assets  of the Company on a summary winding-up. P rovided the holder

of the Sponsor Share holds  directly or indirectly 5 per cent. or more of the issued and outstanding shares  of

the Company (of whatever class  other than any Sponsor Shares), they have the right to appoint one Director to

the Board.

The Company must receive the prior consent of the holder of the Sponsor Share, where the holder of the

Sponsor Share holds  directly or indirectly 5 per cent. or more of the issued and outstanding shares  of the

Company, in order to:

•              Issue any further Sponsor Shares;

•              I ssue any class  of shares  on a non pre-empBve bas is  where the Company would be required to issue

such share pre-empBvely i f i t were incorporated under the UK  Companies  Act 2006 and acBng in

accordance with the Pre-Emption Group's  Statement of Principles ; or

•              Amend, a l ter or repeal  any exisBng, or introduce any new share-based compensaBon or incenBve

scheme in respect of the Group; and

•              Take any acBon that would not be permiTed (or would only be permiTed aWer an affirmaBve

shareholder vote) i f the Company were admitted to the Premium Segment of the Officia l  List.

25.   STATED CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

The Sponsor Share also confers  upon the holder the right to require that: (i ) any purchase of O rdinary Shares;

or (i i ) the Company's  abi l i ty to amend the Memorandum and ArBcles , be subject to a  specia l  resoluBon of

members  whi lst the Sponsor (or an individual  holder of a  Sponsor Share) holds  directly or indirectly 5 per



cent. or more of the issued and outstanding shares  of the Company (of whatever class  other than any Sponsor

Shares) or are a  holder of Incentive Shares.

As  set out in Note 24, the A shares  were converted into O rdinary Shares  effecBve 4 July 2024 and therefore at

the date of this  report, the Company no longer has  any A shares  in issue.

 

26.  BUSINESS ACQUISITION

O n 9 O ctober 2024, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital  and voBng equity interests  of I nvestAcc

Holdings  Limited for £41.5 mi l l ion, represenBng an enterprise value of approximately £36 mi l l ion on a cash-

free-debt-free bas is . The Acquis iBon was funded via  a  £30 mi l l ion insBtuBonal  placing and subscripBon

(effecBve 4 July 2024) of which cash of £29,210,495 was paid a longs ide the issue of 6,150,911 ConsideraBon

Shares  issued at a  value of £1.00 per share, with an addiBonal  cash payment to sel lers  of £6,150,911

fol lowing completion, of which £6,150,911 has been paid s ince 31 December 2024.

The principal  reason for the Acquis iBon was to provide the plaOorm business  to support the Company's

pursuit of i ts  strategy to bui ld the UK 's  leading special is t pens ions  administraBon bus iness  in the publ ic

markets  with an ini tia l  focus  on the sel f-invested personal  pens ion segment.

I n the period from 9 O ctober 2024 to 31 December 2024, the acquired bus iness  contributed £2,532,329 to

Group revenues, and a profit of £1,166,000 to the Group's  comprehensive income. The Company and I nvestAcc

have both changed the end of their reporBng periods  to 31 December to a l ign, as  a  result the Directors

consider i t impracBcal  create a  12 month period from January to December as  the data to do so is  not readi ly

avai lable.

I nvestAcc Holdings  Limited's  latest financial  year end, prior to Acquis iBon, was  31 O ctober 2023. O n

Acquis iBon the Group extended the period ended due 31 O ctober 2024 to 31 December 2024, to a l ign with the

Group accounBng period end. The results  of the I nvestAcc Holdings  Limited group have been consol idated in

these consol idated financial  s tatements  for the period from 9 October 2024 to 31 December 2024.

The fol lowing table summarises  the fa ir value of assets  acquired, and l iabi l iBes  assumed at the Acquis iBon

date. There were no differences  idenBfied between the book value and the fa ir value of assets  and l iabi l iBes

acquired other than intangible assets

26.   BUSINESS ACQUISITION (CONTINUED)

Fair value

£'s
Property, plant and equipment 907,348
Right of use assets 471,691
Trade and other receivables 263,316
Contract assets 451,331
Investment in associates 13,354
Cash 10,196,099
Trade and other payables (354,612)
Current tax payable 484,752
Lease l iabi l i ties (487,956)
Deferred tax l iabi l i ty (6,463,502)  
Contract l iabi l i ties (1,998,975)
Customer relationships 24,485,747
Brand 1,374,724
Total fair value 29,343,317
Consideration 41,512,317
Goodwill 12,169,000

The cons ideraBon of £41,512,317 comprises  of 6,150,911 ConsideraBon Shares  issued at a  value of £1.00 per

share and the remaining £35,361,406 as  cash cons ideration.

The goodwi l l  of £12,169,000 comprises  the potenBal  value of addiBonal  synergies  which is  not separately

recognised. Acquis iBon related costs  of £199,564 have been charged to the Consol idated Statement of

Comprehensive Income within administration expenses  in the period to 31 December 2024.

27.  RESERVES

The fol lowing describes  the nature and purpose of each reserve within shareholders ' equity:



The fol lowing describes  the nature and purpose of each reserve within shareholders ' equity:

Accumulated losses

Cumulative losses  recognised in the Consol idated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Share based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve is  the cumulaBve amount recognised in relaBon to the equity-seTled share-

based payment scheme as  further described in Note 29.

Warrant cancellation reserve

Warrant cancel laBon reserve is  the cumulaBve fa ir value of warrants  cancel led that are not over O rdinary

Shares. The current value of the reserve represents  the fa ir value of warrants  over A Shares  at cancel lation.

28.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS

The fa ir value measurement of the Group's  financial  and non-financial  assets  and l iabi l iBes  uBl iBes  market

observable inputs  and data as  far as  poss ible. I nputs  used in determining fa ir value measurements  are

categorised into different levels  based on how observable the inputs  used in the valuaBon technique uBl ised

are (the "fair value hierarchy"):

Level  1: Quoted prices  in active markets  for identical  i tems;

Level  2: Observable direct or indirect inputs  other than Level  1 inputs ; and

Level  3: Unobservable inputs , thus  not derived from market data.

28.   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS (CONTINUED)

The class ificaBon of an i tem into the above levels  i s  based on the lowest level  of the inputs  used that has  a

s ignificant effect on the fa ir value measurement of the i tem. Transfers  of i tems between levels  are recognised

in the year they occur.

The Group has  the fol lowing categories  of financial  instruments  as  at 31 December 2024:

As at
31 December

2024

As at
30 June

2024
£'s £'s

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents  (Note 19) 13,424,847 6,461,475
Due from related party (Note 30) - 1
Trade receivables  (Note 18) 276,528 -
Other receivables  (Note 18) 14,873 -
 13,716,248  6,461,476
  
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  
Trade payables  (Note 20) 213,110 376,645
Due to related party (Note 30) 6,434,230 635,213
Accruals  (Note 20) 761,875 1,866,209
Other creditors  (Note 20) 89,614 623,068
A1 ordinary share l iabi l i ty (Note 29) 65,400 65,400
 7,564,229  3,567,082
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss  
Warrant Liabi l i ty (Note 24) - 2,088,000
 -  2,088,000

 

Al l  financial  instruments  are class ified as  current assets  and current l iabi l iBes.  There are no non-current

financial  instruments  as  at 31 December 2024.

For detai ls  of the fa ir value hierarchy, valuaBon techniques, and s ignificant unobservable inputs  related to

determining the fa ir value of the warrant l iabi l i ty at the prior year end, which was class ified in level  3 of the

fair value hierarchy, refer to Note 24.

The Group's  risk management pol icies  are establ ished to idenBfy and analyse the risks  faced by the Group, to

set appropriate risk l imits  and controls , and to monitor risks  and adherence l imits . Risk management pol icies

and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes  in market conditions  and the Group's  activi ties .

Treasury acBviBes  are managed on a Group bas is  under pol icies  and procedures  approved and monitored by

the Board. These are focussed on maximis ing the interest earned by the Group on i ts  cash deposits  (refer Note

19) through effecBve management of the amount avai lable to be placed on deposit being cognisant of the

ongoing working capital  requirements  of the Group.  Any movement in interest rates  wi l l  not have a s ignificant

effect on the Group or i ts  abi l i ty to conBnue to pursue i ts  stated strategy and such movements  are therefore



effect on the Group or i ts  abi l i ty to conBnue to pursue i ts  stated strategy and such movements  are therefore

not cons idered to be a materia l  ri sk to the Group.

The Group has  cons idered the main risks  associated with financial  instruments: market risk, credit risk and

l iquidity risk.  Market risk mainly arises  for the pens ion bus iness  and is  primari ly borne by underlying

customers.  Market risk across  the non-pension bus iness  is  managed through divers ificaBon and monitoring

of market condiBons.  Credit risk arises  from potenBal  default by counterparBes, including banks.  This  i s

managed through l imit setting and due di l igence on counterparties . 

28.   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk i s  the risk that the group has  insufficient l iquid financial  resources  to enable i t to meet i ts

obl igaBons as  they fa l l  due.  This  i s  managed through maintaining a  balance of l iquid assets  and monitoring

future cash flow forecasts .

As  the Group's  financial  instruments  are predominantly cash and cash equivalents , market risk, l iquidity risk

and amount due to related parBes  are not currently cons idered to be materia l  ri sks  to the Group.  The Group

manages  and miBgates  any risks  in accordance with the pol icy set out above.  The Group does  not currently

engage in any hedging activi ty to further mitigate any res idual  risks .

The Directors  have reviewed the risk of holding a  s ingular concentraBon of assets  as  predominantly a l l  credit

assets  held are cash and cash equivalents , however, do not deem this  a  materia l  ri sk.  Al l  cash and cash

equivalents  being held with banks  and financial  insBtuBons, with a  minimum short-term credit raBng of B, as

issued by Fi tch.

29.  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Management Long Term Incentive Arrangements

The Group has  put in place a  Long-Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP"), to ensure al ignment between Shareholders , and

those responsible for del ivering the Company's  strategy enabl ing the Company to aTract and retain the best

executive management ta lent.

The LTI P  wi l l  only reward the parBcipants  i f shareholder value is  created. This  ensures  a l ignment of the

interests  of management directly with those of Shareholders .

O n incepBon of the LTI P, "Incen<ve Shares" were issued by the Company's  subs idiary to Marwyn Long Term

I ncenBve LP  ("MLTI"). O n 17 June 2022, the I ncenBve Shares  in the Company's  subs idiary were redes ignated

into A1 Ordinary Shares  ("A1 Shares") and A2 Ordinary Shares  ("A2 Shares") and the I ncenBve shares  issued to

MLTI were redes ignated as  A2 Shares.

Mark Hodges, W i l l  Sel f, and James Pearce were issued A1 Shares  on 19 June 2022, 5 June 2023, and 22 May

2024 respecBvely.  James Pearce's  shares  were transferred to the Company for £0.01 per share in conjuncBon

with his  res ignaBon on 19 December 2024 and were held in treasury.  Fol lowing the balance sheet date, these

shares  were transferred back to the Company's  subs idiary and cancel led.  There were further changes  to the

holdings  of incenBve shares  fol lowing the period end date which are set out in  the RemuneraBon Report on

page 42 and Note 33.

Preferred Return

The incenBve arrangements  are subject to the Company's  shareholders  achieving a  preferred return. The

preferred return is  10 percent per annum on a compounded bas is  on the capital  they have invested from Bme

to Bme (with dividends and returns  of capital  being treated as  a  reducBon in the amount invested at the

relevant time) (the "Preferred Return"). The LTI P  including the P referred Return are described in the prospectus

avai lable on the Company's  website (https://investaccgroup.com/investors).

Incentive Value

Subject to a  number of provis ions  detai led below, i f the P referred Return and at least one of the vesBng

condiBons have been met, the holders  of the I ncenBve Shares  can give noBce to redeem their I ncenBve Shares

for Ordinary Shares  in the Company ("Ordinary Shares") for an aggregate value equivalent to 20 per cent. of the

"Growth", where Growth means the excess  of the total  equity value of the Company and other shareholder

returns  over and above i ts  aggregate paid up share capital  (20 per cent. of the Growth being the "Incentive

Value").

https://investaccgroup.com/investors/shareholder-information/default.aspx


Grant date

The grant date of the Incentive Shares  wi l l  be the date that such shares  are issued.

 

29.   SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Service Conditions and Leaver Provisions

There are leaver provis ions  in relaBon to the A1 Shares  which are set out in the subscripBon agreements

entered into between the holders  of the A1 Shares , the Company and InvestAcc (BVI) Limited.

I f the holder leaves  in ci rcumstances  in which he or she is  deemed to be a "Good L eaver" (being any reason

other than a bad leaver ci rcumstance), then the holder of the A1 Shares  wi l l  be enBtled to the vested porBon of

the A1 Shares  and in respect of the remainder of the A1 Shares  the holder wi l l  be required to enter into

documentaBon under which, at the elecBon of the Company or I nvestAcc (BVI ) Limited, the remainder of the A1

Shares  wi l l  be compulsori ly redeemed or acquired at the lower of the (i ) the subscripBon price, (i i ) the market

value for such A1 Shares  or the A1 Shares  may be converted into Ordinary Shares  in the Company, or (i i i ) £0.01

(as  set out in the relevant subscripBon leTer). Any holder deemed to be a "Bad Leaver" (such as  terminaBon of

employment for gross  misconduct, fraud or criminal  acts) wi l l  be required to sel l  his  A1 Shares  back to

I nvestAcc (BVI ) Limited or the Company for a  total  cons ideraBon of £0.01. As  there are condiBons relaBng to

certain subscripBons whereby the unvested porBon of the A1 Shares  can be redeemed or acquired at the lower

of the (i ) the subscripBon price or (i i ) the market value for such A1 Shares , the amount received on the issue of

those A1 Shares  is  recognised as  a  l iabi l i ty In the Financial  Statements .

Redemption / Exercise

Unless  otherwise determined and subject to the redempBon condiBons having been met, the Company and the

holders  of the I ncenBve Shares  have the right to exchange each I ncenBve Share for O rdinary Shares , which wi l l

be di luBve to the interests  of the holders  of O rdinary Shares. However, i f the Company has  sufficient cash

resources  and the Company so determines, the I ncenBve Shares  may instead be redeemed for cash. I t i s

currently expected that in the ordinary course I ncenBve Shares  wi l l  be exchanged for O rdinary Shares.

However, the Company retains  the right but not the obl igaBon to redeem the I ncenBve Shares  for cash instead.

Circumstances  where the Company may exercise this  right include, but are not l imited to, where the Company

is  not authorised to issue additional  Ordinary Shares  or on the winding-up or takeover of the Company.

Any holder of I ncenBve Shares  who exercises  their I ncenBve Shares  prior to other holders  is  enBtled to their

proporBon of the I ncenBve Value to the date that they exercise but no more. Their proporBon is  determined by

the number of Incentive Shares  they hold relative to the total  number of i ssued shares  of the same class .

Vesting Conditions and Vesting Period

The I ncenBve Shares  are subject to certain vesBng condiBons, at least one of which must be (and conBnue to

be) saBsfied in order for a  holder of I ncenBve Shares  to exercise i ts  redempBon right.  The vesBng condiBons

are as  fol lows:

i .              I t i s  later than the third anniversary of the iniBal  acquis iBon and earl ier than the seventh

anniversary of the Acquis i tion;

i i .       A sale of a l l  or substanBal ly a l l  of the revenue or net assets  of the bus iness  of the Subs idiary in

combinaBon with the distribuBon of the net proceeds of that sale to the Company and then to i ts

shareholders ;

i i i .          A sale of a l l  of the issued O rdinary Shares  of the Subs idiary or a  merger of the Subs idiary in

combinaBon with the distribuBon of the net proceeds of that sale or merger to the Company's

shareholders ;

iv.        W here by corporate acBon or otherwise, the Company effects  an in-specie distribuBon of a l l  or

substantia l ly a l l  of the assets  of the Group to the Company's  shareholders ;

v.             Aggregate cash dividends and cash capital  returns  to the Company's  Shareholders  are greater than or

equal  to aggregate subscription proceeds received by the Company;

vi .            A winding-up of the Company;



vi i .           A winding-up of the Subs idiary; or

vi i i .          A sale, merger or change of control  of the Company.

29.   SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

I f any of the vesBng condiBons described in paragraphs (i i ) to (vi i i ) above are saBsfied before the third

anniversary of the ini tia l  acquis i tion, the Incentive Shares  wi l l  be treated as  having vested in ful l .

Holding of Incentive Shares

M LTI , Mark Hodges  and W i l l  Sel f at the balance sheet date hold I ncenBve Shares  enBtl ing them in aggregate to

100 per cent. of the I ncenBve Value. Amendments  to the I ncenBve Share holdings  were made fol lowing the

balance sheet date and are detai led on page 42 and set out in Note 29.

The fol lowing shares  were in issue to management and MLTI at 31 December 2024:

Issue date Name

Share
des ignation
at balance
sheet date

Nominal
Price

Issue
price per
A
ordinary
share

£'s

Number
of A
Ordinary
Shares

Unrestricted
market value
at grant date
£'s

IFRS 2
Fair
value

£'s

25 November 2020 MLTI A2 £0.01 7.50 2,000 15,000 169,960

19 June 2022 Mark
Hodges

A1 £0.01 23.50 2,000 47,000 166,275

5 June 2023 Wil l
Sel f

A1 £0.01 23.00 800 18,400 60,000

O n 19 December 2024, the Company entered into a  transfer agreement with James Pearce under which James

transferred his  400 A1 Shares  to the Company to be held in treasury. As  disclosed in the Directors '

RemuneraBon Report and in the Post Balance Sheet Event Note 33, the 400 A1 Shares  previous ly i ssued to

James Pearce, were subsequently transferred to I nvestAcc (BVI ) Limited by the Company and cancel led on 31

January 2025. O n 31 January 2025, Vinoy Nurs iah was issued 400 A1 Shares  and the number of A1 Shares

issued to Mark Hodges  and Wi l l  Sel f was  amended as  set out in the Remuneration Report on page 42.

Valuation of Incentive Shares

ValuaBons were performed by DeloiTe LLP  us ing a  Monte Carlo model  to ascertain the unrestricted market

value and the fa ir value at grant date. Detai ls  of the valuaBon methodology and esBmates  and judgements

used in determining the fa ir value are noted herewith and were in accordance with IFRS 2 at grant date. 

There are s ignificant esBmates  and assumpBons used in the valuaBon of the I ncenBve Shares. Management

considered at the grant date, the probabi l i ty of a  successful  first Bus iness  Acquis iBon by the Company and the

potentia l  range of value for the Incentive Shares , based on the ci rcumstances  on the grant date.

The cumulaBve unrestricted market value at grant date is  equal  to the tax paid value of the shares. Under the

terms of their subscripBon agreements , the tax value paid by Mark Hodges  and W i l l  Sel f on the subscripBons

set out in the table above is  payable to them in certain ci rcumstances; accordingly, the cumulaBve

unrestricted market value at grant date of their A1 shares , £65,400, i s  recognised as  an A share l iabi l i ty (30

June 2024: £65,400), being the tax paid value of the shares. The fa ir value of the I ncenBve Shares  granted

under the scheme was calculated us ing a  Monte Carlo model  with the fol lowing inputs :  

Issue date Name

Share
des ignation at
balance sheet

date Volati l i ty Risk-free rate
Expected term*

(years)
25 November 2020 MLTI A2 25% 0.0% 7.0
19 June 2022 Mark Hodges A1 30% 2.2% 7.1
5 June 2023 Wil l  Sel f A1 30% 4.4% 7.2



29.   SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

*The expected term assumes that the Incentive Shares are exercised 7 years post-acquisition.

The I ncenBve Shares  are subject to the P referred Return being achieved, which is  a  market performance

condiBon, and as  such has  been taken into cons ideraBon in determining their fa i r value. The model

incorporates  a  range of probabi l i ties  for the l ikel ihood of a  Bus iness  Acquis i tion being made of a  given s ize.

Expense related to Incentive Shares

An expense of £21,755 (30 June 2024: £43,510) has  been recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

in respect of the I ncenBve Shares  in issue during the period. There is  a  service condiBon associated with the

shares  issued to both Mark Hodges  and W i l l  Sel f which requires  the fa ir value charge associated with these

shares  to be al located over the minimum vesBng period. These vesBng periods  are esBmated to be 4.0 years

and 3.04 years  respectively from the date of grant.

Under the terms of James Pearce's  subscripBon leTer, the A1 Shares  that he has  subscribed for would be

transferred to the Company at a  price of 1p per share should James not be made a permanent employee of the

Group prior to the expiraBon of his  fixed term contract.  As  James res igned on 19 December 2024, the transfer

of his  shares  back to the Company was approved at that date.  Fol lowing the period end date, the shares  were

transferred back to I nvestAcc (BVI ) Limited and cancel led, in conjuncBon with the further incenBve share

issuances  as  set out in Note 29.

There are no service condiBons aTached to the M LTI  shares  and as  result the fa ir value at grant date was

expensed to the profi t and loss  account on issue.

30.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

James Corsel l i s  has  served as  a  Director of the Company during the year and AntoineTe Vanderpui je is  the

Company Secretary of the Company.

The Company issued 30 mi l l ion New O rdinary Shares  on 4 July 2024, of which 16,688,667 were issued to

Marwyn Investment Management LLP ("MIM LLP"), of which James Corsel l i s  i s  the Chief I nvestment O fficer, and

AntoineTe Vanderpui je is  a  partner. As  part of this  transacBon the 12,000,000 A shares  in issue were

converted to O rdinary Shares  and the matching A warrants  surrendered and cancel led. As  a  result, as  at the

date of this  report M I M LLP  manages  59.8% of O rdinary Shares  in the Company. There were no balances

outstanding or due to M I M LLP  as  at 31 December 2024 (30 June 2024: £73,068), with the balance outstanding

in the comparative period being for funds  received for shares  to be issued.

For the period ended 31 December 2024, £50,000 of shares  were issued to W i l l  Sel f for the funds  received

prior to end of the 30 June 2024 financial  year.

James Corsel l i s  and AntoineTe Vanderpui je have an indirect beneficial  interest in the A2 O rdinary Shares

issued by InvestAcc (BVI) Limited to Marwyn Long Term Incentive LP which is  disclosed in Note 29.

Mark Hodges  and W i l l  Sel f, have a direct interest in the A1 O rdinary Shares  issued by I nvestAcc (BVI ) Limited,

as  disclosed in Note 29. 

D irectors ' emoluments , in relaBon to Mark Hodges, W i l l  Sel f, James Pearce, James Corsel l i s , John Castagno,

Helen Copinger-Symes and MarBn Potkins  are disclosed in Note 7 with detai ls  of I ncenBve Shares  issued being

outl ined in Note 29.

As  part of the cons ideraBon due in respect of the Acquis iBon, £6,150,911 was due to the shareholders  of

I nvestAcc Holdings  Limited, being the then parent of the I nvestAcc operaBng group.  I t i s  only payable to those

shareholders  on receipt of a  dividend from I nvestAcc Holdings  Limited to I nvestAcc UK  Limited.  Fol lowing the

period end date, an amount of £6,150,911 has been partia l ly paid in respect of this  as  set out in Note 33.

O n 1 O ctober 2024 I nvestAcc (BVI) Limited subscribed for 29,418,095 O rdinary Shares  of £1.00 of i ts  whol ly

owned subs idiary, InvestAcc UK Limited as  part of the transaction to acquire InvestAcc.  

30.   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

MCLLP services  - to 30 June 2024

James Corsel l i s  i s  a lso the managing partner of Marwyn Capital  LLP  ("MCLLP"), and AntoineTe Vanderpui je is

a  partner, which provides  corporate finance support, company secretaria l , administraBon and accounBng

services  to the Company. Up to 4 July 2024, M C LLP  charged a monthly fee of £52,350 per calendar month



services  to the Company. Up to 4 July 2024, M C LLP  charged a monthly fee of £52,350 per calendar month

(£50,000 up to December 2023) for the provis ion of the corporate finance services , and managed services

support was  charged on a time spent bas is .

The period to 30 June 2024 included one-off corporate finance service fees  of £360,000 and one-off managed

service fees  of £180,747 in respect of Acquis i tion related fees.

The total  amount of charges  incurred, inclus ive of VAT, in the year ended 30 June 2024 by M C LLP  for services

was £1,321,395; they had incurred expenses  on behalf of the Company of £65,497; and the aggregate amount

due to MCLLP at 30 June 2024 was £635,213.

MCLLP services  - to 31 December 2024

From 4 July 2024, the engagement with M C LLP  was amended.  From that date, the services  provided by M C LLP

include the provis ion of strategic company secretaria l  services , including LS E/FC A compl iance (with

Antoinette Vanderpui je serving as  the named company secretary) for an annual  fee of £150,000.

M C LLP 's  addiBonal  roles  include M&A, research and due di l igence support, as  wel l  as  equity capital  markets

support, M&A execuBon and project management of workstreams. Fees  for these services  wi l l  be agreed on a

project-by-project bas is  prior to the start of the specific workstream. The fees  incurred with respect of this  for

the period ended 31 December were £6,755.

UnBl  such Bme that the Company becomes sel f- sufficient, M C LLP  wi l l  provide company secretaria l  and

corporate governance, reporBng, human resources  and other administraBve support bi l led on a Bme cost

bas is . The amount incurred with respect of managed services  for the period was £336,229, and M C LLP

incurred costs  on behalf of the Company of £134,882, both inclus ive of VAT.

M C LLP  also provides  the Company's  current office and infrastructure with no fee for the first 12 months, aWer

which the fee wi l l  be reviewed semi-annual ly or such time as  the parties  agree.

The aggregate amount outstanding with respect of a l l  services  provided by MCLLP was £283,319.

31.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There were no commitments  or conBngent l iabi l iBes  outstanding at 31 December 2024 (30 June 2024: £Ni l )

that require disclosure or adjustment in these Financial  Statements .

32.  INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

Audit fees  payable for the period ended 31 December 2024 were £106,500 (30 June 2024: £24,580). Fees

payable for the period ended 31 December 2024 in respect of any al lowable non-audit related procedures

were £27,720 (30 June 2024: £203,280).

 

33.  POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

O f the total  cash cons ideraBon outstanding of £6,150,911 (per Note 26 and Note 30), a  payment of £5,300,142

on 22 January 2025 was made to the shareholders  of I nvestAcc represenBng the first tranche of deferred cash

consideraBon. O n 11 Apri l  2025, the final  amount of £850,879 represenBng the second tranche of deferred

cash cons ideration was paid.

O n 31 January 2025, 400 A1 Shares  previous ly i ssued to James Pearce, were subsequently transferred to

I nvestAcc (BVI ) Limited by the Company and cancel led fol lowing James' res ignaBon on 19 December 2024. O n

31 January 2025 Vinoy Nurs iah was issued 400 A1 Shares  condiBonal  on commencement of his  employment

as  permanent C FO  on 1 Apri l  2025. The number of A1 Shares  in issue prior to this  were subjected to a  1:5

bonus issue resulBng in the number of shares  held by Mark Hodges  and W i l l  Sel f increas ing. W i l l  Sel f was

then issued an addiBonal  240 A1 shares  to increase his  total  holding to 1,200 A1 shares. Refer Note 29 for

further detai l  the incentive share scheme and the Remuneration Report for further detai ls .

33.   POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS (CONTINUED)

O n 4 February 2025, I nvestAcc I H Limited was incorporated. I nvestAcc I H Limited is  a  100% directly owned

subsidiary of InvestAcc BVI Limited.

O n 27 March 2025, the I nvestAcc Group announced the acquis iBon of the trade and assets  of AJ Bel l 's

P laBnum S I P P  and S SAS administraBon bus iness . The transacBon is  expected to complete before the end of

2025 with cons ideraBon to be paid of up to £25 mi l l ion. The cons ideraBon for the transacBon wi l l  be funded

via wider group cash resources  and debt financing.

 



[1] taken from the Pro Forma InvestAcc Ltd Trading Summary for the 12 month period ended 31 December 2024
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